Consolidated Financial Statements Sberbank of Russia and its subsidiaries

For the year ended 31 December 2017

with Independent Auditor's Report



Consolidated Financial Statements

CONTENTS

Independent Auditor's Report

Consolidated Financial Statements

Cons	solidated Statement of Financial Position	1
Cons	solidated Statement of Profit or Loss	2
Cons	solidated Statement of Comprehensive Income	3
Cons	solidated Statement of Changes in Equity	4
	solidated Statement of Cash Flows	
Note	es to the Consolidated Financial Statements	
1	Introduction	
2	Operating Environment of the Group	
3	Basis of Preparation and Significant Accounting Policies	
4	Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies	
5	Adoption of New or Revised Standards and Interpretations	
6	New Accounting Pronouncements	
7	Cash and Cash Equivalents	
8	Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit or Loss	37
9	Due from Banks	
10	Loans and Advances to Customers	
11	Securities Pledged under Repurchase Agreements	
12	Investment Securities Available-for-Sale	54
13	Investment Securities Held-to-Maturity	55
14	Premises and Equipment	
15	Assets and Liabilities of the Disposal Groups and Non-current Assets Held for Sale	58
16	Other Assets	59
17	Due to Banks	62
18	Due to Individuals and Corporate Customers	62
19	Debt Securities in Issue	63
20	Other Borrowed Funds	64
21	Financial Liabilities at Fair Value through Profit or Loss other than Debt Securities in Issue	65
22	Other Liabilities	65
23	Subordinated Debt	68
24	Share Capital and Treasury Shares	69
25	Interest Income and Expense	70
26	Fee and Commission Income and Expense	71
27	Net Results from Trading in Foreign Currencies, Operations with Foreign Currency Derivatives and Foreign	
	Exchange Translation	71
28	Net Results of Non-core Business Activities	72
29	Net Premiums, Claims, Benefits, Change in Contract Liabilities and Acquisition Costs on Insurance and Pension	
	Fund Operations	72
30	Operating Expenses	73
31	Income Taxes	
32	Earnings per Share and Dividends	76
33	Segment Analysis	77
34	Financial and Insurance Risk Management	83
35	Contingencies and Commitments	105
36	Derivative Financial Instruments	108
37	Fair Value Disclosures	
38	Transfers of Financial Assets and Pledged Assets	124
39	Offsetting of Financial Instruments	
40	Related Party Transactions	
41	Operations with State-Controlled Entities and Government Bodies	
42	Principal Subsidiaries	
43	Capital Adequacy Ratio	131



Independent auditor's report

To the Shareholders and the Supervisory Board of Sberbank of Russia

Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements

Our opinion

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of Sberbank of Russia (the "Bank") and its subsidiaries (together - the "Group") as at 31 December 2017, and its consolidated financial performance, and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS").

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of the Group comprise:

- the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2017;
- the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year then ended;
- the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended;
- the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;
- the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and
- the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing ("ISAs"). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the section "Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements" of this auditor's report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants' Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants ("IESBA Code") together with the ethical requirements of the Auditor's Professional Ethics Code and Auditor's Independence Rules that are relevant to audit of the consolidated financial statements in the Russian Federation. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code.



Our audit approach

Overview

Audit scope

- We audited the financial information of the Bank. Total assets of the Bank (excluding intercompany balances) represented approximately 80% of total assets of the Group as at 31 December 2017. We applied professional judgement in determining our involvement in the audit of the financial information of the subsidiaries of the Bank.
- We also conducted audit work at the Group level in relation to the consolidation of the financial information and the preparation of the consolidated financial statements.

Key audit matters

- Provision for impairment of loans and advances to customers.
- Valuation of derivative financial instruments.

We designed our audit by determining materiality and assessing the risks of material misstatement in the consolidated financial statements. In particular, we considered where management made subjective judgements; for example, in respect of significant accounting estimates that involved making assumptions and considering future events that are inherently uncertain. We also addressed the risk of management override of internal controls, including, among other matters, consideration of whether there was evidence of bias that represented a risk of material misstatement due to fraud.

Materiality

The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. An audit is designed to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. Misstatements may arise due to fraud or error. They are considered material if individually or in aggregate they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the consolidated financial statements.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined certain quantitative thresholds for materiality, including the overall materiality for the Group's consolidated financial statements as a whole. These, together with qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the scope of our audit and the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures and to evaluate the effect of misstatements, if any, both individually and in aggregate on the consolidated financial statements as a whole.

Audit scope

We tailored the scope of our audit in order to perform sufficient work to be able to give an opinion on the consolidated financial statements as a whole, taking into account the geographic and management structure of the Group, its accounting processes and controls, and the industry in which the Group operates. We also addressed the risk of management override of internal controls, including evaluating whether there was evidence of bias by the management that represented a risk of material misstatement due to fraud.

We audited the financial information of the Bank. Among other audit procedures, our work included audit procedures in respect of calculations and adjustments necessary for transformation of the accounting records of the Bank maintained in accordance with the Russian Accounting Rules to the financial information prepared in accordance with IFRS.

We applied professional judgement in determining our involvement in the audit of the financial information of subsidiaries of the Bank. We sent instructions to the auditors of certain subsidiaries. Such instructions included our risk assessment, assigned overall materiality levels, and auditing, reporting, ethical and other requirements. We obtained and evaluated communications with the respective auditors, and performed other procedures to determine that we obtained sufficient audit evidence in relation to subsidiaries of the Bank.

We also performed audit procedures in relation to consolidation of the financial information of the Group and preparation of the consolidated financial statements of the Group.



Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Provision for impairment of loans and advances to customers

We focused on this matter due to significance of loans and advances to customers balance and significance of judgements and estimates required for calculation of the related provision.

The provision represents management's best estimate of losses incurred from loans and advances to customers as at the balance sheet date.

Collective provisions are calculated on a group basis for loans and advances of a similar nature. Such provisions are calculated using statistical models estimating the impact of current economic and credit conditions on loan portfolios. The design of and inputs to the models are subject to management judgement.

Individual provisions are calculated on an individual basis for significant loans and advances. For such provisions, judgement is required to determine when an impairment event has occurred and then to estimate the expected future cash flows related to the loan.

Note 3 "Basis of Preparation and Significant Accounting Policies", Note 4 "Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments in Applying Accounting Policies" and Note 10 "Loans and Advances to Customers" to the consolidated financial statements provide detailed information on the provision for impairment of loans and advances to customers.

Accounting Note 6 "New Pronouncements" to the consolidated financial statements provides information on the adoption of IFRS 9 "Financial Instruments" ("IFRS 9") by the Group from 1 January 2018. The adoption of IFRS 9 requires that the Group should introduce significant changes methodologies and processes for calculation of the provision. The process of the adoption of IFRS 9 is subject to finalisation and the Group disclosed the estimated impact of the adoption.

In relation to the Bank:

We assessed the key methodologies for calculation of the provision for consistency with the requirements of IFRS.

We assessed and tested (on a sample basis) the design and operating effectiveness of the controls over impairment data and calculations. These controls included those over identification of impaired balances, development and maintenance of models and input data, transfer of input data to models and of output data to the trial balance, and calculation of the provision. The purpose of our procedures was to determine that we could rely on these controls for the purposes of our audit.

We tested (on a sample basis) loans and advances, which had not been identified by management as potentially impaired and formed our own judgement as to whether that was appropriate.

We tested (on a sample basis) loans and advances for which the individual provision was calculated. We tested whether the impairment event had been identified in a timely manner, examined discounted cash flows calculations performed by management, challenged the assumptions and compared estimates to external evidence where available.

We tested (on a sample basis) the basis and operation of collective provisioning models and the data and assumptions used. Our work included comparison of the principal assumptions made with our own knowledge of other practices and actual experience, testing of the models through re-performance, and various analytical and other procedures.

In relation to subsidiaries of the Bank:

Where necessary and appropriate procedures similar to the above were performed in relation to the subsidiaries of the Bank.

In relation to the information on the adoption of IFRS 9 by the Group:

We have assessed the key methodologies developed for calculation of the provision in accordance with IFRS 9 for consistency with the requirements of IFRS 9.

We have obtained understanding and assessed for reasonableness the key judgments, assumptions and calculations made by the management for estimating impact of the adoption of IFRS 9 on the provision.

The finalisation of audit procedures related to the actual impact of the adoption of IFRS 9 is subject to finalisation of the adoption by the Group.



Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Valuation of derivative financial instruments

We focused on this matter due to complexity of valuation of some derivative financial instruments and significance of judgments and estimates required for those valuations. Current financial markets are volatile, positions of the Group in derivative financial instruments are significant. Therefore, financial position and results of the Group may be significantly impacted by valuation of the derivative financial instruments.

The most frequently applied valuation include present value techniques calculations, Black-Scholes models and stochastic local volatility models. These models incorporate various including foreign exchange spot and of rates, credit quality forward counterparties, interest rate curves and implied volatility.

Note 3 "Basis of Preparation and Significant Accounting Policies", Note 4 "Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments in Applying Accounting Policies", Note 36 "Derivative Financial Instruments" and Note 37 "Fair Value Disclosures" to the consolidated financial statements provide detailed information on the derivative financial instruments and their valuation.

In relation to the Bank:

Our internal valuation experts assessed the key methodologies, formulas and sources of information for valuation for consistency with the requirements of IFRS.

We assessed and tested (on a sample basis) the design of the controls over valuation of derivative financial instruments. These controls included those over input data, transfer of input data to models and of output data to the trial balance, and over calculation of the values. The purpose of our procedures was to determine that we could rely on these controls for the purposes of our audit.

We performed detailed testing (on a sample basis) of transfer of details of the derivative financial instruments to the models and of results of valuation from the models to the trial balance.

Our internal experts valued a sample of derivative financial instruments covering all major types of instruments using independent models and source data, compared the results to the Bank's valuations and investigated differences.

In relation to subsidiaries of the Bank:

Where necessary and appropriate procedures similar to the above were performed in relation to the subsidiaries of the Bank.

Other information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises annual report and quarterly issuer's report for the 1st quarter of 2018 (but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor's report thereon), which are expected to be available to us after the date of this auditor's report.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we will not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. As at the date of this auditor's report, the other information is not available to us and we do not provide any reporting in respect of the other information.

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the consolidated financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.



In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the ability of the Group to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the financial reporting process of the Group.

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or override of internal control.
- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the internal control of the Group.
- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.
- Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on ability of the Group to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
- Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.



We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

Report on examination in accordance with Article No.42 of Federal Law of 2 December 1990 No.395-1 "On Banks and Banking Activity"

Management of the Bank is responsible for compliance of the Group with the statutory ratios set by the Bank of Russia and for compliance of internal control and organisation of risk management systems of the Group with the Bank of Russia's requirements for such systems.

In accordance with Article No.42 of Federal Law of 2 December 1990 No.395-1 "On Banks and Banking Activity" we have examined the following during the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2017:

- compliance of the Group as at 1 January 2018 with the statutory ratios set by the Bank of Russia; and
- compliance of internal control and organisation of risk management systems of the Group with the requirements set by the Bank of Russia for such systems.

Our examination was limited to procedures selected based on our judgement such as inquiries, analysis and examination of documents, comparison of requirements, procedures and methodologies adopted by the Bank with the Bank of Russia's requirements, as well as recalculation, comparison and reconciliation of figures and other information.

We have identified the following based on our examination:

- 1) as related to compliance of the Group with the statutory ratios set by the Bank of Russia:
 - As at 1 January 2018, the Group statutory ratios set by the Bank of Russia were within the limits set by the Bank of Russia.
 - We draw your attention to the fact that we have not performed any procedures related to the underlying accounting data of the Group other than the procedures we considered necessary to express our opinion on whether or not the consolidated financial statements of the Group present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2017, and its consolidated financial performance, and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with IFRS.
- as related to compliance of internal control and organisation of risk management systems of the Group with the Bank of Russia's requirements for such systems:
 - a) in accordance with the Bank of Russia's requirements and recommendations, as at 1 January 2018, subdivisions of the Bank for managing significant risks of the Group were not subordinated or accountable to subdivisions assuming corresponding risks;
 - b) internal documents of the Bank effective as at 1 January 2018 which set out the methodologies to identify and manage significant credit, operational, market and liquidity risks of the Group, and the methodologies to carry out stress testing are duly approved by appropriate management bodies of the Bank in accordance with the Bank of Russia's requirements and recommendations;



- c) as at 1 January 2018, the Bank had in place a reporting system for significant credit, operational, market and liquidity risks, and for equity (capital) of the Group;
- d) frequency and consistency of reports prepared by risk management subdivisions of the Bank and its internal audit function during 2017 as related to management of credit, operational, market and liquidity risks of the Group complied with internal documents of the Bank; those reports included observations made by risk management subdivisions of the Bank and its internal audit function as related to the assessment of the effectiveness of the respective methodologies of the Bank as well as recommendations on their improvement; and
- e) as at 1 January 2018, the authority of the Supervisory Board of the Bank and its executive bodies included control over compliance of the Group with risk and equity (capital) adequacy limits set by internal documents of the Bank. To exercise control over the effectiveness of the risk management procedures applied in the Group and their consistent application in 2017, the Supervisory Board of the Bank and its executive bodies regularly discussed the reports prepared by risk management subdivisions of the Bank and its internal audit function and considered proposed measures to eliminate weaknesses.

We have performed the above procedures related to internal control and organisation of risk management systems of the Group solely to examine compliance of internal control and organisation of risk management systems of the Group with the Bank of Russia's requirements for such systems.

The engagement partner and the certified auditor responsible for the audit resulting in this independent auditor's report is Evgeniy Kriventsev.

27 February 2018

Moscow, Russian Federation

E.M. Kriventsev, engagement partner and certified auditor (licence number 01-000198)

AO PricewaterhouseCoopers Audit

Audited entity: Specbank of Russia

Main state registration number: 1027700132195, issued on 16 August 2002

117997, Russian Federation, Moscow, Vavilova 19

Independent auditor: AO PricewaterhouseCoopers Audit

State registration certificate number oo 8.890, issued by the Moscow Registration Chamber on 28 February $1992\,$

Certificate of inclusion in the Unified State Register of Legal Entities issued on 22 August 2002 under registration number 1027700148431

Member of Self-regulated organisation of auditors "Russian Union of auditors" (Association)

Main registration record number 11603050547 in the register of auditors and audit organisations



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

in billions of Russian Roubles	Note	31 December 2017	31 December 2016
ASSETS			
Cash and cash equivalents	7	2,329.4	2,560.8
Mandatory cash balances with central banks	,	427.1	402.0
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss	8	654.1	605.5
Due from banks	9	1,317.8	965.4
Loans and advances to customers	10	18,488.1	17,361.3
Securities pledged under repurchase agreements	11	258.9	113.9
Investment securities available-for-sale	12	1,743.7	1,658.9
Investment securities held-to-maturity	13	773.6	545.8
Deferred tax asset	31	15.5	13.9
Premises and equipment	14	516.2	482.9
Assets of the disposal groups and non-current assets held for sale	15	10.5	5.8
Other financial assets	16	253.1	314.5
Other non-financial assets	16	324.2	337.8
TOTAL ASSETS		27,112.2	25,368.5
LIABILITIES			
Due to banks	17	693.3	561.9
Due to individuals	18	13,420.3	12,449.6
Due to corporate customers	18	6,393.9	6,235.2
Debt securities in issue	19	934.6	1,161.0
Other borrowed funds	20	247.3	261.4
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss other than debt			
securities in issue	21	164.4	212.9
Deferred tax liability	31	27.7	55.1
Liabilities of the disposal groups	15	_	0.8
Provisions on insurance and pension fund operations	22	688.1	479.2
Other financial liabilities	22	289.9	312.6
Other non-financial liabilities	22	100.4	77.3
Subordinated debt	23	716.3	739.9
TOTAL LIABILITIES		23,676.2	22,546.9
EQUITY			
Share capital	24	87.7	87.7
Treasury shares	24	(15.3)	(7.9)
Share premium		232.6	232.6
Revaluation reserve for office premises		60.8	66.9
Fair value reserve for investment securities available-for-sale		35.3	24.0
Foreign currency translation reserve		(26.4)	(19.8)
Remeasurement of defined benefit pension plans		(1.3)	(1.1)
Retained earnings		3,058.6	2,435.7
Total equity attributable to shareholders of the Bank		3,432.0	2,818.1
Non-controlling interest		4.0	3.5
TOTAL EQUITY		3,436.0	2,821.6
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY		27,112.2	25,368.5

Approved for issue and signed on behalf of the Executive Board on 27 February 2018.

Herman Gref,

Chairman of the Executive Board and CEO

Marina Lukianova, Chief Accountant



Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

		Year ended 31 December			
in billions of Russian Roubles	Note	2017	2016		
Interest income	25	2,335.8	2,399.0		
Interest expense	25	(826.4)	(986.9)		
Deposit insurance expenses	25	(57.3)	(49.3)		
Net interest income		1,452.1	1,362.8		
Net provision charge for impairment of debt financial assets	9,10,13	(287.3)	(342.4)		
Net interest income after provision charge for impairment of debt financial assets		1,164.8	1,020.4		
Fee and commission income	26	505.1	436.3		
Fee and commission expense	26	(110.9)	(87.2)		
Net (losses) / gains from trading securities		(3.0)	7.4		
Net gains from securities designated as at fair value through profit or loss		8.0	6.0		
Net gains from investment securities available-for-sale		27.2	11.1		
Impairment of investment securities available-for-sale		(0.2)	(0.5)		
Net gains / (losses) from trading in foreign currencies, operations with foreign					
currency derivatives and foreign exchange translation	27	20.6	(53.4)		
Net gains from operations with precious metals, precious metals derivatives					
and precious metals accounts translation		4.1	6.5		
Net (losses) / gains from operations with other derivatives		(13.5)	0.7		
Net losses from revaluation of office premises	14	_	(25.0)		
Impairment of premises, equipment and intangible assets	14,16	(9.5)	(0.3)		
Goodwill impairment	16	(11.3)	(0.3)		
Net gains / (losses) on initial recognition of financial instruments, loans					
restructuring and sale of loans		4.7	(0.1)		
Net charge for other provisions	16,22	(16.7)	(19.4)		
Revenue of non-core business activities	28	42.4	30.8		
Cost of sales and other expenses of non-core business activities	28	(36.7)	(27.1)		
Net premiums from insurance and pension fund operations	29	249.6	192.8		
Net claims, benefits, change in contract liabilities and acquisition costs on	20	(222.6)	(477.0)		
insurance and pension fund operations Other net operating income	29	(232.6) 23.9	(177.8) 34.2		
Operating income		1,616.0	1,355.1		
Operating expenses	30	(672.8)	(677.6)		
Profit before tax		943.2	677.5		
Income tax expense	31	(194.5)	(135.6)		
Profit for the year		748.7	541.9		
Attributable to:					
- shareholders of the Bank		750.4	540.5		
- non-controlling interest		(1.7)	1.4		
Earnings per ordinary share attributable to the shareholders of the Bank,					
basic and diluted (expressed in RR per share)	32	34.58	25.00		

Approved for issue and signed on behalf of the Executive Board on 27 February 2018.

Herman Gref,

Chairman of the Executive Board and CEO

Marina Lukianova, Chief Accountant



Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

	endec	Year I 31 December
in billions of Russian Roubles	2017	2016
Profit for the year	748.7	541.9
Other comprehensive income:		
Items to be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods		
Investment securities available-for-sale:		
- Net gains on revaluation of investment securities		
available-for-sale, net of tax	32.9	78.2
- Impairment of investment securities available-for-sale transferred to profit or		
loss, net of tax	0.2	0.4
- Accumulated gains transferred to profit or loss upon disposal of investment	(21.0)	(8.9)
securities available-for-sale, net of tax	(21.8)	(8.9)
Exchange differences on translating foreign operations:		
- Exchange differences on translating foreign operations for the year	(11.7)	(121.0)
- Accumulated exchange differences on translating foreign operations transferred		
to profit or loss upon disposal of subsidiary	5.1	_
Total other comprehensive income / (loss) to be reclassified to profit or loss in		
subsequent periods, net of tax	4.7	(51.3)
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods		
Revaluation of office premises:		
- Revaluation of office premises, net of tax	_	2.2
- Change in valuation of office premises transferred to other classes of assets, net		
of tax	(2.7)	_
Remeasurement of defined benefit pension plans	(0.2)	(0.4)
Total other comprehensive (loss) / income that will not be reclassified to profit or		
loss in subsequent periods	(2.9)	1.8
Total other comprehensive income / (loss)	1.8	(49.5)
Total comprehensive income for the year	750.5	492.4
Attributable to:		
- shareholders of the Bank	752.2	491.1
- non-controlling interest	(1.7)	1.3



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

			Attributable to shareholders of the Bank										
in billions of Russian Roubles	Note	Share capital	Treasury shares	Share premium	Revaluation reserve for office premises	Fair value reserve for investment securities available- for-sale	Foreign currency translation reserve	Remeasurement of defined benefit pension plans	Retained earnings	Total	Non- controlling interest	Total equity	
Balance as at 31 December 2015		87.7	(6.7)	232.6	69.3	(45.7)	101.1	(0.7)	1,935.2	2,372.8	2.2	2,375.0	
Changes in equity for the year ended 31 December 2016 Net result from treasury shares transactions Dividends declared	32	_ _ _	(1.2)	_ _	=		=	=	(0.2) (44.4)	(1.4) (44.4)	_ _ _	(1.4) (44.4)	
Transfer of revaluation reserve for office premises upon disposal or depreciation		_	_	_	(4.6)	_	_	_	4.6	_	_	_	
Profit for the year Other comprehensive income / (loss) for the year		_	_	_	2.2	- 69.7	_ (120.9)	(0.4)	540.5	540.5 (49.4)	1.4 (0.1)	541.9 (49.5)	
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·					2.2	03.7	(120.3)	(0.4)		(43.4)	(0.1)	(43.3)	
Total comprehensive income / (loss) for the year		_	_	_	2.2	69.7	(120.9)	(0.4)	540.5	491.1	1.3	492.4	
Balance as at 31 December 2016		87.7	(7.9)	232.6	66.9	24.0	(19.8)	(1.1)	2,435.7	2,818.1	3.5	2,821.6	
Changes in equity for the year ended 31 December 2017 Net result from treasury shares transactions Dividends declared	32	_	(7.4)	_	_ _	_ _	_ _	=	4.0 (134.9)	(3.4) (134.9)	_ _	(3.4) (134.9)	
Transfer of revaluation reserve for office premises upon disposal or depreciation		_	_	_	(3.4)	_	_	_	3.4	_	_	_	
Changes in ownership interest in subsidiaries		_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	2.2	2.2	
Profit for the year Other comprehensive (loss) / income for the		_	_	_	_	_	_	_	750.4	750.4	(1.7)	748.7	
year		_	_	_	(2.7)	11.3	(6.6)	(0.2)	_	1.8	_	1.8	
Total comprehensive (loss) / income for the year		_	_	_	(2.7)	11.3	(6.6)	(0.2)	750.4	752.2	(1.7)	750.5	
Balance as at 31 December 2017		87.7	(15.3)	232.6	60.8	35.3	(26.4)	(1.3)	3,058.6	3,432.0	4.0	3,436.0	



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

		Year ended 31 December		
in billions of Russian Roubles	Note	2017	2016	
Cash flows from operating activities				
Interest received		2,134.5	2,193.5	
Interest paid		(767.4)	(915.0)	
Deposit insurance expenses paid		(55.7)	(45.6)	
Fees and commissions received		498.8	438.0	
Fees and commissions paid		(112.2)	(83.1)	
Net losses incurred on trading securities		(3.2)	(2.6)	
Dividends received		0.3	2.0	
Net gains received on securities designated as at fair value through profit				
or loss		1.7	2.1	
Net gains received / (losses incurred) from trading in foreign currencies				
and from operations with foreign currency derivatives		62.8	(32.3)	
Net (losses incurred) / gains received from operations with other				
derivatives		(4.0)	17.0	
Net gains received from operations with precious metals and precious				
metals derivatives		2.6	3.4	
Revenue received from non-core business activities		33.2	35.4	
Expenses paid on non-core business activities		(28.4)	(28.0)	
Insurance premiums received		140.0	87.1	
Claims, benefits and acquisition costs on insurance operations paid		(5.6)	(2.8)	
Pension fund premiums received		109.7	103.3	
Claims, benefits and acquisition costs on pension fund operations paid		(21.8)	(19.3)	
Other net operating income received		14.3	13.2	
Operating expenses paid		(596.4)	(610.1)	
Income tax paid		(210.1)	(214.0)	
Cash flows from operating activities before changes in operating assets and liabilities		1,193.1	942.2	
		_,		
Changes in operating assets and liabilities		(=0.0)	(44=0)	
Net increase in mandatory cash balances with central banks		(50.0)	(115.2)	
Net increase in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss		(124.7)	(87.6)	
Net increase in due from banks		(325.0)	(190.6)	
Net increase in loans and advances to customers		(1,624.3)	(64.9)	
Net decrease in other assets		61.8	242.4	
Net increase / (decrease) in due to banks		136.0	(424.3)	
Net increase in due to individuals		1,084.8	1,103.3	
Net increase / (decrease) in due to corporate customers		316.4	(889.3)	
Net decrease in debt securities in issue except for loan participation notes		(22.4)	(02.0)	
issued under the MTN programme of Sberbank		(33.1)	(83.0)	
Net (decrease) / increase in financial liabilities at fair value through profit		(0.0)	4.0	
or loss other than debt securities in issue		(0.2)	1.8	
Net decrease in other liabilities		(26.9)	(47.3)	
Net cash from operating activities		607.9	387.5	



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)

		Year ended 31 December		
in billions of Russian Roubles	Note	2017	2016	
Cash flows from investing activities				
Purchase of investment securities available-for-sale		(1,497.3)	(1,569.8)	
Proceeds from disposal and redemption of investment securities				
available-for-sale		1,285.3	1,765.3	
Interest received on investment securities available-for-sale		129.4	128.9	
Purchase of investment securities held-to-maturity		(374.2)	(116.5)	
Proceeds from redemption of investment securities held-to-maturity		117.7	73.5	
Interest received on investment securities held-to-maturity		48.1	35.5	
Acquisition of premises, equipment and intangible assets		(116.3)	(112.1)	
Proceeds from disposal of premises, equipment and intangible assets				
including insurance payments		10.6	19.9	
Acquisition of investment property		(0.7)	(0.6)	
Proceeds from disposal of investment property		0.7	1.3	
Acquisition of associates		(0.3)	_	
Proceeds from disposal of associates		0.1	0.4	
Acquisition of subsidiaries net of cash acquired		(1.4)	_	
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries net of cash disposed		1.7	15.3	
Net cash (used in) / from investing activities		(396.6)	241.1	
Cash flows from financing activities				
Other borrowed funds received		268.9	154.6	
Redemption of other borrowed funds		(276.3)	(206.2)	
Interest on other borrowed funds paid		(11.0)	(9.4)	
Funds received from subordinated debt issued or reissued		0.6	0.3	
Redemption of subordinated debt		(24.9)	(18.5)	
Interest on subordinated debt paid		(45.3)	(46.6)	
Funds received from loan participation notes issued or reissued		0.1	2.6	
Redemption of loan participation notes issued		(164.3)	(42.9)	
Interest on loan participation notes issued paid		(24.2)	(32.1)	
Cash received from non-controlling shareholders		0.1	_	
Purchase of treasury shares		(9.8)	(4.5)	
Proceeds from disposal of treasury shares		6.4	3.1	
Dividends paid	32	(134.7)	(44.5)	
Net cash used in financing activities		(414.4)	(244.1)	
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents Net effect of changes in cash and cash equivalents included in disposal		(23.5)	(157.8)	
groups		(4.8)	0.5	
Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents		(231.4)	227.2	
Cash and cash equivalents as at the beginning of the year		2,560.8	2,333.6	
Cash and cash equivalents as at the end of the year	7	2,329.4	2,560.8	



1 Introduction

These consolidated financial statements of Sberbank of Russia (Sberbank, the "Bank") and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the "Group" or "Sberbank Group") have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards for the year ended 31 December 2017. Principal subsidiaries include Russian and foreign commercial banks and other companies controlled by the Group. A list of principal subsidiaries included in these consolidated financial statements is disclosed in Note 42.

The Bank is a public joint-stock commercial bank established in 1841 and operating in various forms since then. The Bank was incorporated and is domiciled in the Russian Federation. The Bank's principal shareholder, the Central Bank of the Russian Federation (the "Bank of Russia"), owns 52.3% of ordinary shares or 50.0% plus 1 share of the issued and outstanding ordinary and preferred shares as at 31 December 2017 (31 December 2016: 52.3% of ordinary shares or 50.0% plus 1 share of the issued and outstanding ordinary and preferred shares).

As at 31 December 2017 the Supervisory Board of the Bank is headed by Sergey M. Ignatiev, Chairman of the Bank of Russia in the period of 2002-2013. The Supervisory Board of the Bank includes representatives from both the Bank's principal shareholder and other shareholders as well as independent directors.

The Bank operates under a general banking license issued by the Bank of Russia since 1991. In addition, the Bank holds licenses required for trading and holding securities and engaging in other securities-related activities, including acting as a broker, a dealer, a custodian. The Bank is regulated and supervised by the Bank of Russia as a united regulator for banking, insurance and financial markets activities in the Russian Federation. The Group's banks/companies operate under the banking/companies regulatory regimes of their respective countries.

The Group's principal business activity is corporate and retail banking. This includes, but is not limited to, deposit taking and commercial lending in freely convertible currencies, local currencies of countries where the subsidiary banks operate and in Russian Roubles, support of clients' export/import transactions, foreign exchange, securities trading, and trading in derivative financial instruments. The Group's operations are conducted in both Russian and international markets. As at 31 December 2017 the Group conducts its business in Russia through Sberbank with its network of 14 (31 December 2016: 14) regional head offices, 78 (31 December 2016: 79) branches and 14 312 (31 December 2016: 15,016) sub-branches, and through principal subsidiaries located in Russia such as JSC Sberbank Leasing, LLC Sberbank Capital, companies of ex-Troika Dialog Group, JSC Non-state Pension Fund of Sberbank, Insurance company "Sberbank life insurance" LLC, Insurance company "Sberbank insurance" LLC, Sberbank Factoring LLC and Cetelem Bank LLC (former BNP Paribas Vostok LLC). The Group carries out banking operations in Turkey, Ukraine, Belarus, Kazakhstan, Austria, Switzerland and other countries of Central and Eastern Europe and also conducts operations through a branch office in India, representative offices in Germany and China and companies of ex-Troika Dialog Group located in the United States of America, the United Kingdom, Cyprus and certain other jurisdictions.

The actual headcount of the Group's full-time employees as at 31 December 2017 was 310,277 (31 December 2016: 319,153).

Registered address and place of business. The Bank's registered address is: Vavilova str., 19, Moscow, Russian Federation.

Presentation currency. These consolidated financial statements are presented in Russian Roubles ("RR"). All amounts are expressed in RR billions unless otherwise stated.



2 Operating Environment of the Group

Russian Federation. The major part of the Group operations is conducted in the Russian Federation.

The Russian economy continued to recover in 2017 after the crisis. The economy has adapted to the deteriorated oil and gas market conjuncture and the international sectoral sanctions imposed against the Russian Federation. GDP dynamics returned to the positive zone and GDP growth in 2017 is estimated at 1.5%¹ year-on-year while in 2016 GDP declined by 0.2%¹ year-on-year.

Economic growth remained unstable. The industrial output in 2017 increased by $1.0\%^1$ compared to 2016, when growth of industrial production amounted to $1.3\%^1$. Strong growth in 2017 was demonstrated by the cargo turnover of transport, which grew by $5.4\%^1$ year-on-year, compared to $1.8\%^1$ increase in 2016. The growth rate of agriculture sector slowed down to $2.4\%^1$ compared to $4.8\%^1$ in 2016. Construction sector decreased by $1.4\%^1$ versus a $2.2\%^1$ decrease in 2016.

The situation in the labour market has improved. The unemployment rate at the end of 2017 decreased to $5.1\%^1$ versus $5.3\%^1$ in 2016. The real accrued wages increased by $3.4\%^1$ in annual terms against growth by $0.8\%^1$ in 2016. At the same time the growth of wages in the economy is restrained by a low indexation of wages in the public sector. The real disposable income of households decreased by $1.7\%^1$ in 2017, although the reduction rate decreased significantly compared to $5.8\%^1$ in 2016. The retail sales increased by $1.2\%^1$ in 2017 while in 2016 the decline in retail sales comprised $4.5\%^1$.

The public's propensity to save continued to decline. The share of disposable income allocated to savings amounted to $8.1\%^1$ in 2017 compared to $11.1\%^1$ in 2016. The consumer confidence index which reflects the total consumer expectations of the public increased by 8.0% to $(11.0)\%^1$ in the fourth quarter of 2017 compared to the fourth quarter of 2016.

Annualized inflation slowed down to $2.5\%^1$ by the end of 2017 compared to $5.4\%^1$ in December 2016. The trend to lower inflation allowed the Bank of Russia to reduce the key rate step-by-step. The key rate, which was 10% p.a. at the end of 2016, reached 7.75% p.a. by the end of 2017. In February 2018 the key rate was further reduced by 25 basis points reaching 7.5% p.a.

Oil prices increased in 2017. The average price for Urals oil in 2017 was 53.1 US dollars per barrel versus 42.1 US dollars per barrel in 2016. The average oil price in the fourth quarter 2017 increased to 59.7 US dollars per barrel against 52.0 US dollars per barrel in the first quarter of 2017. The average Russian Rouble exchange rate for the fourth quarter of 2017 remained almost unchanged (59.1 Russian Roubles per 1 US dollar) compared to the first quarter of 2017 (58.7 Russian Roubles per 1 US dollar). The stability of the exchange rate was mainly due to the stability of oil prices. The average Russian Rouble exchange rate was 58.3 Russian Roubles per US dollar in 2017.

The surplus in the current account of the balance of payments of the Russian Federation reached USD 40.2 billion² in 2017 (compared to USD 25.5 billion² in 2016). The rise in the surplus resulted from the increase in oil and gas export revenues due to higher oil prices compared to 2016. The outflow of capital amounted to USD 31.3 billion² compared to USD 19.8 billion² in 2016. The outflow was formed mainly by repayment of liabilities of the banking sector. The external debt of the Russian Federation from the beginning of 2017 increased by USD 14.9 billion² to USD 529.1 billion².

.

¹ Rosstat data

² Bank of Russia data, Russian Accounting Standards data



2 Operating Environment of the Group (continued)

In 2017 the Russian banking sector earned profit of RR 790.0 billion¹ versus RR 930.0 billion¹ in 2016. The profit of Russian banking sector decreased significantly in the second half of 2017 compared to the first half of 2017 due to a one-off recognition of the negative financial result of several Russian large banking groups which have fallen under procedure of financial recovery. In 2017 assets of the Russian banking system adjusted for the foreign exchange revaluation increased by 9.0%¹ compared to 2016. The loan portfolio of the banking sector increased by 6.2%¹ in 2017 due to growth in loans to non-financial organizations and individuals by 3.7%¹ and 13.2%¹ respectively (adjusted for the foreign exchange revaluation). Deposits of individuals increased by 10.7%¹ in 2017, while deposits and current accounts of corporate clients increased by 4.8%¹ (adjusted for the foreign exchange revaluation). In 2017 the share of overdue loans in the corporate loan portfolio of Russian banking sector increased from 6.3%¹ to 6.4%¹, and decreased in the retail loan portfolio - from 7.9%¹ to 7.0%¹. Total amount of provisions for loan impairment increased by 26.9%¹ in 2017. Borrowings of the banking sector from the Bank of Russia decreased by 25.7%¹, while the volume of deposits attracted by banks from the Federal Treasury grew 3 times¹.

The situation on the Russian stock markets has improved. The RTS index increased by 0.2% in 2017 compared to 2016, the MOEX Russia index decreased by 5.5%. Capitalization of the Bank in Russian Roubles increased by 30.5% in 2017.

In 2017 international rating agencies improved the outlook for the sovereign credit ratings of the Russian Federation: to "stable" by Moody's, to "positive" by Standard and Poor's and to "positive" by Fitch Ratings. Rating actions on the Bank mirrowed the same on the sovereign's. In January 2018 Moody's further improved the outlook on sovereign credit rating of the Russian Federation from "stable" to "positive" keeping the rating at Ba1. In February 2018 the international rating agency Standard & Poor's increased the sovereign credit rating of the Russian Federation from the speculative level of BB+ to the investment BBB- with the "stable" outlook. In March 2017 the national rating agency ACRA (JSC) assigned the Bank the credit rating of AAA (RU) based on the national scale with the "stable" outlook.

Other jurisdictions. In addition to Russia the Group conducts operations in Belarus, Kazakhstan, Ukraine, Central and Eastern Europe (Austria, Czech Republic, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Slovenia, Serbia, Hungary, Croatia), Turkey, Switzerland and some other countries.

In 2017 GDP of Belarus increased by $2.4\%^2$ year-on-year against a decrease of $2.5\%^2$ in 2016. Economic acceleration was facilitated by favorable conjuncture in world commodity markets and increased external demand from the main trading partner - Russia. Industrial output in 2017 increased by $6.1\%^2$ year-on-year, and annualized retail sales showed an increase by $3.8\%^2$ in 2017 compared to 2016. The relative stability of the Belarusian rouble, and the control over the growth of the money supply slowed down inflation, which amounted to $4.6\%^2$ p.a. in 2017, which was a comfortable condition for the National Bank of the Republic of Belarus to reduce the refinancing rate step-by-step to $11\%^3$ p.a.

GDP of Kazakhstan increased by $4.0\%^4$ in 2017 year-on-year. The main driver of economic growth in Kazakhstan remained the industrial output, which increased in 2017 by $7.1\%^5$. The industrial sector grew confidently due to the launch of the Kashagan oil field and the accompanying increase in the volume of oil produced. In addition, prices for main export goods also increased. At the end of 2017 inflation was $7.1\%^5$ in annual terms, which allowed the National Bank of the Republic of Kazakhstan to reduce the base rate to $10.25\%^6$.

9

¹ Bank of Russia data, Russian Accounting Standards data

² National Committee of statistics of the Republic of Belarus data

 $^{^{\}rm 3}$ National Bank of the Republic of Belarus data

 $^{^{\}rm 4}$ Ministry of National economy of the Republic of Kazakhstan data

 $^{^{\}rm 5}$ Committee of statistics of the Republic of Kazakhstan data

 $^{^{6}}$ National Bank of the Republic of Kazakhstan data



2 Operating Environment of the Group (continued)

For Ukraine 2017 was characterized by a high level of political and economic uncertainty. The industrial output decreased by $0.1\%^1$ in 2017. The main support of the economy was provided by domestic demand. Real wages increased in December 2017 by $18.9\%^1$ in annual terms, the retail trade turnover increased by $8.8\%^1$ in 2017, and construction increased by $20.9\%^1$. Inflation in 2017 remained high and amounted in December to $13.7\%^1$ in annual terms. The growth of inflation forced the National Bank of Ukraine to increase the base rate twice, which in December 2017 reached $14.5\%^2$. In March 2017 the Decree of the President of Ukraine put in force the decision of National Security and Defense Council of Ukraine to impose for a period of one year special economic and other restrictive actions (hereafter "sanctions") against a number of Ukrainian banks which are owned by Russian banks with state participation including subsidiary banks of the Group. Sanctions are applied to a number of operations and withdrawal of capital from Ukraine in favour of related parties of subjects under sanctions. As at 31 December 2017, the Group's exposure to Ukrainian risk amounted to approximately 0.1% of total consolidated assets (31 December 2016: 0.1%). The exposure consists of the net assets of and the Group funding to the Group's Ukrainian subsidiaries, as well as exposure of the Group (excluding that of the Ukrainian subsidiaries) to equity and debt instruments issued by and loans to the Ukrainian government and corporate clients.

The economic situation in Turkey in 2017 can be characterized as positive. Economic growth rate for the first nine months of 2017 was 7.4% in annual terms, against 3.2% for the same period in 2016. Unemployment rate in October (adjusted for seasonality) was 10.3%, down 1.5pp since early 2017. However, the remained risks are associated with high inflation (11.9% in annual terms in December 2017), primarily due to depreciation of the lira in the beginning of the fourth quarter of 2017. In response to the acceleration of inflation, the Central Bank of Turkey raised the liquidity rate in the evening window by 1.75 pp to 12.75% from the beginning of 2017. High uncertainty in foreign policy remains in the country, which will negatively affect the investment attractiveness of the Turkish economy as well.

The economic situation in the countries of Central and Eastern Europe has improved in 2017, mainly due to the acceleration of growth in the Eurozone. The GDP growth in the Eurozone in the first nine months of 2017 averaged to 2.4%⁵ in annual terms, being forecasted at 1.4-1.5% for the same period in annual terms⁶. The main drivers of growth were low interest rates and the revival of domestic demand.

3 Basis of Preparation and Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Preparation. These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS") under the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of office premises, investment property, available-for-sale financial assets and financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss.

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the periods presented, unless otherwise stated.

State Statistics Service of Ukraine data

² National Bank of Ukraine data

³ State Statistics Service of Turkey data

⁴ National Bank of Turkey data

⁵ Eurostat data

⁶ European Commission assessment



3 Basis of Preparation and Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Consolidated financial statements. Subsidiaries are those companies (investees), including structured entities, that the Group controls because the Group (i) has power to direct relevant activities of the investees that significantly affect their returns, (ii) has exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investees, and (iii) has the ability to use its power over the investees to affect the amount of investor's returns. The existence and effect of substantive rights, including substantive potential voting rights, are considered when assessing whether the Group has power over another entity. For a right to be substantive, the holder must have practical ability to exercise that right when decisions about the direction of the relevant activities of the investee need to be made. The Group may have power over an investee even when it holds less than majority of voting power in an investee. In such a case, the Group assesses the size of its voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote holders to determine if it has de-facto power over the investee. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group and are no longer consolidated from the date that control ceases.

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. For each business combination, the acquirer measures the non-controlling interest in the acquiree that are present ownership interests either at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree's identifiable net assets and other components of non-controlling interests at their acquisition date fair value. Non-controlling interest is the interest in subsidiaries not held by the Group. Acquisition costs incurred are expensed. Non-controlling interest is presented as a separate component within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost being the excess of the aggregate of consideration transferred, any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of the acquirer's previously held equity interest in the acquiree over the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. If the aggregate of consideration transferred, any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of the acquirer's previously held equity interest in the acquiree is lower than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference ("gain from bargain purchase") is recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment.

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealized gains on transactions between group companies are eliminated in full; unrealized losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. The Bank and all of its subsidiaries use uniform accounting policies consistent with the Group's policies for the purpose of preparation of these consolidated financial statements.

Associates. Associates are entities over which the Group has significant influence (directly or indirectly), but not control, generally accompanying a shareholding of between 20 and 50 percent of the voting rights. Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method of accounting, and are initially recognized at cost. The carrying amount of associates includes goodwill identified on acquisition less accumulated impairment losses, if any. Dividends received from associates reduce the carrying value of the investment in associates. Other post-acquisition changes in Group's share of net assets of an associate are recognized as follows: (i) the Group's share of profits or losses of associates is recorded in the consolidated profit or loss for the year as share of result of associates, (ii) the Group's share of other comprehensive income is recognized in other comprehensive income and presented separately, (iii) all other changes in the Group's share of the carrying value of net assets of associates are recognized in profit or loss within the share of result of associates. However, when the Group's share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, including any other unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognize further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

The Group owns certain investments in associates through venture capital organisations, investment funds or similar subsidiary entities. In accordance with the exemption in IAS 28 *Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures*, the Group does not account for such investments using the equity method. Instead, these investments are measured at fair value through profit or loss and are classified as securities designated as at fair value through profit or loss in the consolidated statement of financial position with the change in fair value reflected within net gains/(losses) arising from securities designated as at fair value through profit or loss.



3 Basis of Preparation and Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Disposals of subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures. When the Group ceases to have control or significant influence, any retained interest in the entity is remeasured to its fair value with the change in carrying amount recognized in profit or loss. The fair value is the initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained interest as an associate, joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously recognized in other comprehensive income in respect of that entity, are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously recognized in other comprehensive income are recycled to profit or loss.

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but significant influence is retained, only a proportionate share of the amounts previously recognized in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss, where appropriate.

Financial instruments – Key measurement terms. Depending on their classification financial instruments are carried at cost, fair value, or amortized cost as described below.

Cost is the amount of cash or cash equivalents paid or the fair value of the other consideration given to acquire an asset at the time of its acquisition and includes transaction costs. Measurement at cost is only applicable to investments in equity instruments that do not have a quoted market price and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured, derivatives that are linked to and must be settled by delivery of such unquoted equity instruments.

Transaction costs are incremental costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, issue or disposal of a financial instrument. An incremental cost is one that would not have been incurred if the transaction had not taken place. Transaction costs include fees and commissions paid to agents, advisors, brokers and dealers, levies by regulatory agencies and securities exchanges, and transfer taxes and duties. Transaction costs do not include debt premiums or discounts, financing costs or internal administrative or holding costs.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. Fair value is the current bid price for financial assets, current ask price for financial liabilities and the average of current bid and ask prices when the Group is both in short and long position for the financial instrument. A financial instrument is regarded as quoted in an active market if quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an exchange or other institution and those prices represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm's length basis.

Valuation techniques are used to fair value certain financial instruments for which external market pricing information is not available. Such valuation techniques include discounted cash flows models, generally accepted option pricing models, models based on recent arm's length transactions or consideration of financial data of the investees. Valuation techniques may require assumptions not supported by observable market data. Refer to Note 37 for more information on fair values and fair value measurement used.

Amortized cost is the amount at which the financial instrument was recognized at initial recognition less any principal repayments, plus accrued interest, and for financial assets less any write-down for incurred impairment losses. Accrued interest includes amortization of transaction costs deferred at initial recognition and of any premium or discount to maturity amount using the effective interest method. Accrued interest income and accrued interest expense, including both accrued coupon and amortized discount and premium (including fees deferred at origination, if any), are not presented separately and are included in the carrying values of the related consolidated statement of financial position items.



3 Basis of Preparation and Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

The effective interest method is a method of allocating interest income or interest expense over the relevant period so as to achieve a constant periodic rate of interest (effective interest rate) on the carrying amount. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts (excluding future credit losses) through the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, if appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial instrument. Premiums and discounts on variable interest instruments are amortized to the next interest repricing date except for premiums and discounts which reflect the credit spread over the floating rate specified in the instrument, or other variables that are not reset to market rates. Such premiums or discounts are amortized over the whole expected life of the instrument. The present value calculation includes all fees and other items paid or received between parties to the contract that are an integral part of the effective interest rate (refer to income and expense recognition policy).

Initial recognition of financial instruments. Trading securities, other securities designated as at fair value through profit or loss and derivatives are initially recorded at fair value. All other financial assets are initially recorded at fair value plus transaction costs. Fair value at initial recognition is best evidenced by the transaction price. A gain or loss on initial recognition is only recorded if there is a difference between fair value and transaction price which can be evidenced by other observable current market transactions in the same instrument or by a valuation technique whose inputs include only data from observable markets.

All purchases and sales of financial assets that require delivery within the time frame established by regulation or market convention ("regular way" purchases and sales) are recorded at trade date, which is the date when the Group commits to deliver a financial instrument. All other purchases and sales are recognized when the entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Cash and cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents are items which are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash and cash equivalents are carried at amortized cost.

Cash equivalents include correspondent accounts, overnight interbank loans and reverse sale and repurchase agreements with original maturity up to 1 business day. Amounts, which relate to funds that are of a restricted nature and/or have original maturity of more than 1 business day, are excluded from cash and cash equivalents.

Mandatory cash balances with central banks. Mandatory cash balances with central banks are carried at amortized cost and represent mandatory reserve deposits which are not available to finance the Group's day to day operations and hence are not considered as part of cash and cash equivalents for the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows.

Banking cards settlements. Banking cards settlements are recorded when the legal right to receive the payment or legal obligation to execute payment arise under the agreement and are carried at amortized cost.

Trading securities. Trading securities are securities, which are either acquired for generating a profit from short-term fluctuations in price or trader's margin, or are securities on initial recognition included in a portfolio in which a pattern of short-term trading exists. The Group classifies securities into trading securities if it has an intention to sell them within a short period after purchase.

Trading securities are carried at fair value. Interest earned on trading securities calculated using the effective interest rate method is accounted for in the consolidated statement of profit or loss as interest income. Dividend income is recognized when the Group's right to receive the dividend payment is established. Translation differences are included in net gains arising from trading in foreign currencies, operations with foreign currency derivatives and foreign exchange translation. All other elements of the changes in the fair value and gains or losses on derecognition are recorded in the consolidated statement of profit or loss as net gains/(losses) arising from trading securities in the period in which they arise.



3 Basis of Preparation and Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Securities designated as at fair value through profit or loss. Securities designated as at fair value through profit or loss are securities designated irrevocably, at initial recognition, into this category. Management designates securities into this category only if a group of financial assets is managed and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis and information on that basis is regularly provided to and reviewed by the Group's key management personnel. Recognition and measurement of this category of financial assets is consistent with the above policy for trading securities.

Due from banks. Amounts due from banks are recorded when the Group advances money to counterparty banks with no intention of trading the resulting unquoted non-derivative receivable due on fixed or determinable dates. Amounts due from banks are carried at amortized cost.

Loans and advances to customers. Loans and advances to customers are recorded when the Group advances money to purchase or originate an unquoted non-derivative receivable from a customer due on fixed or determinable dates and has no intention of trading the receivable. Loans and advances to customers are carried at amortized cost.

Impairment of financial assets carried at amortized cost. Impairment losses on financial assets carried at amortized cost are recognized in profit or loss when incurred as a result of one or more events ("loss events") that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset and which have an impact on the amount or timing of the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated. If the Group determines that no objective evidence exists that impairment was incurred for an individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment. The primary factors that the Group considers when deciding whether a financial asset is impaired or not are (i) past due status of financial asset, (ii) financial position of the borrower, (iii) unsatisfactory debt servicing and (iv) realisability of related collateral, if any.

A loan is considered past due when the borrower fails to make any payment due under the loan at the reporting date. In this case a past due amount is recognized as the aggregate amount of all amounts due from borrower under the respective loan agreement including accrued interest and commissions. As defined by the Group for the purposes of internal credit risk assessment, loans fall into the "non-performing" category when a principal and/or interest payment becomes more than 90 days overdue.

Impairment losses are recognized through an allowance account to write down the asset's carrying amount to the present value of expected cash flows (which exclude future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the original effective interest rate of the asset. The calculation of the present value of the estimated future cash flows of a collateralized financial asset accounts for cash flows that may result from foreclosure less costs for obtaining and selling the collateral.

Reversals of impairment. If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognized (such as an improvement in the debtor's credit rating), the previously recognized impairment loss is reversed by adjusting the allowance account through profit or loss.

Write-off of assets at amortized cost. Uncollectible assets are written off against the related impairment loss provision after all the necessary procedures to recover the asset have been completed and the amount of the loss has been determined.



3 Basis of Preparation and Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Impairment of loans and advances to legal entities. Estimating loan portfolio impairment provision for corporate loans involves the following steps:

- Identification of loans that are individually significant and contain signs of impairment, i.e., those loans, that, if fully impaired, would have a material impact on the Group's operating income.
- Determination of whether an individually significant loan shows objective evidence of impairment. This requires
 estimating the expected timing and amount of cash flows from interest and principal payments and other cash
 flows, including amounts recoverable from guarantees and collateral, and discounting them at the loan's
 original effective interest rate. The loan is considered impaired if its carrying amount materially exceeds its
 estimated recoverable amount. A separate impairment loss is recorded on an individually significant impaired
 loans.
- All remaining loans and individually significant loans without objective evidence of impairment are assessed on a portfolio basis.

The Group applies the portfolio provisioning methodology prescribed by IAS 39 *Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement,* and creates portfolio provisions for impairment losses that were incurred but have not been specifically identified with any individual loan by the reporting date.

For the purposes of credit risk measurement and analysis the Group internally classifies loans depending on their quality. The quality of a corporate loan is monitored regularly on the basis of a comprehensive analysis of the borrower's financial position and includes analysis of liquidity, profitability and sufficiency of own funds. The capital structure, organizational structure, credit history and business reputation of the borrower are also taken into consideration. The Group takes into account the customer's position in the industry and the region, production equipment and level of the technology used as well as the general efficiency of management. Upon analysis corporate borrowers are assigned internal ratings. Calculation of provisions on collective basis depends on assets' credit risk profile (similar credit risk and product characteristics) and is based on internal models calculations.

Impairment of loans and advances to individuals. For the purpose of credit quality analysis, loans to individuals are grouped by type of credit product into homogeneous sub-portfolios with similar risk characteristics. The Group analyses each sub-portfolio by the internal rating and ageing of past due debts.

Repossessed collateral. Repossessed collateral represents financial and non-financial assets acquired by the Group in settlement of overdue loans. The assets are initially recognized at fair value when acquired and included in premises and equipment, other financial assets, investment properties or inventories within other assets depending on their nature and the Group's intention in respect of recovery of these assets, and are subsequently remeasured and accounted for in accordance with the accounting policies for these categories of assets.

Where repossessed collateral results in acquiring control over a business, the business combination is accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting with fair value of the settled loan representing the cost of acquisition (refer to the accounting policy for consolidation). Accounting policy for associates is applied to repossessed shares where the Group obtains significant influence, but not control. The cost of the associate is the fair value of the loan settled by repossessing the pledged shares.

Investment securities available-for-sale. This classification includes investment securities, which the Group intends to hold for an indefinite period of time and which may be sold in response to needs for liquidity or changes in interest rates, exchange rates or equity prices. The Group classifies investments as available-for-sale at the time of purchase.

Investment securities available-for-sale are carried at fair value. Interest income on available-for-sale debt securities is calculated using the effective interest method and recognized in profit or loss. Dividend income is recognized when the Group's right to receive payment is established. Foreign currency exchange differences arising on debt investment securities available-for-sale are recognized in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. All other elements of changes in the fair value are recognized in other comprehensive income until the investment is derecognized, at which time the cumulative gain or loss is reclassified to profit or loss, or impaired.



3 Basis of Preparation and Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss when incurred as a result of one or more events ("loss events") that occurred after the initial recognition of investment securities available-for-sale. Though a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the security below its cost is one of indicators that it is impaired, the Group also considers an objective evidence of expected receipt of contractual cashflows for debt securities. If the Group expects to receive all contractual cashflows in full, such debt security is not considered impaired. The cumulative impairment loss – measured as the difference between the acquisition cost (less scheduled principal repayments for debt securities) and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that asset previously recognized in profit or loss – is reclassified from other comprehensive income and recognized in profit or loss. Recognized impairment losses on equity instruments are not reversed through profit or loss in a subsequent period. As for debt instruments classified as available-for-sale, if, in a subsequent period, the fair value of such instruments increases and the increase can be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognized in profit or loss, the impairment loss is reversed through current period's profit or loss. The unrealised gains/(losses) on revaluation of investment securities available-for-sale other than impairment losses are presented in other comprehensive income as net gains/(losses) on revaluation of investment securities available-for-sale.

If the Group has both the intention and ability to hold quoted in active market debt investment securities available-forsale to maturity, they may be reclassified as investment securities held-to-maturity. In this case the fair value of securities as at the date of reclassification becomes their new amortized cost. For instruments with a fixed maturity the fair value reserve as at the date of reclassification is amortized to profit or loss during the period until maturity using the effective interest rate method.

Sale and repurchase agreements and lending of securities. Sale and repurchase agreements ("repo agreements") are treated as secured financing transactions. Securities sold under sale and repurchase agreements are not derecognized. The securities are not reclassified in the statement of financial position unless the transferee has the right by contract or custom to sell or repledge the securities, in which case they are reclassified as securities pledged under repurchase agreements. The corresponding liability is presented within amounts due to banks or due to corporate customers and individuals.

Funds granted under reverse repo agreements are recorded as cash and cash equivalents, due from banks or loans and advances to customers, in accordance with the nature of the counterparty and the term of the deal.

The difference between the sale and repurchase price in sale and repurchase agreements and reverse repo agreements is treated as interest income/expense and accrued over the life of agreement using the effective interest rate method.

Securities lent to counterparties are retained in the consolidated financial statements in their original category in the consolidated statement of financial position unless the counterparty has the right by contract or custom to sell or repledge the securities, in which case they are reclassified and presented separately. Securities borrowed are not recorded in the consolidated financial statements, unless these are sold to third parties, in which case the sale proceeds are recorded as an obligation to deliver (repurchase and return) securities within financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss other than debt securities in issue. The liability is carried at fair value with effects of remeasurement presented as net gains / (losses) arising from trading securities in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Investment securities held-to-maturity. This classification includes quoted non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities that the Group has both the intention and ability to hold to maturity. Management determines the classification of investment securities held-to-maturity at their initial recognition or upon reclassification from available-for-sale category when the Group changes its intention and has the ability to hold investment securities which were previously classified as available-for-sale to maturity. The investment securities held-to-maturity are carried at amortized cost.



3 Basis of Preparation and Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets. The Group derecognizes financial assets when (a) the assets are redeemed or the rights to cash flows from the assets otherwise expired or (b) the Group has transferred the rights to the cash flows from the financial assets or entered into a qualifying pass-through arrangement while (i) also transferring substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the assets or (ii) neither transferring nor retaining substantially all risks and rewards of ownership but not retaining control. Control is retained if the counterparty does not have the practical ability to sell the asset in its entirety to an unrelated third party without need to impose additional restrictions on the sale. Refer to paragraph below on treatment of renegotiations which lead to derecognition of financial assets.

Renegotiated financial assets. From time to time in the normal course of business the Group performs restructuring of financial assets, mostly of loans.

Accounting treatment of renegotiations which do not lead to derecognition of financial assets. If terms of an agreement are not substantially modified, restructuring of financial instruments leads to reassessment of effective interest rate based on current carrying amount and modified future cash flows.

Accounting treatment of renegotiations which lead to derecognition of financial assets. Substantial modifications of agreement terms lead to derecognition of a financial asset and a recognition of a new asset at fair value. The following principal modifications in contractual terms are considered to be substantial:

- Change of currency in which cash flows are denominated;
- Consolidation or separation of several financial instruments;
- Present value of the cash flows under the new terms discounted using the original effective interest rate, is at least 10 per cent different from the discounted present value of the remaining cash flows of the original financial asset.

In all cases if the restructuring of financial assets is due to financial difficulties of a borrower, financial assets are assessed for impairment before recognition of a renegotiation.

Goodwill. Goodwill represents the excess of the aggregate of consideration transferred, any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of the acquirer's previously held equity interest in the acquiree over the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is included in other assets. Goodwill on acquisitions of associates is included as part of investment in associates. Goodwill is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any. The Group tests goodwill for impairment at least annually and whenever there are indications that goodwill may be impaired. Goodwill is allocated to the cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the business combination. Such units or group of units represent the lowest level at which the Group monitors goodwill and are not larger than a segment before aggregation. Gains or losses on disposal of an operation within a cash generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated include the carrying amount of goodwill associated with the operation disposed of, generally measured on the basis of the relative values of the operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit which is retained.

Premises and equipment. Equipment and premises other than office premises are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Office premises of the Group are held at revalued amount subject to revaluation to market value on a regular basis. Increases in the carrying amount arising on revaluation are credited to other comprehensive income and increase the revaluation reserve in equity. Decreases that offset previous increases of the same asset are recognized in other comprehensive income and decrease the previously recognized revaluation reserve in equity; all other decreases are charged to profit or loss for the year. Positive revaluation shall be recognized in profit or loss to the extent that it reverses a negative revaluation of the same asset previously recognized in profit or loss. The frequency of revaluation depends upon the movements in the fair values of the premises being revalued. The revaluation reserve for office premises included in equity is reclassified directly to retained earnings on a straight-line basis as the asset is used by the Group. On the retirement or disposal of the asset the remaining revaluation reserve is immediately transferred to the retained earnings.



3 Basis of Preparation and Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Construction in progress is accounted for based on actual costs, less provision for impairment where required. Upon completion, assets are transferred to corresponding category of Premises and equipment at their carrying amount. Construction in progress is not depreciated until the asset is available for use.

Costs of minor current repairs and maintenance are expensed when incurred through consolidated statement of profit or loss. Cost of replacing major parts or components of premises and equipment items are capitalized and the replaced part is retired.

If impaired, premises are written down to the higher of their value in use and fair value less costs to sell. The decrease in carrying amount is charged to profit or loss to the extent it exceeds the previous revaluation surplus in other comprehensive income.

Gains and losses on disposals determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount are recognized in profit or loss.

Depreciation. Land is not depreciated. Depreciation on other items of premises and equipment is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate cost or revalued amounts of premises and equipment to their residual values over the estimated remaining useful lives. The Group applies the annual rates of depreciation based on the analysis of estimated remaining useful lives of premises and equipment which may differ significantly within one category of premises and equipment due to individual approach to evaluation of useful lives of the items.

The residual value of an asset is the estimated amount that the Group would currently obtain from disposal of the asset less the estimated costs of disposal, if the asset was already of the age and in the condition expected at the end of its useful life. The residual value of an asset is nil if the Group expects to use the asset until the end of its physical life. The assets' residual values and useful lives are reviewed and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date.

Intangible assets. The Group's intangible assets other than goodwill have definite useful life and primarily include capitalized computer software and intangible assets acquired through business combinations (e.g. customer base and brands). Acquired and recognized intangible assets are capitalized on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use those assets. Following the initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortization and any accumulated impairment losses. Intangible assets are amortized on a straight line basis and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired.

Investment property. Investment property is property held by the Group to earn rental income or for capital appreciation and which is not occupied by the Group.

Investment property is stated at fair value. Revaluation of investment property is held on each reporting date and recognized in consolidated statement of profit or loss as Other net operating income. Earned rental income is recorded in consolidated statement of profit or loss within other net operating income.

Subsequent expenditure on investment property is capitalized only when it is probable that additional future economic benefits associated with it will flow to the Group and the cost can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance costs are expensed when incurred.

If an investment property becomes occupied by the Group, it is reclassified to the corresponding category of Premises and equipment, and its carrying value at the date of reclassification becomes its deemed cost to be subsequently measured according to the accounting policy provided for such category.

Operating leases. Where the Group is a lessee in a lease which does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership from the lessor to the Group, the total lease payments are charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease. When assets are leased out under operating lease, the lease payments receivable are recognized as rental income within Other net operating income in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term.



3 Basis of Preparation and Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Finance leases. A finance lease is a lease that transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset. Where the Group is a lessor lease receivables are recognized at value equal to the net investment in the lease, starting from the date of commencement of the lease term. Finance income is based on a pattern reflecting a constant periodic rate of return on the net investment outstanding. Initial direct costs are included in the initial measurement of the lease receivables. The net investment in finance lease is recorded within loans and advances to customers.

Insurance and pension contracts.

Contracts classification. Insurance contracts are those contracts when the Group (the insurer) has accepted significant insurance risk from another party (the policyholders) by agreeing to compensate the policyholders if a specified uncertain future event (the insured event) adversely affects the policyholders.

Investment contracts are those contracts that transfer significant financial risk and do not transfer significant insurance risk.

Once a contract has been classified as an insurance contract, it remains an insurance contract for the remainder of its lifetime, even if the insurance risk reduces significantly during this period, unless all rights and obligations are extinguished or expire. Investment contracts can, however, be reclassified as insurance contracts after inception if insurance risk becomes significant.

Discretionary participation features (DPF). Insurance and investment contracts are classified as ones with DPF or ones without DPF. A DPF is a contractual right that gives holders of these contracts the right to receive as a supplement to guaranteed benefits, significant additional benefits which are based on the performance of the assets held within the DPF portfolio whose amount or timing is contractually at the discretion of the Group. The Group has the discretion over the amount and timing of the distribution of these surpluses to policyholders, but not less than defined by the current legislation. All DPF liabilities including unallocated surpluses, both guaranteed and discretionary, at the end of the reporting period are held within insurance or investment contract liabilities, as appropriate.

Description of insurance and pension contracts. The Group issues the following types of life insurance contracts:

Saving life insurance contracts (SLI) are those contracts of life insurance and investment contracts with an option to receive an additional investment return.

Investment life insurance contracts (ILI) are those contracts of life insurance with deposit components and an option to receive an additional investment return. The Group does not account for the deposit component separately and applies the accounting policy for insurance contracts to those contracts.

The Group also provides the following services to corporate customers and individuals other than life types of insurance services: property insurance, job loss insurance, bank cards insurance and foreign travel insurance.

Both ILI and SLI contract are accounted for in line with IFRS 4 *Insurance contracts* and classified as insurance contracts with DPF or insurance contracts without DPF. All insurance contracts other than life types of insurance contracts are classified as insurance contracts and accounted for in accordance with IFRS 4 *Insurance contracts*.

Under its pension business activity the Group provides the following types of contracts:

Obligatory pension insurance (OPI) is the activity performed under Federal Law 167-FZ "On obligatory pension insurance in the Russian Federation" of 15 December 2001, which is designed to provide deferred pension. The Group classifies contract under OPI as insurance contracts with DPF and account for those contracts in line with IFRS 4 Insurance contracts.

Non-state pension provisions (NSPP) are the type of voluntary pension provisions with an option to receive an additional investment return. The Group classifies contracts under NSPP concluded in accordance with existing non-state pension rules either as investment or insurance contracts with DPF and accounts for those contracts in line with IFRS 4 *Insurance contracts*.



3 Basis of Preparation and Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Insurance and pension contract liabilities. Liabilities on life insurance contracts are recognized when contracts are entered into and premiums are charged. These liabilities are measured by using the net premium method. The liability is determined as the sum of the discounted value of the expected future benefits, claims handling and policy administration expenses, policyholder investment income from assets backing such liabilities, which are directly related to the contract, less the discounted value of the expected premiums that would be required to meet the future cash outflows based on the valuation assumptions used.

Liabilities on other than life insurance contracts are assessed based on the best estimate principles. The amount of liabilities is determined as weighted average future expenses of insurer, taking into account probability of their occurrence, less weighted average future income from concluded insurance contracts.

Liabilities on OPI and NSPP contracts are determined as accrued contributions less payments, increased by the amount of income received from investing operations on pension contributions. At the same time on each reporting date liabilities adequacy test is performed.

Investment contract liabilities. Investment contracts are classified as contracts with and without DPF. The accounting policies for investment contract liabilities with DPF are the same as those for life insurance contract liabilities. The investment contracts without DPF are accounted for similar to financial liabilities in accordance with IAS 39 *Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement*.

Liability is terminated if contract is expired, the contract is either settled or cancelled. Contract carrying value which can be cancelled by policyholder cannot be less than the amount payable to the policyholder in the case of the contract's termination.

Insurance and pension contract liabilities adequacy test. At each reporting date, an assessment is made of whether the recognized insurance and pension liabilities are adequate. The liability value is adjusted to the extent that it is insufficient to meet expected future benefits and expenses. In performing the adequacy test, current best estimates of future contractual discounted cash flows are used. Any inadequacy is recorded in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income by establishing an additional liability for the remaining loss.

Gross premiums. Gross recurring premiums on insurance and investment contracts with DPF are recognized as revenue when payable by the policyholder. For single premium business, revenue is recognized on the date on which the policy is effective.

Premiums under other than life insurance contracts are recorded as written upon inception of a contract and are earned on a pro-rata basis over the term of the related contract coverage.

Pension contributions are recognized upon inception of the contract. In accordance with the requirements of in-force pension schemes liability is recognized at the moment of receipt of initial pension contribution from the Pension Fund of the Russian Federation, other non-state pension funds or depositor. Subsequent contributions are recognized in those periods when they are paid by the insured person or depositor under the conditions of the contract.

Gross benefits and claims paid for all insurance contracts and for investment contracts with DPF include the cost of all claims arising during the year and policyholder bonuses declared on DPF contracts. Changes in the gross valuation of insurance and investment contract liabilities with DPF are also included. Death claims and surrenders are recorded on the basis of notifications received. Maturities and annuity payments are recorded when due.



3 Basis of Preparation and Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Assets and liabilities of the disposal group and non-current assets classified as held for sale. Non-current assets and disposal groups, which may include both non-current and current assets, are disclosed separately in the statement of financial position if their carrying amount will be recovered principally through a sale transaction, including loss of control of a subsidiary holding the assets, within twelve months after the end of the reporting period. Assets are reclassified when all of the following conditions are met: (a) the assets are available for immediate sale in their present condition; (b) the Group's management approved and initiated an active programme to locate a buyer; (c) the assets are actively marketed for sale at a reasonable price; (d) the sale is expected within one year and (e) it is unlikely that significant changes to the plan to sell will be made or that the plan will be withdrawn. Non-current assets or disposal groups classified as held for sale in the current period's statement of financial position are not reclassified or represented in the comparative statement of financial position to reflect the classification at the end of the current period. Non-current assets held for sale and disposal groups as a whole are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. Held for sale premises and equipment, investment properties and intangible assets are not depreciated or amortized.

Liabilities directly associated with disposal groups that will be transferred in the disposal transaction are reclassified and presented separately in the statement of financial position.

Due to banks. Amounts due to banks are recorded when money or other assets are advanced to the Group by counterparty banks. Amounts due to banks present non-derivative financial liabilities and are carried at amortized cost.

Due to individuals and corporate customers. Amounts due to individuals and corporate customers are non-derivative financial liabilities to individuals and corporate customers (including state agencies and state-controlled companies) and are carried at amortized cost.

Debt securities in issue. Debt securities in issue include promissory notes, certificates of deposit, savings certificates and other debt securities issued by the Group. Debt securities in issue except equity linked notes and credit linked notes which are described below are stated at amortized cost. If the Group repurchases its debt securities in issue, they are removed from the consolidated statement of financial position and the difference between the carrying amount of the liability and the consideration paid is included in Other net operating income in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Other borrowed funds. Other borrowed funds represent syndicated loans attracted by the Group on financial markets and trade finance deals. Other borrowed funds are carried at amortized cost.

Obligation to deliver securities. Obligation to deliver securities refers to transactions in which the Group sells securities which it does not own, and which it is obligated to deliver at a future date. Such transactions are initially recorded at cost as liabilities and then are carried at fair value. Any unrealized gain or loss is recorded in the consolidated statement of profit or loss in net gains / (losses) arising from trading securities for the difference between the proceeds from the sale and the value of the open short position. The Group realizes a gain or loss when the short position is closed. Valuation of such securities is consistent with the accounting policy of the Group for trading securities.

Subordinated debt. Subordinated debt represents long-term funds attracted by the Group on the international financial markets or domestic market. The holders of subordinated debt would be subordinate to all other creditors to receive repayment on debt in case of the respective Group company liquidation. Subordinated debt is carried at amortized cost.



3 Basis of Preparation and Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Derivative financial instruments. Derivative financial instruments, including forwards and futures contracts, option contracts and swap contracts are carried at their fair value. All derivative instruments are carried as assets when fair value is positive and as liabilities when fair value is negative. Changes in the fair value of foreign exchange derivative financial instruments are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss in net results arising from trading in foreign currencies, operations with foreign currency derivatives and foreign exchange translation; changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments on precious metals are included in net results arising from operations with precious metals, precious metals derivatives and precious metals accounts translation; changes in the fair value of derivatives on securities, interest rates and other derivatives — in net results arising from operations with other derivative financial instruments.

Income taxes. Income taxes have been provided for in the consolidated financial statements in accordance with Russian legislation and legislation of other jurisdictions in which the Group performs business enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date. The income tax charge comprises current tax and deferred tax and is recognized in the profit or loss except if it is recognized in other comprehensive income or equity because it relates to transactions that are also recognized, in the same or a different period, in other comprehensive income or equity.

Current tax is the amount expected to be paid to or recovered from the taxation authorities in respect of taxable profits or losses for the current and prior periods. Taxes, other than on income, are recorded within operating expenses.

Deferred income tax is recognized for tax loss carry forwards and temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes. In accordance with the initial recognition exemption, deferred taxes are not recognized for temporary differences on initial recognition of goodwill or any other asset or liability if the transaction, when initially recorded, affects neither accounting nor taxable profit.

Deferred tax balances are measured at tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date which are expected to apply to the period when the temporary differences will reverse or the tax loss carry forwards will be utilized. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are netted only within the individual companies of the Group.

Deferred tax assets for deductible temporary differences and tax loss carry forwards are recorded in the statement of financial position only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the deductions can be utilized.

Deferred income tax is provided on post-acquisition retained earnings of subsidiaries, except where the Group controls the subsidiary's dividend policy and it is probable that the difference will not reverse through dividends or otherwise in the foreseeable future.

Provision for liabilities and charges. Provisions for liabilities and charges are non-financial liabilities of uncertain timing or amount. They are accrued when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made.

Trade and other payables. Trade and other payables are accrued when the counterparty performed its obligations under the contract and are carried at amortized cost.

Share premium. Share premium represents the excess of equity contributions over the nominal value of the shares issued.

Preference shares. Preference shares are not redeemable. Dividend payments are at the discretion of the Bank. When a dividend is paid, the preference shares attract a minimum payment of annual dividends of 15% of their nominal value, subject to confirmation of the annual shareholders' meeting. Preference shares are classified as a part of equity.

Treasury shares. Where the Bank or its subsidiaries purchase the Bank's equity instruments, the consideration paid including any attributable incremental external costs is deducted from equity until they are cancelled or disposed of. When such shares are subsequently disposed or reissued, any consideration received is included in equity.



3 Basis of Preparation and Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Dividends. Dividends are recorded in equity in the period in which they are declared. Dividends declared after the reporting date and before the consolidated financial statements are authorized for issue are disclosed in the subsequent events note. Dividends are calculated based on the Group IFRS net profit and distributed out from the Bank statutory net results.

Income and expense recognition. Interest income and expense are recorded in profit or loss for interest-bearing instruments on accrual basis using effective interest rate method. This method defers, as part of interest income or expense, all fees paid or received between the parties to the contract that are an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and all other premiums or discounts.

Fees integral to the effective interest rate include origination fees received or paid by the entity relating to the creation or acquisition of a financial asset or issuance of a financial liability, for example fees for evaluating creditworthiness, evaluating and recording guarantees or collateral, negotiating the terms of the instrument and for processing transaction documents. Commitment fees received by the Group to originate loans at market interest rates are integral to the effective interest rate if it is probable that the Group will enter into a specific lending arrangement and does not expect to sell the resulting loan shortly after origination. The Group does not designate loan commitments as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.

When loans and other debt instruments become doubtful for collection, the base for calculation of interest income is reduced to present value of expected cash inflows and interest income is thereafter recorded based on the asset's original effective interest rate which was used before impairment recognition.

Commissions and fees arising from negotiating, or participating in the negotiation of a transaction for a third party, such as the acquisition of loans, shares or other securities or the purchase or sale of businesses, which are earned on execution of the underlying transaction are recorded on its completion. Portfolio and other management advisory and service fees are recognized based on the applicable service contracts, usually on a time-proportion basis. Trust and custody services fees related to investment funds are recorded proportionally over the period the service is provided.

All other fees, commissions and other income and expense items are generally recorded on an accrual basis by reference to completion of the specific transaction assessed on the basis of the actual service provided as a proportion of the total services to be provided.

Credit related commitments. The Group enters into credit related commitments, including letters of credit and financial guarantees. Financial guarantees represent irrevocable assurances to make payments in the event that a customer cannot meet its obligations to third parties and carry the same credit risk as loans. Financial guarantees and commitments to provide a loan are initially recognized at their fair value, which is normally evidenced by the amount of fees received. This amount is amortized on a straight line basis over the life of the commitment, except for commitments to originate loans if it is probable that the Group will enter into a specific lending arrangement and does not expect to sell the resulting loan shortly after origination; such loan commitment fees are deferred and included in the carrying value of the loan on initial recognition.

Performance guarantees. Performance guarantees are contracts that provide compensation if another party fails to perform a contractual obligation. Performance guarantees are initially recognized at their fair value, which is normally evidenced by the amount of fees received. This amount is amortized on a straight line basis over the life of the contract. At the end of each reporting period, the performance guarantee contracts are measured at the higher of (i) the unamortized balance of the amount at initial recognition and (ii) the best estimate of expenditure required to settle the contract at the end of each reporting period, discounted to present value. Where the Group has the contractual right to revert to its customer for recovering amounts paid to settle the performance guarantee contracts, such amounts will be recognized as loans and receivables upon transfer of the loss compensation to the guarantee's beneficiary.

Foreign currency translation. The functional currency of each of the Group's consolidated entities is the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates. The Bank's functional currency and the Group's presentation currency is the national currency of the Russian Federation, Russian Rouble ("RR").



3 Basis of Preparation and Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Monetary assets and liabilities are translated into each entity's functional currency at the applicable exchange rate at the respective reporting dates. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of the transactions performed by the companies of the Group and from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities into each entity's functional currency are recognized in profit or loss. Effects of exchange rate changes on the fair value of equity instruments are recorded as part of the fair value gain or loss.

The results and financial position of each group entity (except for the subsidiary bank in Belarus the economy of which was considered hyperinflationary before 2015) are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

- assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at the applicable closing rate at the respective reporting date;
- (II) income and expenses for each statement of profit or loss and statement of other comprehensive income are translated either at the rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions or at average exchange rates (in case this average is a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates).

The results and financial position of an entity whose functional currency is the currency of a hyperinflationary economy shall be translated into a different presentation currency using the following procedure: all amounts (ie assets, liabilities, equity items, income and expenses, including comparatives) shall be translated at the closing rate at the date of the most recent statement of financial position.

When amounts are translated into the currency of a non-hyperinflationary economy, comparative amounts shall be those that were presented as current year amounts in the relevant prior year financial statements (ie not adjusted for subsequent changes in the price level or subsequent changes in exchange rates).

Exchange differences arising on the translation of results and financial position of each of the Group's consolidated entities are included in Exchange differences on translating foreign operations in other comprehensive income and taken to a separate component of equity - Foreign currency translation reserve.

At 31 December 2017 the principal rates of exchange used for translating foreign currency monetary balances and each entity's functional currency into the Group's presentation currency were as follows:

	/RR	/UAH	/BYN	/KZT	/EUR	/CHF	/TRY
RR/	1.000	0.488	0.034	5.774	0.015	0.017	0.066
USD/	57.600	28.104	1.979	332.595	0.836	0.977	3.780
EUR/	68.867	33.601	2.366	397.651	1.000	1.168	4.519

At 31 December 2016 the principal rates of exchange used for translating foreign currency monetary balances and each entity's functional currency into the Group's presentation currency were as follows:

	/RR	/UAH	/BYR	/KZT	/EUR	/CHF	/TRY
RR/	1.000	0.447	0.032	5.505	0.016	0.017	0.058
USD/	60.657	27.100	1.960	333.946	0.951	1.021	3.526
EUR/	63.811	28.509	2.062	351.311	1.000	1.074	3.709

Assets under management. The Group has set up mutual investment funds and acts as the manager of their assets. The assets of these funds do not represent assets of the Group and therefore are not reported on the consolidated statement of financial position. The management fee income is recorded in the consolidated statement of profit or loss within fee and commission income.

Contingent assets. Contingent assets are assets that could arise from past events and their existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Group. Contingent assets are not recognized by the Group in its consolidated statement of financial position, but disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements if inflow of economic benefits is highly probable.



3 Basis of Preparation and Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Offsetting. Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated statement of financial position only when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognized amounts, and there is an intention to either settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. Such a right of set off (a) must not be contingent on a future event and (b) must be legally enforceable in all of the following circumstances: (i) in the normal course of business, (ii) the event of default and (iii) the event of insolvency or bankruptcy.

Earnings per share. Preference shares are not redeemable and are not considered to be participating shares. Earnings per share are determined by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Bank by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the reporting period, excluding treasury shares.

Staff costs and related contributions. Wages, salaries, contributions to the Russian Federation state pension and social insurance funds, paid annual leave and sick leave, pensions, bonuses, and non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the associated services are rendered by the employees of the Group.

Segment reporting. The Group determined its operating segments on the basis of organizational structure of the Group and geographical areas. Segments whose revenue, result or assets are 10% or more of all the segments are reported separately.

Presentation of statement of financial position in order of liquidity. The Group does not have a clearly identifiable operating cycle and therefore does not present current and non-current assets and liabilities separately in the consolidated statement of financial position. Instead, assets and liabilities are presented in order of their liquidity in accordance with best banking industry practices. Analysis of assets and liabilities by their expected maturities is presented in Note 34.

Presentation of credit quality. Assessment of the credit quality for cash and cash equivalents, due from banks, trading securities, held to maturity securities, available for sale securities and securities designated as at fair value through profit or loss is based on the ratings of the international rating agencies as follows:

Debts denominated in the local currency are assessed on the basis of ratings assigned to debts in local currency. Debts denominated in the foreign currency are assessed on the basis of ratings assigned to debts in foreign currency. In case when the issuer or the issue has been simultaneously assigned investment and speculative ratings by different rating agencies following steps are performed:

- analysis is done on overall number of investment and speculative ratings assigned and simple majority principle is applied;
- if the issuer or the issue is assigned equal number of investment and speculative ratings speculative rating is used for the purpose of the financial statements preparation.

4 Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies

The Group makes estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements and the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year. Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on Management's experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Management also makes certain judgements in the process of applying the accounting policies. Judgements that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements and estimates that can cause a significant adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the next financial year include:



4 Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments in Applying Accounting Policies (continued)

Impairment losses on loans and advances. The Group regularly reviews its loan portfolios to assess impairment. In determining whether an impairment loss should be recorded in profit or loss, the Group makes judgements as to whether there is any observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a portfolio of loans before the decrease is identified with an individual loan in that portfolio. This evidence may include observable data indicating that there has been an adverse change in the payment status of borrowers in a group, or national or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults on assets in the group. Management uses estimates based on historical loss experience for assets with credit risk characteristics and objective evidence of impairment similar to those in the portfolio when scheduling its future cash flows. More details are provided in Note 10.

Beginning from the first quarter of 2017 as a result of accumulation of additional data on repayment of defaulted loans and on recovery of loans through disposal of collateral, the Group introduced amendments to the probability of default (PD) valuation models and to loss given default (LGD) valuation models applied to certain retail loan products of the Bank (mortgage and consumer loans). These amendments led to a decrease in the amount of provision for loan impairment as at the date of transition (1 January 2017) by RR 4.3 billion which was recorded in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2017. The main effect on the result of calculation is related to more conservative definition of default in relation to restructured loans, which led to an increase in PD and to a decrease in LGD.

Beginning from the fourth quarter of 2017 as a result of accumulation of additional data on repayment of defaulted loans, the Group introduced amendments to PD valuation models and to LGD valuation models applied to corporate loan products for residents. As a result of these amendments the Group recorded reduction of provision for loan impairment in the fourth quarter of 2017 in the amount of RR 15.5 billion.

In line with plans of the Group to implement PD models, PD models for corporate non-resident customers and for project finance companies were introduced. Beginning from the fourth quarter of 2017 these PD models replaced migration matrices and other methods which were used for these segments before to estimate provision for impairment. Implementation of PD models mentioned above will allow to synchronize approaches applied by the Group for evaluation of credit risk for the purposes of provision for loan impairment under IFRS, calculation of economic and regulatory capital, and for pricing purposes. As a result of implementation of the mentioned above PD models the Group recorded increase of provision for loan impairment in the fourth quarter of 2017 in the amount of RR 47.8 billion.

Fair value of financial instruments. The estimated fair value of financial instruments has been determined by the Group using available market information, where it exists, and appropriate valuation methodologies. However, judgement is necessarily required to interpret market data to determine the estimated fair value. The fair values of financial instruments that are not quoted in active markets are determined by using valuation techniques. To the extent practical, models use only observable data adjusted for credit quality of counterparties, however certain areas require Management to make other estimates. Changes in assumptions about these factors could affect reported fair values. The Russian Federation and certain other jurisdictions where the Group operates continues to display some characteristics of an emerging market and economic conditions continue to limit the volume of activity in the financial markets. Market quotations may be outdated or reflect distress sale transactions and therefore sometimes they may not represent fair values of financial instruments. Management has used all available market information in estimating the fair value of financial instruments. Refer to Note 37.

Premises and equipment. Based on the analysis of actual useful lives of premises and equipment as at 1 January 2017 the Bank adjusted the estimates in relation to remaining useful lives of premises and equipment of the Bank. The amendments were applied to all the types of premises and equipment. Should the Bank not apply these amendments, depreciation of premises and equipment for the year ended 31 December 2017 would be RR 14.5 billion higher.



4 Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments in Applying Accounting Policies (continued)

Revaluation of office premises. The Group regularly reviews the value of its office premises for compliance with fair value and performs revaluation to ensure that the current carrying amount of office premises does not materially differ from its fair value. Office premises have been revalued to market value as at 31 December 2016. The revaluation was performed based on the reports of independent appraisers, who hold a recognized and relevant professional qualification and who have recent experience in valuation of assets of similar location and category. The basis used for the appraisal was mainly market value. The most significant assumptions made during the appraisal included those related to: selection of similar premises; adjustments to market values of similar premises to reflect differences in conditions and location between similar premises and the appraised premises; cash flow projections and discount rates. Revalued premises are depreciated in accordance with their remaining useful lives since 1 January 2017. Refer to Note 14.

Life insurance contract liabilities (including investment contract liabilities with DPF). The liability for life insurance contracts (including investment contracts with DPF) is either based on current assumptions or on assumptions established at the inception of the contract, reflecting the best estimate at the time increased with a margin for risk and adverse deviation. All contracts are subject to a liability adequacy test, which reflects management's best current estimate of future cash flows. The main assumptions used relate to mortality, morbidity, longevity, investment returns, expenses, lapse and surrender rates and discount rates. The Group bases mortality and morbidity on standard industry Russian mortality tables prepared by State Statistic Committee of Russian Federation, adjusted when appropriate to reflect the Group's unique risk exposure, product characteristics, target markets. Refer to Note 34.

5 Adoption of New or Revised Standards and Interpretations

Certain new standards and interpretations became effective for the Group from 1 January 2017:

Disclosure Initiative – Amendments to IAS 7 (issued on 29 January 2016 and effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017). The amended IAS 7 requires disclosure of a reconciliation of movements in liabilities arising from financing activities.

Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealized Losses – Amendments to IAS 12 (issued on 19 January 2016 and effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017). The amendment has clarified the requirements on recognition of deferred tax assets for unrealized losses on debt instruments. The entity will have to recognize deferred tax asset for unrealized losses that arise as a result of discounting cash flows of debt instruments at market interest rates, even if it expects to hold the instrument to maturity and no tax will be payable upon collecting the principal amount. The economic benefit embodied in the deferred tax asset arises from the ability of the holder of the debt instrument to achieve future gains (unwinding of the effects of discounting) without paying taxes on those gains.

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2014-2016 cycle - Amendments to IFRS 12 (issued on 8 December 2016 and effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017). The amendments clarify the scope of the disclosure requirements in IFRS 12 by specifying that the disclosure requirements in IFRS 12, other than those relating to summarised financial information for subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates, apply to an entity's interests in other entities that are classified as held for sale or discontinued operations in accordance with IFRS 5.

The above mentioned amended standards effective for the Group from 1 January 2017 did not have a material impact on the accounting policies, financial position or performance of the Group in the consolidated financial statements.

6 New Accounting Pronouncements

Certain new standards have been published that are mandatory for the Group's accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 or later periods and which the Group has not early adopted:

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (amended in July 2014 and effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 with early application permitted). In July 2014, the IASB issued the final version of IFRS 9 *Financial Instruments* which reflects all phases of the financial instruments project and replaces IAS 39 *Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement* and all previous versions of IFRS 9.



6 New Accounting Pronouncements (continued)

Key features of the new standard are:

- Financial assets are required to be classified into three measurement categories: those to be measured subsequently at amortized cost, those to be measured subsequently at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) and those to be measured subsequently at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL).
 - Classification for debt instruments is driven by the entity's business model for managing the financial assets and whether the contractual cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI). If a debt instrument is held to collect contractual cash flows, it may be carried at amortized cost if it also meets the SPPI requirement. Debt instruments that meet the SPPI requirement that are held in a portfolio where an entity both holds to collect assets' contractual cash flows and sells assets may be classified as FVOCI. Financial assets that do not contain cash flows that are SPPI must be measured at FVTPL (for example, derivatives). Embedded derivatives are no longer separated from financial assets but will be included in assessing the SPPI condition.
- Investments in equity instruments are always measured at fair value. However, management can make an
 irrevocable election to present changes in fair value in other comprehensive income, provided the instrument
 is not held for trading. If the equity instrument is held for trading, changes in fair value are presented in profit
 or loss.
- Most of the requirements in IAS 39 for classification and measurement of financial liabilities were carried
 forward unchanged to IFRS 9. The key change is that an entity will be required to present the effects of
 changes in own credit risk of financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss in other
 comprehensive income.
- IFRS 9 introduces a new model for the recognition of impairment losses the expected credit losses (ECL) model. There is a 'three stage' approach which is based on the change in credit quality of financial assets since initial recognition. In practice, the new rules mean that entities will have to record an immediate loss equal to the 12-month ECL on initial recognition of financial assets that are not credit impaired (or lifetime ECL for trade receivables). Where there has been a significant increase in credit risk, impairment is measured using lifetime ECL rather than 12-month ECL. The model includes operational simplifications for lease and trade receivables.
- IFRS 9 sets out special rules for measuring the loss allowance and recognising interest revenue in respect of purchased or originated assets that are credit impaired at initial recognition (purchased or originated creditimpaired or "POCI" assets). At initial recognition, POCI assets do not carry an impairment allowance. Instead, lifetime expected credit losses are incorporated into the calculation of the effective interest rate ("EIR"). Favourable changes in lifetime expected credit losses since initial recognition of POCI assets are recognised as an impairment gain, even if the favourable changes are more than the amount previously recognised in profit or loss as impairment losses. This is a different presentation from IAS 39, under which reversals of impairment relate only to amounts previously recognised in profit or loss as impairment losses.
- Hedge accounting requirements were amended to align accounting more closely with risk management. The Group plans to use IFRS 9 requirements for hedge accounting.



6 New Accounting Pronouncements (continued)

Transition

Changes in accounting policies resulting from the adoption of IFRS 9 have generally been applied retrospectively, except as described below.

- The Group has taken advantage of the exemption allowing it not to restate comparative information for prior periods with respect to classification and measurement (including impairment) changes. Differences in the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities resulting from the adoption of IFRS 9 have generally been recognized in the opening balance of retained earnings and reserves as at 1 January 2018.
- The following assessments have been made on the basis of the facts and circumstances that existed at the date of initial application.
 - The assessment of the business model within which a group of financial assets is held.
 - The designation and revocation of the previous designations of certain financial assets and financial liabilities measured at FVTPL.
 - The designation of certain investments in equity instruments not held for trading as at FVOCI.

To manage the transition to IFRS 9, the Group have implemented a comprehensive Group-wide program led jointly by Finance and Risk Management that focuses on the key areas of impact, including financial reporting data systems and processes, as well as communications and training.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group completed a detailed assessment of the scope and complexity of the adoption of IFRS 9, which identified areas with differences between IFRS 9 and IAS 39 and secured resources to complete the implementation. The Group managed the IFRS 9 program through the completion of activities and deliverables to support the key areas of impact noted above. These include the following steps completed to date:

- Assessed the financial and economic impacts and identified processes and systems requirements to ensure a successful transition;
- · Agreed on many key accounting interpretations and formulated professional judgments on key issues;
- Completed documentation of updated Group-wide accounting and risk policies;
- Completed design specifications for data sourcing systems, models, controls and processes to ensure alignment between finance and risk processes and systems;
- Provided training and educational seminars to impacted internal stakeholders;
- Drafted transition disclosures and calculated transition adjustments;
- Completed the assessment of the business models for all portfolios of financial assets held by the Group based on the following information:
 - The stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the implementation of those policies in practice. In particular, whether management's strategy focuses on earning contractual interest revenue, maintaining a particular interest rate profile, matching the duration of the financial assets to the duration of the liabilities that are funding those assets or realizing cash flows through the sale of the assets;
 - How the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Group's management;
 - The risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within that business model) and how those risks are managed;
 - How managers of the business are compensated e.g. whether compensation is based on the fair value of the assets managed or the contractual cash flows collected; and



6 New Accounting Pronouncements (continued)

- The frequency, volume and timing of sales in prior periods, the reasons for such sales and its expectations about future sales activity. However, information about sales activity is not considered in isolation, but as part of an overall assessment of how the Group's stated objective for managing the financial assets is achieved and how cash flows are realized.

As a result, a portfolio managed by one of the Group's trading desks that consists of certain short-term placements with banks and reverse repo agreements that was previously measured at amortized cost under IAS 39 has been classified as measured at FVTPL as the Group considers that these financial assets are held for trading within a business model whose objective is neither held to collect assets' cash flows nor held to collect and sell. In addition, the Group has designated financial liabilities associated with these financial assets as at FVTPL to eliminate an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise;

- For all debt financial assets that are held within business models whose objectives are held to collect assets' contractual cash flows or held to collect contractual cash flows and sell assets the Group assessed whether the contractual cash flows of those financial assets meet the SPPI criterion on the dates of their initial recognition. As a result, a certain number of financial debt instruments considered as non-SPPI compliant have been classified as mandatorily measured at FVTPL;
- Completed the design and validation of new expected credit loss impairment models and parameters and estimated the additional impairment losses to recognize;
- Certain unquoted debt investment securities that were measured at amortised cost under IAS 39 and accounted for in the consolidated financial statements lines Loans and advances to customers and Due from banks have been reclassified to the line Securities under IFRS 9 to better present a class of financial assets that these debt securities belong to.
- The Group has estimated the impact of the changes described above on the relevant lines of consolidated statement of the financial position as at 31 December 2017 as follows:



6 New Accounting Pronouncements (continued)

in billions of Russian Roubles	Carrying amount under IAS 39	Reclassification for the purposes of application of the new structure of consolidated statement of financial position	Remeasurement of financial assets and financial liabilities as a result of business models assessment	Remeasurement of non-SPPI compliant financial assets	Application of expected credit loss impairment requirements under IFRS 9	Carrying amount under IFRS 9
ASSETS						<u> </u>
Cash and cash equivalents	2,329.4	(2,329.4)	_	_	_	_
Mandatory cash balances with central banks	427.1	(427.1)	_	_	_	_
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss	654.1	(654.1)	_	_	_	_
Due from banks	1,317.8	(1,317.8)	_	_	_	_
Loans and advances to customers	18,488.1	(18,488.1)	_	_		<u> </u>
Securities pledged under repurchase agreements	258.9	(258.9)	_	_		<u> </u>
Investment securities available-for-sale	1,743.7	(1,743.7)	_	_		<u> </u>
Investment securities held-to-maturity	773.6	(773.6)	_	_	Ξ	<u> </u>
Deferred tax asset	15.5	(15.5)	_	_	Ξ	<u> </u>
LIABILITIES	13.3	(13.3)				
Due to banks	693.3	(693.3)	_	_	_	_
Provisions for impairment of credit related commitments	053.3	(093.3)				
and other contingencies and commitments	27.9	(27.9)	_	_	_	_
Deferred tax liability	27.7	(27.7)	_	_		<u> </u>
•			_	_	_	_
EQUITY	3,436.0	(3,436.0)	_	_	_	
ASSETS						
Cash and cash equivalents	_	2,329.4	_	_	(0.3)	2,329.1
Mandatory cash balances with central banks	_	427.1	_	_	(0.1)	427.0
Due from banks	_	1,292.4	0.7	_	(1.7)	1,291.4
Loans and advances to customers	_	18,478.0	0.7	(4.2)	(97.5)	18,377.0
Investments in associated companies at fair value through profit or loss	_	26.6	_	· -i	· -i	26.6
Securities pledged under repurchase agreements	_	258.9	_	_	_	258.9
Securities other than pledged under repurchase agreements	_	3,039.4	_	_	(6.8)	3,032.6
Derivative financial instruments (Asset)	_	140.9	_	_	· -i	140.9
Deferred tax asset	_	15.5	(0.1)	0.2	6.6	22.2
LIABILITIES						
Due to banks	_	693.3	0.2	_	_	693.5
Provisions for impairment of credit related commitments						
and other contingencies and commitments	_	27.9	_	_	2.6	30.5
Deferred tax liability	_	27.7	0.1	(0.5)	(14.0)	13.3
EQUITY	_	3,436.0	1.0	(3.5)	(88.4)	3,345.1



6 New Accounting Pronouncements (continued)

 The estimated impact that the initial application of IFRS 9 will have on the Group's equity is presented below. The impact relates to the fair value reserve and retained earnings. No impact on other components of equity is expected.

in billions of Russian Roubles	Fair value reserve for investment securities available-for-sale	Fair value reserve for debt securities at fair value through OCI under IFRS 9	Retained earnings
Balance amount as at 31 December 2017	35.3	_	3,058.6
Reclassifications of financial assets and liabilities as a result of business models assessment Remeasurement of financial assets and liabilities as a result	(35.3)	22.6	12.7
of business models assessment	_	(0.4)	1.4
Remeasurement of non-SPPI compliant financial assets Application of expected credit loss impairment requirements	_	`-'	(3.5)
under IFRS 9	_	7.2	(95.6)
Balance amount as at 1 January 2018	_	29.4	2,973.6

• The estimated impact that the initial application of IFRS 9 will have on the Group's capital adequacy ratio is presented below:

In billions of Russian Roubles	As reported at 31 December 2017 under IAS 39	Estimated impact of adoption of IFRS 9	As adjusted at 1 January 2018 under IFRS 9
Total Tier 1 capital,	3,360.6	(90.9)	3,269.7
including:			
Retained earnings	3,058.6	(85.0)	2,973.6
Fair value reserve for securities	35.3	(5.9)	29.4
Total Tier 2 capital	459.7	_	459.7
Total capital	3,820.3	(90.9)	3,729.4
Risk weighted assets (RWA)			
Credit risk	25,245.7	(86.6)	25,159.1
Operational risk	3,092.8	_	3,092.8
Market risk	1,158.3	(97.8)	1,060.5
Total risk weighted assets (RWA)	29,496.8	(184.4)	29,312.4
Common equity Tier 1 capital adequacy ratio (Common			
equity Tier 1 capital / Total RWA), %	11.4	_	11.2
Tier 1 capital adequacy ratio (Tier 1 capital / Total RWA), %	11.4	_	11.2
Total capital adequacy ratio (Total capital / Total RWA), %	13.0	_	12.7

The estimated impacts of the adoption of IFRS 9 on the Group's equity, the classification and measurement of financial assets and liabilities are based on assessments undertaken to date. The actual impacts of adopting the standard at 1 January 2018 may change.



6 New Accounting Pronouncements (continued)

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (issued on 28 May 2014 and effective for the periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018). The new standard introduces the core principle that revenue must be recognized when the goods or services are transferred to the customer, at the transaction price. Any bundled goods or services that are distinct must be separately recognized, and any discounts or rebates on the contract price must generally be allocated to the separate elements. When the consideration varies for any reason, minimum amounts must be recognized if they are not at significant risk of reversal. Costs incurred to secure contracts with customers have to be capitalized and amortized over the period when the benefits of the contract are consumed.

IFRS 16 Leases (issued In January 2016 and effective for the annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019). IFRS 16 results in lessees accounting for most leases within the scope of the standard in a manner similar to the way in which finance leases are currently accounted for under IAS 17 *Leases*. Lessees will recognize a 'right of use' asset and a corresponding financial liability on the balance sheet. The asset will be amortized over the length of the lease and the financial liability measured at amortized cost. Lessor accounting remains substantially the same as in IAS 17.

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture - Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 (issued in September 2014 with latest changes on 15 December 2015; effective date is not set). The amendments address the acknowledged inconsistency between the requirements in IFRS 10 and IAS 28 in dealing with the loss of control of a subsidiary that is contributed to an associate or a joint venture. The amendments clarify that an investor recognizes a full gain or loss on the sale or contribution of assets that constitute a business, as defined in IFRS 3, between an investor and its associate or joint venture. The gain or loss resulting from the remeasurement at fair value of an investment retained in a former subsidiary is recognized only to the extent of unrelated investors' interests in that former subsidiary.

Amendments to IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (issued on 12 April 2016 and effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018). The amendments do not change the underlying principles of the Standard but clarify how those principles should be applied. The amendments clarify how to identify a performance obligation (the promise to transfer a good or a service to a customer) in a contract; how to determine whether a company is a principal (the provider of a good or service) or an agent (responsible for arranging for the good or service to be provided); and how to determine whether the revenue from granting a licence should be recognized at a point in time or over time. In addition to the clarifications, the amendments include two additional reliefs to reduce cost and complexity for a company when it first applies the new Standard.

Amendments to IFRS 2 Share-based Payment (issued on 20 June 2016 and effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018). The amendments mean that non-market performance vesting conditions will impact measurement of cash-settled share-based payment transactions in the same manner as equity-settled awards. The amendments also clarify classification of a transaction with a net settlement feature in which the entity withholds a specified portion of the equity instruments, that would otherwise be issued to the counterparty upon exercise (or vesting), in return for settling the counterparty's tax obligation that is associated with the share-based payment. Such arrangements will be classified as equity-settled in their entirety.

Finally, the amendments also clarify accounting for cash-settled share based payments that are modified to become equity-settled, as follows (a) the share-based payment is measured by reference to the modification-date fair value of the equity instruments granted as a result of the modification; (b) the liability is derecognized upon the modification, (c) the equity-settled share-based payment is recognized to the extent that the services have been rendered up to the modification date, and (d) the difference between the carrying amount of the liability as at the modification date and the amount recognized in equity at the same date is recorded in profit or loss immediately.

Amendments to IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts (issued on 12 September 2016 and effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018). The amendments introduce two approaches: (i) an overlay approach and (ii) a deferral approach. Insurers will have the option to recognize in other comprehensive income, rather than profit or loss, the volatility that could arise when IFRS 9 is applied before the new insurance contracts standard is issued. In addition, entities whose activities are predominantly connected with insurance will have an optional temporary exemption from applying IFRS 9 until 2021.



6 New Accounting Pronouncements (continued)

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2014-2016 cycle (issued on 8 December 2016 and effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 for amendments to IFRS 1 and IAS 28). IFRS 1 was amended and some of the short-term exemptions from IFRSs in respect of disclosures about financial instruments, employee benefits and investment entities were removed, after those short-term exemptions have served their intended purpose. The amendments to IAS 28 clarify that an entity has an investment-by-investment choice for measuring investees at fair value in accordance with IAS 28 by a venture capital organisation, or a mutual fund, unit trust or similar entities including investment linked insurance funds. Additionally, an entity that is not an investment entity may have an associate or joint venture that is an investment entity. IAS 28 permits such an entity to retain the fair value measurements used by that investment entity associate or joint venture when applying the equity method. The amendments clarify that this choice is also available on an investment-by-investment basis.

IFRIC 22 - Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration (issued on 8 December 2016 and effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018). The interpretation addresses how to determine the date of the transaction for the purpose of determining the exchange rate to use on initial recognition of the related asset, expense or income (or part thereof) on the derecognition of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from an advance consideration in a foreign currency. Under IAS 21, the date of the transaction for the purpose of determining the exchange rate to use on initial recognition of the related asset, expense or income (or part thereof) is the date on which an entity initially recognises the non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from the advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, then the entity must determine the date of the transaction for each payment or receipt of advance consideration. IFRIC 22 only applies in circumstances in which an entity recognises a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from an advance consideration. IFRIC 22 does not provide application guidance on the definition of monetary and non-monetary items. An advance payment or receipt of consideration generally gives rise to the recognition of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability, however, it may also give rise to a monetary asset or liability. An entity may need to apply judgment in determining whether an item is monetary or non-monetary.

Transfers of Investment Property - Amendments to IAS 40 (issued on 8 December 2016 and effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018). The amendments clarify the requirements on transfers to, or from, investment property in respect of properties under construction. Prior to the amendments, there was no specific guidance on transfers into, or out of, investment properties under construction in IAS 40. The amendment clarifies that there was no intention to prohibit transfers of a property under construction or development, previously classified as inventory, to investment property when there is an evident change in use. IAS 40 was amended to reinforce the principle of transfers into, or out of, investment property in IAS 40 to specify that a transfer into, or out of investment property should only be made when there has been a change in use of the property; and such a change in use would involve an assessment of whether the property qualifies as an investment property. Such a change in use should be supported by evidence.

IFRS 17 *Insurance Contracts* (issued on 18 May 2017 and effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021). IFRS 17 replaces IFRS 4, which has given companies dispensation to carry on accounting for insurance contracts using existing practices. As a consequence, it was difficult for investors to compare and contrast the financial performance of otherwise similar insurance companies. IFRS 17 is a single principle-based standard to account for all types of insurance contracts, including reinsurance contracts that an insurer holds. The standard requires recognition and measurement of groups of insurance contracts at: (i) a risk-adjusted present value of the future cash flows (the fulfilment cash flows) that incorporates all of the available information about the fulfilment cash flows in a way that is consistent with observable market information; plus (if this value is a liability) or minus (if this value is an asset) (ii) an amount representing the unearned profit in the group of contracts (the contractual service margin). Insurers will be recognising the profit from a group of insurance contracts over the period they provide insurance coverage, and as they are released from risk. If a group of contracts is or becomes loss-making, an entity will be recognising the loss immediately.



6 New Accounting Pronouncements (continued)

Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement - Amendments to IAS 19 (issued on 7 February 2018 and effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019). The amendments specify how to determine pension expenses when changes to a defined benefit pension plan occur. When a change to a plan — an amendment, curtailment or settlement — takes place, IAS 19 requires to remeasure net defined benefit liability or asset. The amendments require to use the updated assumptions from this remeasurement to determine current service cost and net interest for the remainder of the reporting period after the change to the plan. Before the amendments, IAS 19 did not specify how to determine these expenses for the period after the change to the plan.

IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments (issued on 7 June 2017 and effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019). IAS 12 specifies how to account for current and deferred tax, but not how to reflect the effects of uncertainty. The interpretation clarifies how to apply the recognition and measurement requirements in IAS 12 when there is uncertainty over income tax treatments. An entity should determine whether to consider each uncertain tax treatment separately or together with one or more other uncertain tax treatments based on which approach better predicts the resolution of the uncertainty. An entity should assume that a taxation authority will examine amounts it has a right to examine and have full knowledge of all related information when making those examinations. If an entity concludes it is not probable that the taxation authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment, the effect of uncertainty will be reflected in determining the related taxable profit or loss, tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits or tax rates, by using either the most likely amount or the expected value, depending on which method the entity expects to better predict the resolution of the uncertainty. An entity will reflect the effect of a change in facts and circumstances or of new information that affects the judgments or estimates required by the interpretation as a change in accounting estimate. Examples of changes in facts and circumstances or new information that can result in the reassessment of a judgment or estimate include, but are not limited to, examinations or actions by a taxation authority, changes in rules established by a taxation authority or the expiry of a taxation authority's right to examine or re-examine a tax treatment. The absence of agreement or disagreement by a taxation authority with a tax treatment, in isolation, is unlikely to constitute a change in facts and circumstances or new information that affects the judgments and estimates required by the Interpretation.

Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation - Amendments to IFRS 9 (issued on 12 October 2017 and effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019). The amendments enable measurement at amortised cost of certain loans and debt securities that can be prepaid at an amount below amortised cost, for example at fair value or at an amount that includes a reasonable compensation payable to the borrower equal to present value of an effect of increase in market interest rate over the remaining life of the instrument. In addition, the text added to the standard's basis for conclusion reconfirms existing guidance in IFRS 9 that modifications or exchanges of certain financial liabilities measured at amortised cost that do not result in the derecognition will result in an gain or loss in profit or loss. Reporting entities will thus in most cases not be able to revise effective interest rate for the remaining life of the loan in order to avoid an impact on profit or loss upon a loan modification.

Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures - Amendments to IAS 28 (issued on 12 October 2017 and effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019). The amendments clarify that reporting entities should apply IFRS 9 to long-term loans, preference shares and similar instruments that form part of a net investment in an equity method investee before they can reduce such carrying value by a share of loss of the investee that exceeds the amount of investor's interest in ordinary shares.



6 New Accounting Pronouncements (continued)

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2015-2017 cycle - amendments to IFRS 3, IFRS 11, IAS 12 and IAS 23 (issued on 12 December 2017 and effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019). The narrow scope amendments impact four standards. IFRS 3 was clarified that an acquirer should remeasure its previously held interest in a joint operation when it obtains control of the business. Conversely, IFRS 11 now explicitly explains that the investor should not remeasure its previously held interest when it obtains joint control of a joint operation, similarly to the existing requirements when an associate becomes a joint venture and vice versa. The amended IAS 12 explains that an entity recognises all income tax consequences of dividends where it has recognised the transactions or events that generated the related distributable profits, e.g. in profit or loss or in other comprehensive income. It is now clear that this requirement applies in all circumstances as long as payments on financial instruments classified as equity are distributions of profits, and not only in cases when the tax consequences are a result of different tax rates for distributed and undistributed profits. The revised IAS 23 now includes explicit guidance that the borrowings obtained specifically for funding a specified asset are excluded from the pool of general borrowings costs eligible for capitalisation only until the specific asset is substantially complete.

The Group is considering the implications of the above standards and amendments, the impact on the Group and the timing of their adoption by the Group. The impact of transition to IFRS 9 on the consolidated financial statements of the Group is disclosed above.

7 Cash and Cash Equivalents

in billions of Russian Roubles	31 December 2017	31 December 2016
Cash on hand	646.8	626.5
Cash balances with the Bank of Russia (other than mandatory reserve deposits)	920.4	815.7
Correspondent accounts and placements with other banks:		
- Russian Federation	19.4	76.8
- Other countries	722.4	700.9
Reverse repo agreements	20.4	340.9
Total cash and cash equivalents	2,329.4	2,560.8

As at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016 correspondent accounts and placements with banks and reverse repo agreements are represented by balances with original maturities up to 1 business day mainly with the top and well-known foreign and Russian banks, financial companies and corporate customers.

Analysis by credit quality of the correspondent accounts and placements with other banks and reverse repo agreements with original maturities up to 1 business day at 31 December 2017 is as follows:

in billions of Russian Roubles	Investment rating	Speculative rating	Not rated	Total
Correspondent accounts and placements with other banks:				
- Russian Federation	7.3	7.0	5.1	19.4
- Other countries	554.9	160.1	7.4	722.4
Reverse repo agreements	0.5	6.2	13.7	20.4
Total correspondent accounts and placements with banks and reverse repo agreements	562.7	173.3	26.2	762.2



7 Cash and Cash Equivalents (continued)

Analysis by credit quality of the correspondent accounts and placements with other banks and reverse repo agreements with original maturities up to 1 business day at 31 December 2016 is as follows:

in billions of Russian Roubles	Investment rating	Speculative rating	Not rated	Total
Correspondent accounts and placements with other banks:				
- Russian Federation	7.4	62.3	7.1	76.8
- Other countries	529.5	26.0	145.4	700.9
Reverse repo agreements	261.6	25.9	53.4	340.9
Total correspondent accounts and placements with banks and reverse repo agreements	798.5	114.2	205.9	1,118.6

Credit quality in the tables above is based on the rating scale developed by the international rating agencies.

Refer to Note 38 for the information on the fair value of securities received under reverse sale and repurchase agreements classified as cash and cash equivalents.

As at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016 all cash and cash equivalents are neither past due nor impaired.

The estimated fair value of cash and cash equivalents is disclosed in Note 37. Currency and maturity analyses of cash and cash equivalents are disclosed in Note 34. The information on related parties balances is disclosed in Note 40.

8 Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit or Loss

	31 December	31 December
in billions of Russian Roubles	2017	2016
Trading securities	84.2	63.1
Securities designated as at fair value through profit or loss	429.0	335.8
Derivative financial instruments	140.9	206.6
Total financial assets at fair value through profit or loss	654.1	605.5

The composition of trading securities as at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016 is presented below:

in billions of Russian Roubles	31 December 2017	31 December 2016
,	35.0	27.7
Corporate bonds		=
Russian federal loan bonds (OFZ bonds) Russian Federation Eurobonds	14.5	17.0
	9.7	9.2
Foreign government and municipal bonds	1.3	3.2
Russian municipal and subfederal bonds	0.1	0.3
Total debt trading securities	60.6	57.4
Corporate shares	23.5	5.4
Investments in mutual funds	0.1	0.3
Total trading securities	84.2	63.1



8 Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit or Loss (continued)

Analysis by credit quality of debt trading securities outstanding as at 31 December 2017 is as follows:

In billions of Russian Roubles	Investment rating	Speculative rating	Not rated	Total
Corporate bonds	5.3	28.8	0.9	35.0
Russian federal loan bonds (OFZ bonds)	14.5	_	_	14.5
Russian Federation Eurobonds	_	9.7	_	9.7
Foreign government and municipal				
bonds	1.1	0.2	_	1.3
Russian municipal and subfederal bonds	_	0.1	_	0.1
Total debt trading securities	20.9	38.8	0.9	60.6

Analysis by credit quality of debt trading securities outstanding as at 31 December 2016 is as follows:

In billions of Russian Roubles	Investment rating	Speculative rating	Not rated	Total
Corporate bonds	3.5	24.2	_	27.7
Russian federal loan bonds (OFZ bonds)	17.0	_	_	17.0
Russian Federation Eurobonds	_	9.2	_	9.2
Foreign government and municipal				
bonds	2.2	1.0	_	3.2
Russian municipal and subfederal bonds	_	0.3	_	0.3
Total debt trading securities	22.7	34.7	_	57.4

Credit quality in the tables above is based on the rating scale developed by the international rating agencies.

The composition of securities designated as at fair value through profit or loss as at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016 is presented below:

	31 December	31 December
in billions of Russian Roubles	2017	2016
Corporate bonds	220.6	237.5
Russian federal loan bonds (OFZ bonds)	164.0	55.8
Foreign government and municipal bonds	2.5	2.4
Russian municipal and subfederal bonds	1.4	7.3
Russian Federation Eurobonds	0.5	0.5
Total debt securities designated as at fair value through profit or loss	389.0	303.5
Corporate shares	28.8	20.4
Investments in mutual funds	11.2	11.9
Total securities designated as at fair value through profit or loss	429.0	335.8

Analysis by credit quality of debt securities designated as at fair value through profit or loss outstanding as at 31 December 2017 is as follows:

In billions of Russian Roubles	Investment rating	Speculative rating	Not rated	Total
Corporate bonds	129.5	90.2	0.9	220.6
Russian federal loan bonds (OFZ bonds)	164.0	_	_	164.0
Foreign government and municipal				
bonds	2.5	_	_	2.5
Russian municipal and subfederal bonds	0.5	0.9	_	1.4
Russian Federation Eurobonds	_	0.5	_	0.5
Total debt securities designated as at fair value through profit or loss	296.5	91.6	0.9	389.0



8 Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit or Loss (continued)

Analysis by credit quality of debt securities designated as at fair value through profit or loss outstanding as at 31 December 2016 is as follows:

In billions of Russian Roubles	Investment rating	Speculative rating	Not rated	Total
Corporate bonds	63.7	173.8	_	237.5
Russian federal loan bonds (OFZ bonds)	55.8	_	_	55.8
Russian municipal and subfederal bonds	1.2	6.1	_	7.3
Foreign government and municipal bonds	_	2.4	_	2.4
Russian Federation Eurobonds	_	0.5	_	0.5
Total debt securities designated as at fair value through profit or loss	120.7	182.8	_	303.5

Credit quality in the tables above is based on the rating scale developed by the international rating agencies.

At 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016 there are no restructured balances that would otherwise be past due. Trading debt securities and debt securities designated as at fair value through profit or loss are not collateralized. All trading debt securities and debt securities designated as at fair value through profit or loss are not past due.

The information on trading securities and securities designated as at fair value through profit or loss issued by state-controlled entities is disclosed in Note 41.

The composition of derivative financial instruments as at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016 is presented below:

	31 December	31 December
in billions of Russian Roubles	2017	2016
Foreign currency interest rate derivatives	39.8	107.3
Foreign currency derivatives	30.1	51.2
Commodity derivatives including precious metals derivatives	25.4	10.8
Interest rate derivatives	25.4	26.8
Equity securities derivatives	10.1	5.5
Debt securities derivatives	9.8	4.0
Credit risk derivatives	0.2	1.0
Other derivatives	0.1	_
Total derivative financial instruments	140.9	206.6

For the detailed analysis of the derivative instruments of the Group refer to Note 36.

Currency and maturity analyses of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are disclosed in Note 34. The information on related parties balances is disclosed in Note 40.



9 Due from Banks

	31 December	31 December	
in billions of Russian Roubles	2017	2016	
Term placements with banks			
- Russian Federation	104.2	308.9	
- Other countries	111.0	203.1	
Reverse repo agreements with banks	1,105.0	456.0	
Total due from banks before provision for impairment	1,320.2	968.0	
Less provision for impairment	(2.4)	(2.6)	
Total due from banks after provision for impairment	1,317.8	965.4	

As at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016 term placements with banks and reverse repo agreements are represented by balances with original maturities over 1 business day mainly with the top and well-known foreign and Russian banks.

The changes in provision for impairment of due from banks for the year ended 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016 are presented in the table below:

in billions of Russian Roubles	2017	2016
Provision for impairment of due from banks as at 1 January	2.6	_
Net (recovery of provision) / provision charge for impairment during the year	(0.2)	2.6
Provision for impairment of due from banks as at 31 December	2.4	2.6

Analysis by credit quality of the term placements with banks and reverse repo agreements with original maturities over 1 business day at 31 December 2017 is as follows:

in billions of Russian Roubles	Investment rating	Speculative rating	Not rated	Total
Term placements with banks:				
- Russian Federation	39.2	62.9	2.1	104.2
- Other countries	33.8	37.7	39.5	111.0
Reverse repo agreements with banks	1,057.3	47.7	_	1,105.0
Total due from banks before provision				
for impairment	1,130.3	148.3	41.6	1,320.2

Analysis by credit quality of the term placements with banks and reverse repo agreements with original maturities over 1 business day at 31 December 2016 is as follows:

in billions of Russian Roubles	Investment rating	Speculative rating	Not rated	Total
Term placements with banks:				
- Russian Federation	15.7	289.4	3.8	308.9
- Other countries	115.9	44.6	42.6	203.1
Reverse repo agreements with banks	363.3	88.5	4.2	456.0
Total due from banks before provision				
for impairment	494.9	422.5	50.6	968.0

Credit quality in the tables above is based on the rating scale developed by the international rating agencies.

As at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016 all term placements with banks and reverse repo agreements are neither past due nor impaired.



9 Due from Banks (continued)

Refer to Note 38 for the information on amounts due from banks which are collateralized by securities received under reverse sale and repurchase agreements.

The estimated fair value of due from banks and reverse repo agreements and fair value measurement technique used are disclosed in Note 37. Currency and maturity analyses of due from banks are disclosed in Note 34. The information on related parties balances as well as state-controlled entities and government bodies balances is disclosed in Notes 40 and 41.

10 Loans and Advances to Customers

<u>_</u>		31	31 December 2017	
in billions of Russian Roubles	Not past due loans	Past due loans	Total	
Commercial loans to legal entities	9,913.3	554.8	10,468.1	
Specialized loans to legal entities	3,533.5	173.0	3,706.5	
Mortgage loans to individuals	3,087.0	103.6	3,190.6	
Consumer and other loans to individuals	1,572.0	153.9	1,725.9	
Credit cards and overdrafts to individuals	592.1	86.8	678.9	
Car loans to individuals	109.2	12.0	121.2	
Total loans and advances to customers before provision for loan impairment	18,807.1	1,084.1	19,891.2	
Less: Provision for loan impairment	(702.1)	(701.0)	(1,403.1)	
Total loans and advances to customers net of provision for loan impairment	18,105.0	383.1	18,488.1	

		31 (31 December 2016		
in billions of Russian Roubles	Not past due loans	Past due loans	Total		
Commercial loans to legal entities	9,346.0	570.0	9,916.0		
Specialized loans to legal entities	3,491.7	225.3	3,717.0		
Mortgage loans to individuals	2,629.7	121.2	2,750.9		
Consumer and other loans to individuals	1,420.5	153.6	1,574.1		
Credit cards and overdrafts to individuals	500.3	86.6	586.9		
Car loans to individuals	103.3	16.5	119.8		
Total loans and advances to customers before provision for loan impairment	17,491.5	1,173.2	18,664.7		
Less: Provision for loan impairment	(586.5)	(716.9)	(1,303.4)		
Total loans and advances to customers net of provision for					
loan impairment	16,905.0	456.3	17,361.3		



10 Loans and Advances to Customers (continued)

For the purposes of these consolidated financial statements a loan is considered past due when the borrower fails to make any payment due under the loan agreement at the reporting date. In this case the aggregate amount of all amounts due from borrower under the respective loan agreement including accrued interest and commissions is recognized as past due.

Commercial loans to legal entities comprise corporate loans, loans to individual entrepreneurs, federal bodies and municipal authorities. Loans are granted for current needs (working capital financing, acquisition of movable and immovable property), portfolio investments, expansion and consolidation of business, etc. Majority of commercial loans are provided for periods up to 5 years depending on the borrowers' risk assessment. Commercial lending also includes overdraft lending and lending for export-import transactions. The repayment source is cash flow from current production and financial activities of the borrower.

Specialized loans to legal entities include investment and construction project financing and also developers' financing. As a rule, loan terms are linked to payback periods of investment and construction projects, contract execution periods and exceed the terms of commercial loans to legal entities. The principal and interest may be repaid from cash flows generated by the investment project at the stage of its commercial operation.

Mortgage loans to individuals include loans for acquisition, construction and reconstruction of real estate. These loans are mostly long-term and are collateralized by real estate.

Consumer and other individual loans comprise loans to individuals other than housing acquisition, construction and repair of real estate as well as car loans and credit cards and overdrafts. These loans include loans for current needs.

Credit cards and overdrafts to individuals represent revolving credit lines. These loans are considered a comfortable instrument for customers as a reserve source of funds in case of need available everywhere and anytime. Interest rates for such loans are higher than for consumer loans as they carry higher risks for the Group.

Car loans to individuals include loans for purchasing a car or other vehicle. Car loans are provided for up to 5 years periods.



10 Loans and Advances to Customers (continued)

The table below shows the analysis of loans and provisions for loan impairment as at 31 December 2017:

		Provision for		Provision for impairment to
in billions of Russian Roubles	Gross loans	impairment	Net loans	gross loans
Commercial loans to legal entities				
Collectively assessed				
Loans not past due	9,520.4	(228.3)	9,292.1	2.4%
Loans up to 30 days overdue	45.7	(6.4)	39.3	14.0%
Loans 31 to 60 days overdue	23.0	(5.3)	17.7	23.0%
Loans 61 to 90 days overdue	12.6	(3.4)	9.2	27.0%
Loans 91 to 180 days overdue	15.5	(10.1)	5.4	65.2%
Loans over 180 days overdue	183.6	(152.3)	31.3	83.0%
Total collectively assessed loans	9,800.8	(405.8)	9,395.0	4.1%
Individually impaired				
Loans not past due	392.9	(209.6)	183.3	53.3%
Loans up to 30 days overdue	8.7	(7.4)	1.3	85.1%
Loans 31 to 60 days overdue	3.0	(1.7)	1.3	56.7%
Loans 61 to 90 days overdue	14.1	(8.3)	5.8	58.9%
Loans 91 to 180 days overdue	11.6	(10.1)	1.5	87.1%
Loans over 180 days overdue	237.0	(210.4)	26.6	88.8%
Total individually impaired loans	667.3	(447.5)	219.8	67.1%
Total commercial loans to legal entities	10,468.1	(853.3)	9,614.8	8.2%
Specialized loans to legal entities				
Collectively assessed				
Loans not past due	3,300.0	(133.1)	3,166.9	4.0%
Loans up to 30 days overdue	9.0	(3.2)	5.8	35.6%
Loans 31 to 60 days overdue	3.8	(0.7)	3.1	18.4%
Loans 61 to 90 days overdue	1.0	(0.6)	0.4	60.0%
Loans 91 to 180 days overdue	1.4	(1.0)	0.4	71.4%
Loans over 180 days overdue	80.0	(35.6)	44.4	44.5%
Total collectively assessed loans	3,395.2	(174.2)	3,221.0	5.1%
Individually impaired				
Loans not past due	233.5	(88.8)	144.7	38.0%
Loans up to 30 days overdue	3.1	(1.0)	2.1	32.3%
Loans 31 to 60 days overdue	0.1	_	0.1	_
Loans 61 to 90 days overdue	3.1	(1.8)	1.3	58.1%
Loans 91 to 180 days overdue	0.1	_	0.1	_
Loans over 180 days overdue	71.4	(50.3)	21.1	70.4%
Total individually impaired loans	311.3	(141.9)	169.4	45.6%
Total specialized loans to legal entities	3,706.5	(316.1)	3,390.4	8.5%
Total loans to legal entities	14,174.6	(1,169.4)	13,005.2	8.2%



10 Loans and Advances to Customers (continued)

				Provision for
		Provision for		impairment to
in billions of Russian Roubles	Gross loans	impairment	Net loans	gross loans
Mortgage loans to individuals				
Collectively assessed				
Loans not past due	3,087.0	(15.9)	3,071.1	0.5%
Loans up to 30 days overdue	33.7	(3.7)	30.0	11.0%
Loans 31 to 60 days overdue	8.0	(1.8)	6.2	22.5%
Loans 61 to 90 days overdue	3.8	(0.9)	2.9	23.7%
Loans 91 to 180 days overdue	6.3	(2.2)	4.1	34.9%
Loans over 180 days overdue	51.8	(35.2)	16.6	68.0%
Total mortgage loans to individuals	3,190.6	(59.7)	3,130.9	1.9%
Consumer and other loans to individuals				
Collectively assessed				
Loans not past due	1,572.0	(20.6)	1,551.4	1.3%
Loans up to 30 days overdue	26.8	(3.1)	23.7	11.6%
Loans 31 to 60 days overdue	8.7	(2.1)	6.6	24.1%
Loans 61 to 90 days overdue	5.7	(1.7)	4.0	29.8%
Loans 91 to 180 days overdue	12.6	(6.1)	6.5	48.4%
Loans over 180 days overdue	100.1	(75.3)	24.8	75.2%
Total consumer and other loans to				
individuals	1,725.9	(108.9)	1,617.0	6.3%
Credit cards and overdrafts to individuals				
Collectively assessed				
Loans not past due	592.1	(5.7)	586.4	1.0%
Loans up to 30 days overdue	24.0	(1.7)	22.3	7.1%
Loans 31 to 60 days overdue	4.8	(1.5)	3.3	31.3%
Loans 61 to 90 days overdue	2.8	(1.4)	1.4	50.0%
Loans 91 to 180 days overdue	5.9	(4.3)	1.6	72.9%
Loans over 180 days overdue	49.3	(42.5)	6.8	86.2%
Total credit cards and overdrafts to				
individuals	678.9	(57.1)	621.8	8.4%
Car loans to individuals				
Collectively assessed				
Loans not past due	109.2	(0.1)	109.1	0.1%
Loans up to 30 days overdue	1.4	(0.1)	1.3	7.1%
Loans 31 to 60 days overdue	0.5	(0.1)	0.4	20.0%
Loans 61 to 90 days overdue	0.3	(0.1)	0.2	33.3%
Loans 91 to 180 days overdue	0.5	(0.3)	0.2	60.0%
Loans over 180 days overdue	9.3	(7.3)	2.0	78.5%
Total car loans to individuals	121.2	(8.0)	113.2	6.6%
Total loans to individuals	5,716.6	(233.7)	5,482.9	4.1%
Total loans and advances to customers as				
at 31 December 2017	19,891.2	(1,403.1)	18,488.1	7.1%



10 Loans and Advances to Customers (continued)

The table below shows the analysis of loans and provisions for loan impairment as at 31 December 2016:

		Provision for		Provision for impairment to
in billions of Russian Roubles	Gross loans	impairment	Net loans	gross loans
Commercial loans to legal entities				_
Collectively assessed				
Loans not past due	8,717.3	(169.5)	8,547.8	1.9%
Loans up to 30 days overdue	61.3	(9.7)	51.6	15.8%
Loans 31 to 60 days overdue	23.2	(7.5)	15.7	32.3%
Loans 61 to 90 days overdue	21.2	(4.9)	16.3	23.1%
Loans 91 to 180 days overdue	21.0	(9.8)	11.2	46.7%
Loans over 180 days overdue	211.8	(170.0)	41.8	80.3%
Total collectively assessed loans	9,055.8	(371.4)	8,684.4	4.1%
Individually impaired				
Loans not past due	628.7	(180.2)	448.5	28.7%
Loans up to 30 days overdue	24.1	(15.6)	8.5	64.7%
Loans 31 to 60 days overdue	12.7	(4.9)	7.8	38.6%
Loans 61 to 90 days overdue	2.5	(1.9)	0.6	76.0%
Loans 91 to 180 days overdue	13.5	(12.0)	1.5	88.9%
Loans over 180 days overdue	178.7	(162.9)	15.8	91.2%
Total individually impaired loans	860.2	(377.5)	482.7	43.9%
Total commercial loans to legal entities	9,916.0	(748.9)	9,167.1	7.6%
Specialized loans to legal entities				
Collectively assessed				
Loans not past due	3,244.3	(125.0)	3,119.3	3.9%
Loans up to 30 days overdue	16.1	(5.1)	11.0	31.7%
Loans 31 to 60 days overdue	5.2	(1.7)	3.5	32.7%
Loans 61 to 90 days overdue	20.7	(3.7)	17.0	17.9%
Loans 91 to 180 days overdue	5.7	(3.4)	2.3	59.6%
Loans over 180 days overdue	91.8	(36.0)	55.8	39.2%
Total collectively assessed loans	3,383.8	(174.9)	3,208.9	5.2%
Individually impaired				
Loans not past due	247.4	(76.9)	170.5	31.1%
Loans up to 30 days overdue	16.0	(4.0)	12.0	25.0%
Loans 31 to 60 days overdue	0.6	(0.1)	0.5	16.7%
Loans 61 to 90 days overdue	0.6	(0.3)	0.3	50.0%
Loans 91 to 180 days overdue	5.7	(5.5)	0.2	96.5%
Loans over 180 days overdue	62.9	(48.7)	14.2	77.4%
Total individually impaired loans	333.2	(135.5)	197.7	40.7%
Total specialized loans to legal entities	3,717.0	(310.4)	3,406.6	8.4%
Total loans to legal entities	13,633.0	(1,059.3)	12,573.7	7.8%



10 Loans and Advances to Customers (continued)

		Donatatan fan		Provision for
in billions of Russian Roubles	Gross loans	Provision for impairment	Net loans	impairment to gross loans
Mortgage loans to individuals				
Collectively assessed				
Loans not past due	2,629.7	(5.6)	2,624.1	0.2%
Loans up to 30 days overdue	42.3	(1.5)	40.8	3.5%
Loans 31 to 60 days overdue	12.8	(1.9)	10.9	14.8%
Loans 61 to 90 days overdue	5.2	(0.8)	4.4	15.4%
Loans 91 to 180 days overdue	7.2	(2.0)	5.2	27.8%
Loans over 180 days overdue	53.7	(34.8)	18.9	64.8%
Total mortgage loans to individuals	2,750.9	(46.6)	2,704.3	1.7%
Consumer and other loans to individuals				
Collectively assessed				
Loans not past due	1,420.5	(24.4)	1,396.1	1.7%
Loans up to 30 days overdue	30.2	(4.9)	25.3	16.2%
Loans 31 to 60 days overdue	10.2	(4.1)	6.1	40.2%
Loans 61 to 90 days overdue	6.1	(2.8)	3.3	45.9%
Loans 91 to 180 days overdue	11.8	(8.4)	3.4	71.2%
Loans over 180 days overdue	95.3	(85.7)	9.6	89.9%
Total consumer and other loans to				
individuals	1,574.1	(130.3)	1,443.8	8.3%
Credit cards and overdrafts to individuals				
Collectively assessed		()		
Loans not past due	500.3	(4.7)	495.6	0.9%
Loans up to 30 days overdue	22.2	(1.5)	20.7	6.8%
Loans 31 to 60 days overdue	4.7	(1.6)	3.1	34.0%
Loans 61 to 90 days overdue	2.9	(1.4)	1.5	48.3%
Loans 91 to 180 days overdue	6.0	(4.3)	1.7	71.7%
Loans over 180 days overdue	50.8	(43.0)	7.8	84.6%
Total credit cards and overdrafts to	F0C 0	(FC F)	F20.4	0.5%
individuals	586.9	(56.5)	530.4	9.6%
Car loans to individuals				
Collectively assessed		41		
Loans not past due	103.3	(0.2)	103.1	0.2%
Loans up to 30 days overdue	2.4	(0.1)	2.3	4.2%
Loans 31 to 60 days overdue	1.0	(0.2)	0.8	20.0%
Loans 61 to 90 days overdue	0.6	(0.2)	0.4	33.3%
Loans 91 to 180 days overdue	1.2	(0.8)	0.4	66.7%
Loans over 180 days overdue	11.3	(9.2)	2.1	81.4%
Total car loans to individuals	119.8	(10.7)	109.1	8.9%
Total loans to individuals	5,031.7	(244.1)	4,787.6	4.9%
Total loans and advances to customers as				
at 31 December 2016	18,664.7	(1,303.4)	17,361.3	7.0%



10 Loans and Advances to Customers (continued)

The table below shows the credit quality analysis of the Group's not past due collectively assessed loans before provision for loan impairment as at 31 December 2017:

in billions of Russian Roubles	Group 1	Group 2	Group 3	Total
Commercial loans to legal entities	663.0	3,884.3	4,973.1	9,520.4
Specialized loans to legal entities	122.8	1,297.2	1,880.0	3,300.0
Mortgage loans to individuals	75.1	3,000.4	11.5	3,087.0
Consumer and other loans to individuals	83.3	1,422.8	65.9	1,572.0
Credit cards and overdrafts to individuals	32.2	525.1	34.8	592.1
Car loans to individuals	103.0	5.4	0.8	109.2
Total not past due collectively assessed loans before provision for loan impairment as at 31 December 2017	1.079.4	10 125 2	6 966 1	18 180 7
impairment as at 31 December 2017	1,079.4	10,135.2	6,966.1	18,180.7

The table below shows the credit quality analysis of the Group's not past due collectively assessed loans before provision for loan impairment as at 31 December 2016:

in billions of Russian Roubles	Group 1	Group 2	Group 3	Total
Commercial loans to legal entities	1,081.8	3,774.2	3,861.3	8,717.3
Specialized loans to legal entities	201.5	1,266.7	1,776.1	3,244.3
Mortgage loans to individuals	80.4	2,533.8	15.5	2,629.7
Consumer and other loans to individuals	86.4	1,286.6	47.5	1,420.5
Credit cards and overdrafts to individuals	25.7	441.9	32.7	500.3
Car loans to individuals	86.8	14.9	1.6	103.3
Total not past due collectively assessed loans before provision for loan impairment as at 31 December 2016	1,562.6	9,318.1	5,734.7	16,615.4

For the purpose of these consolidated financial statements, all not past due collectively assessed loans to legal entities are classified in three quality groups presented in the tables above with Group 1 loans being of the highest quality. The Group 1 includes borrowers with high level of liquidity and profitability as well as high capital adequacy ratio. The probability of breach of loan agreement terms is assessed as low. The Group 2 includes borrowers with average level of liquidity and profitability as well as average capital adequacy ratio. The probability of breach of loan agreement terms is assessed as moderate. The Group 3 includes borrowers with satisfactory level of liquidity and profitability as well as moderate capital adequacy ratio. The probability of breach of loan agreement terms is assessed as higher than moderate.

For the purpose of these consolidated financial statements, all not past due loans to individuals are combined into three groups presented in the tables above. The Group 1 of these loans to individuals is represented by loans with good debt servicing and excellent financial position of a borrower. The Group 2 is represented by loans with good/average debt servicing and excellent/moderate financial position of a borrower. The Group 3 is represented by loans with average debt servicing and moderate financial position of a borrower.

As defined by the Group for the purposes of internal credit risk assessment, loans fall into the "non-performing" category when a principal and/or interest payment becomes more than 90 days overdue.

10 Loans and Advances to Customers (continued)

As at 31 December 2017 the outstanding non-performing loans were as follows:

in billions of Russian Roubles	Gross loans	Provision for impairment	Net loans	Provision for impairment to gross loans
Commercial loans to legal entities	447.7	(382.9)	64.8	85.5%
Specialized loans to legal entities	152.9	(86.9)	66.0	56.8%
Mortgage loans to individuals	58.1	(37.4)	20.7	64.4%
Consumer and other loans to individuals	112.7	(81.4)	31.3	72.2%
Credit cards and overdrafts to individuals	55.2	(46.8)	8.4	84.8%
Car loans to individuals	9.8	(7.6)	2.2	77.6%
Total non-performing loans and advances to customers as at 31 December 2017	836.4	(643.0)	193.4	76.9%

As at 31 December 2016 the outstanding non-performing loans were as follows:

in billions of Russian Roubles	Gross loans	Provision for impairment	Net loans	Provision for impairment to gross loans
Commercial loans to legal entities	425.0	(354.7)	70.3	83.5%
Specialized loans to legal entities	166.1	(93.6)	72.5	56.4%
Mortgage loans to individuals	60.9	(36.8)	24.1	60.4%
Consumer and other loans to individuals	107.1	(94.1)	13.0	87.9%
Credit cards and overdrafts to individuals	56.8	(47.3)	9.5	83.3%
Car loans to individuals	12.5	(10.0)	2.5	80.0%
Total non-performing loans and advances to customers as at 31 December 2016	828.4	(636.5)	191.9	76.8%

Provisions for loan impairment. The analysis of changes in provision for loan impairment for the year ended 31 December 2017 is presented in the table below:

in billions of Russian Roubles	Commercial loans to legal entities	Specialized loans to legal entities	Mortgage loans to individuals	Consumer and other loans to individuals	Credit cards and overdrafts to individuals	Car loans to individuals	Total
Provision for loan impairment as at 31 December 2016	748.9	310.4	46.6	130.3	56.5	10.7	1,303.4
Net provision charge / (recovery of provision) for loan impairment							
during the year Recovery of loans previously	213.7	34.0	15.0	11.7	15.0	(2.2)	287.2
written off Loans and advances to customers written off	1.6	0.1	0.3	3.2	0.8	_	6.0
during the year Disposal of subsidiaries and transfers to	(98.4)	(28.1)	(1.9)	(34.3)	(14.3)	(0.4)	(177.4)
assets held for sale Exchange differences on	(0.6)	(0.4)	(0.6)	(0.8)	_	_	(2.4)
translating foreign operations	(11.9)	0.1	0.3	(1.2)	(0.9)	(0.1)	(13.7)
Provision for loan impairment as at							
31 December 2017	853.3	316.1	59.7	108.9	57.1	8.0	1,403.1



10 Loans and Advances to Customers (continued)

The analysis of changes in provision for loan impairment for the year ended 31 December 2016 is presented in the table below:

in billions of Russian Roubles	Commercial loans to legal entities	Specialized loans to legal entities	Mortgage loans to individuals	Consumer and other loans to individuals	Credit cards and overdrafts to individuals	Car loans to individuals	Total
Provision for loan impairment as at 31 December 2015	696.2	236.9	57.3	135.3	58.6	12.2	1,196.5
Net provision charge / (recovery of provision) for loan impairment during the year	181.9	95.7	(6.7)	58.0	14.1	(0.6)	342.4
Recovery of loans previously written off Loans and advances to	1.3	1.0	0.4	1.9	0.9	_	5.5
customers written off during the year Disposal of subsidiaries and transfers to	(85.9)	(16.2)	(1.0)	(57.9)	(13.5)	(0.6)	(175.1)
assets held for sale Exchange differences on translating foreign	(0.3)	(0.4)	(0.1)	(0.2)	_	_	(1.0)
operations Provision for loan	(44.3)	(6.6)	(3.3)	(6.8)	(3.6)	(0.3)	(64.9)
impairment as at 31 December 2016	748.9	310.4	46.6	130.3	56.5	10.7	1,303.4

Restructured loans. Renegotiated loan portfolio of the Group consists of "modified" and "restructured" loans. A loan is considered renegotiated if terms of the original loan contract have been changed.

Modified loans represent loans with changes to the initial loan terms caused by changes in market conditions, changes in a product, client requests or reclassified out of the restructured loan portfolio provided reclassifications terms are met, i.e. where loan renegotiation is not considered as distressed.

Restructured loans represent loans which were distressed at the moment of the renegotiation. A loan is initially classified as a restructured loan if:

- The renegotiation is in favor of a borrower due to its inability to fulfill obligations and the borrower is assigned high / medium credit risk. Renegotiation is considered to be in favor of the borrower if, for example, frequency of loan repayments is reduced, interest rate is reduced, loan tenor or limit are extended, amount of total loan payments is reduced, loan payments are rescheduled for later dates, etc., or
- Refinancing of a loan is due to inability of the borrower to fulfill its obligations and the borrower is assigned high / medium credit risk.

Features of a high / medium credit risk borrower which are examined by the Group may include but are not limited to the following: the borrower's obligations are overdue for a period of more than 30 calendar days, non-compliance with a loan collateralization requirements by 30%, initiation of bankruptcy proceeding in respect of the borrower, change / replacement of the key management and/or owners, etc.



10 Loans and Advances to Customers (continued)

Information on restructured corporate loans and restructured and renegotiated loans to individuals as at 31 December 2017 is presented in the table below.

in billions of Russian Roubles	Commercial loans to legal entities	Specialized loans to legal entities	Mortgage loans to individuals	Consumer and other loans to individuals	Credit cards and overdrafts to individuals	Car loans to individuals	Total
Loans not past due	407.9	174.3	163.7	48.4	_	1.5	795.8
Loans up to 30 days overdue	13.7	6.1	8.6	2.3	_	0.5	31.2
Loans 31 to 60 days overdue Loans 61 to 90 days	5.8	0.6	2.5	1.3	_	0.2	10.4
overdue Loans 91 to 180 days	10.5	1.7	1.2	1.0	_	0.1	14.5
overdue Loans over 180 days	6.8	0.9	2.4	3.0	_	0.2	13.3
overdue	199.2	63.8	18.6	32.4	0.2	2.6	316.8
Total restructured loans before provision for loan impairment	643.9	247.4	197.0	88.4	0.2	5.1	1,182.0
Less provision for loan impairment	(386.7)	(146.0)	(17.6)	(27.5)	(0.2)	(2.3)	(580.3)
Total restructured loans after provision for loan impairment							
as at 31 December 2017	257.2	101.4	179.4	60.9		2.8	601.7

Information on restructured corporate loans and restructured and renegotiated loans to individuals as at 31 December 2016 is presented in the table below.

in billions of Russian Roubles	Commercial loans to legal entities	Specialized loans to legal entities	Mortgage loans to individuals	Consumer and other loans to individuals	Credit cards and overdrafts to individuals	Car loans to individuals	Total
Loans not past due	488.8	170.8	108.3	37.4	_	3.6	808.9
Loans up to 30 days overdue	37.2	15.2	10.2	4.1	_	1.2	67.9
Loans 31 to 60 days overdue Loans 61 to 90 days	15.6	1.0	4.2	2.9	_	0.5	24.2
overdue Loans 91 to 180 days	7.3	5.6	1.8	2.0	_	0.3	17.0
overdue	12.4	9.1	3.0	3.9	_	0.6	29.0
Loans over 180 days overdue	163.7	54.7	18.4	20.7	0.2	4.4	262.1
Total restructured loans before provision for loan impairment	725.0	256.4	145.9	71.0	0.2	10.6	1,209.1
Less provision for loan impairment	(326.5)	(134.0)	(15.9)	(25.3)	(0.2)	(4.2)	(506.1)
Total restructured loans after provision for loan impairment							
as at 31 December 2016	398.5	122.4	130.0	45.7	_	6.4	703.0



10 Loans and Advances to Customers (continued)

A loan may be reclassified out of the restructured loans category (and classified as modified) when all of the following criteria are met:

- the borrower has repaid not less than 5% of the loan principal balance (except for the borrowers in the investment stage of construction projects where execution of any six contractual payments is monitored);
- the borrower performed all of its contractual obligations for at least six months after the renegotiation;
 and
- no other signs of impairment are identified during the period of at least six months after the renegotiation.

Investments in finance leases. Included in specialized loans to legal entities are net investments in finance leases.

The contractual maturity analysis of net investments in finance leases as at 31 December 2017 is as follows:

in billions of Russian Roubles	Gross investment in finance leases	Unearned future finance income on finance leases	Net investment in finance leases before provision for impairment	Provision for impairment	Net investment in finance leases after provision for impairment
Within 1 year	64.8	(7.4)	57.4	(2.5)	54.9
From 1 to 5 years	144.9	(40.4)	104.5	(3.3)	101.2
More than 5 years	105.1	(40.8)	64.3	(1.0)	63.3
Overdue	9.8	_	9.8	(4.5)	5.3
Total net investments in finance leases as at 31 December 2017	324.6	(88.6)	236.0	(11.3)	224.7

The contractual maturity analysis of net investments in finance leases as at 31 December 2016 is as follows:

in billions of Russian Roubles	Gross investment in finance leases	Unearned future finance income on finance leases	Net investment in finance leases before provision for impairment	Provision for impairment	Net investment in finance leases after provision for impairment
Within 1 year	53.0	(5.3)	47.7	(1.5)	46.2
From 1 to 5 years	141.8	(38.4)	103.4	(2.9)	100.5
More than 5 years	92.2	(38.9)	53.3	(1.2)	52.1
Overdue	13.1	_	13.1	(5.6)	7.5
Total net investments in finance leases as at 31 December 2016	300.1	(82.6)	217.5	(11.2)	206.3



10 Loans and Advances to Customers (continued)

Economic sector risk concentration. Economic sector risk concentrations within Loans and advances to customers of the Group are as follows:

	31 De	ecember 2017	31 December 2016		
in billions of Russian Roubles	Amount	%	Amount	%	
Individuals	5,716.6	28.7	5,031.7	27.0	
Oil and gas	1,754.4	8.8	1,446.9	7.8	
Trade	1,530.8	7.7	1,308.8	7.0	
Real estate	1,457.3	7.3	1,512.0	8.1	
Metallurgy	1,324.7	6.7	1,541.1	8.3	
Food and agriculture	1,097.0	5.5	1,087.4	5.8	
Energy	878.4	4.4	903.1	4.8	
Machinery	865.2	4.3	885.3	4.7	
Construction	828.3	4.2	753.1	4.0	
Services	827.9	4.2	712.3	3.8	
Telecommunications	822.4	4.1	730.1	3.9	
Government and municipal bodies	724.6	3.6	807.1	4.3	
Transport and logistics	636.9	3.2	564.4	3.0	
Chemical industry	592.0	3.0	561.1	3.0	
Timber industry	92.7	0.5	85.2	0.5	
Other	742.0	3.8	735.1	4.0	
Total loans and advances to customers					
before provision for loan impairment	19,891.2	100.0	18,664.7	100.0	

Refer to Note 38 for the information on amounts in loans and advances to customers which are collateralized by securities received under reverse sale and repurchase agreements and loans transferred without derecognition.

As at 31 December 2017 the Group had 20 largest groups of related corporate borrowers with aggregated loan amounts due from each of these groups exceeding RR 98.2 billion (31 December 2016: 20 largest groups of related corporate borrowers with loan amounts due from each of these groups exceeding RR 116.3 billion). The total aggregate amount of these loans was RR 4,660.4 billion or 23.4% of the total gross loan portfolio of the Group (31 December 2016: RR 4,389.0 billion or 23.5%).

Interest income on loans, for which individual impairment has been recognized, for the year ended 31 December 2017, comprised RR 34.9 billion (31 December 2016: RR 55.3 billion).

In interest income on loans and advances to customers in the consolidated statement of profit or loss are included fines and penalties received from borrowers in the amount of RR 15.4 billion (31 December 2016: RR 21.0 billion).

The estimated fair value of loans and advances to customers and fair value measurement technique used are disclosed in Note 37. Currency and maturity analyses of loans and advances to customers are disclosed in Note 34. The information on related parties balances as well as state-controlled entities and government bodies balances is disclosed in Notes 40 and 41.



11 Securities Pledged under Repurchase Agreements

	31 December	31 December
in billions of Russian Roubles	2017	2016
Trading securities pledged under repurchase agreements		
Corporate shares	0.4	_
Corporate bonds	_	0.3
Russian federal loan bonds (OFZ bonds)	_	0.1
Total trading securities pledged under repurchase agreements	0.4	0.4
Investment securities available-for-sale pledged under repurchase agreements		
Russian federal loan bonds (OFZ bonds)	176.8	14.3
Foreign government and municipal bonds	44.2	66.4
Corporate bonds	3.6	_
Russian Federation Eurobonds	0.1	0.2
Total investment securities available-for-sale pledged under repurchase		
agreements	224.7	80.9
Investment securities held-to-maturity pledged under repurchase agreements		
Foreign government and municipal bonds	19.9	30.9
Russian federal loan bonds (OFZ bonds)	13.8	1.7
Russian Federation Eurobonds	0.1	_
Total investment securities held-to-maturity pledged under repurchase		
agreements	33.8	32.6
Total securities pledged under repurchase agreements	258.9	113.9

Refer to Note 38 for more information on securities pledged under repurchase agreements with banks and corporate customers.

Analysis by credit quality of debt securities pledged under repurchase agreements outstanding as at 31 December 2017 is as follows:

In billions of Russian Roubles	Investment rating	Speculative rating	Not rated	Total
Russian federal loan bonds (OFZ bonds) Foreign government and municipal	190.6	_	_	190.6
bonds	57.8	6.3	_	64.1
Corporate bonds	1.2	2.4	_	3.6
Russian Federation Eurobonds	_	0.2	_	0.2
Total debt securities pledged under repurchase agreements	249.6	8.9	_	258.5

Analysis by credit quality of debt securities pledged under repurchase agreements outstanding as at 31 December 2016 is as follows:

	Investment	Speculative	_	_
In billions of Russian Roubles	rating	rating	Not rated	Total
Foreign government and municipal				
bonds	96.8	0.5	_	97.3
Russian federal loan bonds (OFZ bonds)	16.1	_	_	16.1
Corporate bonds	0.3	_	_	0.3
Russian Federation Eurobonds		0.2		0.2
Total debt securities pledged under				
repurchase agreements	113.2	0.7	_	113.9



11 Securities Pledged under Repurchase Agreements (continued)

Credit quality in the tables above is based on the rating scale developed by the international rating agencies.

All corporate bonds pledged under repurchase agreements are not past due. None of the securities pledged under repurchase agreements were restructured.

The estimated fair value of securities pledged under repurchase agreements is disclosed in Note 37. Currency and maturity analyses of securities pledged under repurchase agreements are disclosed in Note 34. The information on securities issued by state-controlled entities is disclosed in Note 41.

12 Investment Securities Available-for-Sale

in billions of Russian Roubles	31 December 2017	31 December 2016
Russian federal loan bonds (OFZ bonds)	897.9	763.8
Corporate bonds	393.1	406.1
Russian Federation Eurobonds	192.1	234.1
Foreign government and municipal bonds	161.0	187.3
Mortgage-backed securities	45.6	_
Russian municipal and subfederal bonds	12.0	22.0
Bonds of the Bank of Russia	10.2	_
Promissory notes	1.4	0.4
Total debt investment securities available-for-sale	1,713.3	1,613.7
Corporate shares	30.4	45.2
Total investment securities available-for-sale	1,743.7	1,658.9

In April - May 2017 the Group together with the Agency for Housing Mortgage Lending (the "AHML") acting through a subsidiary of AHML, LLC "MBS Factory" (the "MBSF") arranged the following securitization transaction:

- The Bank sold to the MBSF a portfolio of mortgage loans to individuals, which were derecognized by the Group based on the terms of the deal and a related gain on the disposal in the amount of RR 4.6 billion was recorded within net gains on initial recognition of financial instruments, loans restructuring and sale of loans:
- The MBSF issued mortgage-backed amortising securities with nominal value of RR 50.0 billion (the "Bonds"). The Bonds were issued in one tranche with the final original maturity in September 2049. The Bonds are secured by the mortgage loans to individuals, purchased by the MBSF from the Bank, and guarantee of AHML, which also took the commitment to purchase defaulted mortgage loans at nominal value. Interest rate and amortization of the principal under the Bonds are based on repayments of mortgage loans which secure the Bonds.
- The Bonds were purchased by the Group and were recognized as investment securities available-for-sale in the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2017.

Included into net gains from investment securities available-for-sale in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2017 there is a gain of RR 15.3 billion from the sale of VISA Inc. and MasterCard Inc. shares in March 2017.

At 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016 there were no restructured debt investment securities available-for-sale that would otherwise be past due. All debt investment securities available-for-sale are not past due.



12 Investment Securities Available-for-Sale (continued)

Analysis by credit quality of debt investment securities available-for-sale outstanding as at 31 December 2017 is as follows:

	Investment	Speculative		
In billions of Russian Roubles	rating	rating	Not rated	Total
Russian federal loan bonds (OFZ bonds)	897.9	_	_	897.9
Corporate bonds	147.8	242.4	2.9	393.1
Russian Federation Eurobonds	_	192.1	_	192.1
Foreign government and municipal				
bonds	117.6	43.4	_	161.0
Mortgage-backed securities	_	_	45.6	45.6
Russian municipal and subfederal bonds	0.8	11.2	_	12.0
Bonds of the Bank of Russia	10.2	_	_	10.2
Promissory notes	_	1.4	_	1.4
Total debt investment securities				
available-for-sale	1,174.3	490.5	48.5	1,713.3

Analysis by credit quality of debt investment securities available-for-sale outstanding as at 31 December 2016 is as follows:

In billions of Russian Roubles	Investment rating	Speculative rating	Not rated	Total
Russian federal loan bonds (OFZ bonds)	763.8	_	_	763.8
Corporate bonds	142.6	262.0	1.5	406.1
Russian Federation Eurobonds	_	234.1	_	234.1
Foreign government and municipal bonds	99.7	56.7	30.9	187.3
Russian municipal and subfederal bonds	1.4	20.6	_	22.0
Promissory notes	_	_	0.4	0.4
Total debt investment securities available-for-sale	1,007.5	573.4	32.8	1,613.7

Credit quality in the tables above is based on the rating scale developed by the international rating agencies.

Currency and maturity analyses of investment securities available-for-sale are disclosed in Note 34. The information on related parties balances as well as state-controlled entities balances is disclosed in Notes 40 and 41.

13 Investment Securities Held-to-Maturity

in billions of Russian Roubles	31 December 2017	31 December 2016
Corporate bonds	481.5	243.2
Russian municipal and subfederal bonds	108.6	49.1
Russian federal loan bonds (OFZ bonds)	88.2	166.4
Foreign government and municipal bonds	63.9	58.4
Russian Federation Eurobonds	32.6	29.6
Total investment securities held-to-maturity before provision for impairment	774.8	546.7
Less provision for impairment	(1.2)	(0.9)
Total investment securities held-to-maturity after provision for impairment	773.6	545.8



13 Investment Securities Held-to-Maturity (continued)

The changes in provision for impairment of investment securities held-to-maturity for the year ended 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016 are presented below:

in billions of Russian Roubles	2017	2016
Provision for impairment of investment securities held-to-maturity		
as at 1 January	0.9	6.5
Net provision charge /		
(recovery of provision) for impairment during the year	0.3	(2.6)
Investment securities held-to-maturity written off during the year	_	(3.0)
Provision for impairment of investment securities held-to-maturity		
as at 31 December	1.2	0.9

Analysis by credit quality of debt investment securities held-to-maturity outstanding at 31 December 2017 is as follows:

ılative rating	Not rated	Total
367.9	33.9	481.5
73.8	25.4	108.6
_	_	88.2
25.2	0.9	63.9
32.6	_	32.6
499 5	60.2	774.8
	499.5	499.5 60.2

Analysis by credit quality of debt investment securities held-to-maturity outstanding at 31 December 2016 is as follows:

In billions of Russian Roubles	Investment rating	Speculative rating	Not rated	Total
Corporate bonds	37.6	192.1	13.5	243.2
Russian federal loan bonds (OFZ bonds) Foreign government and municipal	166.4	_	_	166.4
bonds	57.1	0.6	0.7	58.4
Russian municipal and subfederal bonds	8.3	38.7	2.1	49.1
Russian Federation Eurobonds	_	29.6	_	29.6
Total investment securities held-to- maturity before provision for impairment	269.4	261.0	16.3	546.7

Credit quality in the table above is based on the rating scale developed by the international rating agencies.

At 31 December 2017 there are restructured debt investment securities held-to-maturity in the amount of RR 0.8 billion that would otherwise be past due (at 31 December 2016: RR 0.9 billion).

At 31 December 2017 there are past due investment securities held-to-maturity in the amount of RR 0.9 billion (at 31 December 2016: RR 0.9 billion).

The estimated fair value of investment securities held-to-maturity is disclosed in Note 37. Currency and maturity analyses of investment securities held-to-maturity are disclosed in Note 34. The information on securities issued by state-controlled entities is disclosed in Note 41.



14 Premises and Equipment

in billions of Russian Roubles	Note	Office premises	Other premises	Office and computer equipment	Vehicles and other equipment	Premises and equip- ment in operating lease	Constru- ction in progress and premises and equip- ment before beginning of operations	Total
Carrying amount at 31 December 2015		322.7	11.0	89.3	38.6	2.0	35.6	499.2
Cost or revalued amount								
Balance at the beginning of the year		356.6	11.7	321.2	62.6	2.2	35.6	789.9
Additions Acquisitions through husiness combinations		32.5 0.4	0.8 1.1	4.9	5.0 0.4	1.7	51.9	96.8 1.9
Acquisitions through business combinations Transfers		(2.2)	7.3	32.8	14.3	_	(52.2)	1.9
Transfers to investment property		(0.3)	7.5	52.6 —	14.5 —	_	(32.2)	(0.3)
Transfers (to) / from other types of property		(1.1)	_	(4.1)	_	6.4	_	1.2
Disposals – at cost or revalued amount		(19.6)	(0.3)	(29.1)	(3.4)	(0.2)	(1.3)	(53.9)
Adjustment of cost due to revaluation		(40.8)	· -		· <u>-</u>	· <u>-</u>	· -	(40.8)
Revaluation of office premises recognized in the								
consolidated statement of profit or loss		(25.0)	_	_	_	_	_	(25.0)
Revaluation of office premises recognized in other								
comprehensive income		2.7	_	_	_	_	_	2.7
Exchange differences on translating foreign operations related to cost or revalued amount		(3.5)	(0.2)	(5.9)	(3.2)	(0.8)	(0.2)	(13.8)
Cost or revalued amount at the end of the year		299.7	20.4	319.8	75.7	9.3	33.8	758.7
Accumulated depreciation								
Balance at the beginning of the year		(33.9)	(0.7)	(231.9)	(24.0)	(0.2)	_	(290.7)
Disposals - accumulated depreciation		1.9	_	29.1	3.2		_	34.2
Depreciation charge	28,30	(9.5)	(1.4)	(43.2)	(9.3)	(0.6)	_	(64.0)
Transfers of accumulated depreciation Adjustment of accumulated depreciation due to		0.2	_	0.3	(0.5)	_	_	_
revaluation		40.8	_	_	_	_	_	40.8
Exchange differences on translating foreign operations		40.8						40.0
related to depreciation		0.5	_	2.1	1.2	0.1	_	3.9
Accumulated depreciation at the end of the year		_	(2.1)	(243.6)	(29.4)	(0.7)	-	(275.8)
Carrying amount at 31 December 2016		299.7	18.3	76.2	46.3	8.6	33.8	482.9
Cost or revalued amount								
Balance at the beginning of the year		299.7	20.4	319.8	75.7	9.3	33.8	758.7
Additions		3.0	0.3	3.0	3.7	32.5	66.2	108.7
Acquisitions through business combinations		_	0.5	_	1.5	_	0.1	2.1
Transfers		4.7	0.6	35.3	5.3	_	(45.9)	
Transfers to investment property		(0.1)	_	_	_	_	(0.2)	(0.3)
Transfers to assets held for sale Transfers (to) / from other types of property		(0.3) (5.5)	_	_	_	3.6	(1.0)	(0.3) (2.9)
Disposals – at cost or revalued amount		(9.5)	(2.7)	(32.6)	(6.9)	(1.6)	(2.7)	(56.0)
Change in valuation of office premises transferred to		(5.5)	(2.7)	(32.0)	(0.5)	(1.0)	(2.7)	(30.0)
other classes of assets, recognized in other comprehensive income		(3.4)	_	_	_	_	_	(3.4)
Impairment of premises and equipment recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or loss		(0.4)	(0.1)	_	(3.0)	_	(2.0)	(5.5)
Exchange differences on translating foreign operations				-			(2.0)	
related to cost or revalued amount		(0.2)	0.1	(0.6)	(8.0)	(1.1)	_	(2.6)
Cost or revalued amount at the end of the year		288.0	19.1	324.9	75.5	42.7	48.3	798.5
Accumulated depreciation			(2.4)	(242.6)	(20.4)	(0.7)		(275.0)
Balance at the beginning of the year Disposals - accumulated depreciation		0.1	(2.1) 0.3	(243.6)	(29.4) 3.7	(0.7)	_	(275.8) 36.3
Disposals - accumulated depreciation Depreciation charge	28,30	(6.0)	(1.9)	31.9 (29.0)	3.7 (5.4)	0.3 (1.7)	_	36.3 (44.0)
Exchange differences on translating foreign operations	20,50	(0.0)	(±.5)	(25.0)	(3.4)	(±.,)		(44.0)
related to depreciation			_	0.9	0.3	_	_	1.2
Accumulated depreciation at the end of the year		(5.9)	(3.7)	(239.8)	(30.8)	(2.1)	_	(282.3)
Carrying amount at 31 December 2017		282.1	15.4	85.1	44.7	40.6	48.3	516.2



14 Premises and Equipment (continued)

Construction in progress consists of construction or refurbishment of the Group's premises and equipment. Upon completion, assets are transferred to office premises, other premises or equipment categories.

Office premises are stated at market value. Office premises have been revalued to market value at 31 December 2016. At 31 December 2017 the carrying amount of office premises would have been RR 203.0 billion (31 December 2016: RR 212.9 billion) had the premises been carried at cost less depreciation.

Information on revaluation policies of office premises is disclosed in Note 4.

15 Assets and Liabilities of the Disposal Groups and Non-current Assets Held for Sale

in billions of Russian Roubles	31 December 2017	31 December 2016
Assets of the disposal groups and non-current assets held for sale		
- non-current assets held for sale	10.4	4.1
- assets of the disposal groups	0.1	1.7
Total assets of the disposal groups and non-current assets held for sale	10.5	5.8
Liabilities of the disposal groups	_	0.8
Total liabilities of the disposal groups	_	0.8

In December 2017, Sberbank Europe AG completed the transaction on disposal of 99.9230% share in its Ukrainian subsidiary PJSC "VS Bank". Thus the Group transferred control over PJSC "VS Bank" to the buyer.



16 Other Assets

in billions of Russian Roubles	31 December 2017	31 December 2016
Other financial assets		
Receivables on bank cards settlements	102.0	116.8
Margin calls transferred	49.1	72.6
Settlements on foreign exchange operations	29.2	27.8
Trade receivables	20.7	18.3
Accrued fees and commissions	18.0	11.3
Investments in associates	8.8	7.5
Receivables from Deposit Insurance Agency	7.2	32.3
Settlements on operations with securities	5.7	5.1
Funds in settlement	5.4	8.6
Restricted cash balances	2.8	3.0
Other	10.1	14.4
Total other financial assets before provision for impairment	259.0	317.7
Less provision for impairment of other financial assets	(5.9)	(3.2)
Total other financial assets after provision for impairment	253.1	314.5
Other non-financial assets		
Inventory	99.1	84.4
Intangible assets	76.0	75.0
Prepayments for premises and other assets	42.8	58.1
Precious metals	41.1	50.8
Prepaid expenses	10.3	7.0
Goodwill	10.0	18.9
Investment property	7.7	8.4
Tax settlements (other than on income tax)	7.3	12.1
Prepayment on income tax	2.2	9.4
Other	40.2	27.7
Total other non-financial assets before provision for impairment	336.7	351.8
Less provision for impairment of other non-financial assets	(12.5)	(14.0)
Total other non-financial assets after provision for impairment	324.2	337.8
Total other assets	577.3	652.3

As at 31 December 2017 receivables on bank cards settlements of RR 102.0 billion (31 December 2016: RR 116.8 billion) represent receivables due within 30 days on operations of the Group's customers with banking cards and receivables related to settlements with international payment systems.

As at 31 December 2017 receivables from Deposit Insurance Agency of RR 7.2 billion (31 December 2016: RR 32.3 billion) represent receivables recognized from settlements on deposit compensations to clients of the banks which licenses were withdrawn by the Bank of Russia. The settlement of receivables due to the Group from the Deposit Insurance Agency is conducted in tranches and not earlier than 3 months from the date of first payment of deposit compensations to clients or from the date of previous tranche transfer.



16 Other Assets (continued)

Movement in the provision for impairment of other assets during the year ended 31 December 2017 is as follows:

			Prepayments		
in hillians of Dussian Doubles	Funds in	Other financial	for premises and other	Other non- financial	Total
in billions of Russian Roubles	settlement	assets	assets	assets	Total
Provision for impairment of other assets					
as at 31 December 2016	1.4	1.8	2.8	11.2	17.2
Net provision charge					
during the year	_	6.0	_	2.1	8.1
Assets written off					
during the year	(0.7)	(2.4)	(0.3)	(2.6)	(6.0)
Disposal of subsidiaries	_	(0.2)	(0.4)	(0.3)	(0.9)
Provision for impairment of other assets					
as at 31 December 2017	0.7	5.2	2.1	10.4	18.4

Movement in the provision for impairment of other assets during the year ended 31 December 2016 is as follows:

in billions of Russian Roubles	Funds in settlement	Other financial assets	Prepayments for premises and other assets	Other non- financial assets	Total
Provision for impairment of other assets as at 31 December 2015	1.4	1.9	2.7	9.5	15.5
Net provision charge during the year	0.2	2.5	0.2	5.7	8.6
Assets written off during the year	(0.2)	(2.3)	(0.1)	(4.0)	(6.6)
Exchange differences on translating foreign operations	_	(0.3)	_	_	(0.3)
Provision for impairment of other assets as at 31 December 2016	1.4	1.8	2.8	11.2	17.2

Provision for impairment of other assets is recognized by the Group on operations conducted in the normal course of the Group's business. Provision is assessed on the basis of the Group's best estimates of recoverability of other assets.

Movements in goodwill arising on the acquisition of subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016 are:

in billions of Russian Roubles	2017	2016
Carrying amount as at 1 January	18.9	22.1
Acquisition of subsidiaries	2.6	1.0
Disposal of subsidiaries	(0.1)	(0.5)
Impairment of goodwill	(11.3)	(0.3)
Exchange differences on translating foreign operations	(0.1)	(3.4)
Carrying amount as at 31 December	10.0	18.9



16 Other Assets (continued)

Movements in intangible assets for the year ended 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016 are as follows: Intangible

		assets acquired through business	Other intangible	Total intangible
In billions of Russian Roubles Carrying amount at 31 December 2015	Note	combination 20.4	assets 62.9	assets 83.3
Carrying amount at 31 December 2013		20.4	02.3	
Cost of intangible assets		56.3	99.0	155.3
Balance at the beginning of the year Additions		50.5 —	15.3	15.3
Internally generated		_	9.4	9.4
Disposals due to sale of subsidiary		_	(0.1)	(0.1)
Disposals – at cost		(9.6)	(23.5)	(33.1)
Impairment of intangible assets recognized in the				
consolidated statement of profit or loss		_	(0.3)	(0.3)
Exchange differences on translating foreign		(40.0)	(= 6)	(2.4.4)
operations related to cost		(13.8)	(7.6)	(21.4)
Cost of intangible assets at the end of the year		32.9	92.2	125.1
Accumulated amortisation				
Balance at the beginning of the year		(35.9)	(36.1)	(72.0)
Amortisation charge	28,30	(5.6)	(14.8)	(20.4)
Amortisation charge during the year capitalized in			(0.4)	(0.4)
inventory Disposals assumulated amortisation		— 9.1	(0.1)	(0.1)
Disposals - accumulated amortisation Exchange differences on translating foreign		9.1	20.1	29.2
operations related to amortisation		9.3	3.9	13.2
Accumulated amortisation at the end of the year		(23.1)	(27.0)	(50.1)
Carrying amount at 31 December 2016		9.8	65.2	75.0
Cost of intangible assets				
Balance at the beginning of the year		32.9	92.2	125.1
Additions		_	17.4	17.4
Internally generated		_	15.1	15.1
Acquisitions through business combinations		0.1		0.1
Disposals – at cost		_	(6.4)	(6.4)
Impairment of intangible assets recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or loss		_	(4.0)	(4.0)
Exchange differences on translating foreign		_	(4.0)	(4.0)
operations related to cost		(3.1)	(0.8)	(3.9)
Cost of intangible assets at the end of the year		29.9	113.5	143.4
Accumulated amortisation				
Balance at the beginning of the year		(23.1)	(27.0)	(50.1)
Amortisation charge	28,30	(3.4)	(19.8)	(23.2)
Disposals - accumulated amortisation		_	2.5	2.5
Exchange differences on translating foreign				_
operations related to amortisation		2.8	0.6	3.4
Accumulated amortisation at the end of the year		(23.7)	(43.7)	(67.4)
Carrying amount at 31 December 2017		6.2	69.8	76.0



16 Other Assets (continued)

The estimated fair value of other financial assets is disclosed in Note 37. Currency and maturity analyses of other assets are disclosed in Note 34. The information on related parties balances is disclosed in Note 40.

17 Due to Banks

	31 December	31 December
in billions of Russian Roubles	2017	2016
Term placements of banks	391.9	342.0
Correspondent accounts and overnight placements of banks	107.0	179.8
Direct repo agreements with banks	194.4	40.1
Total due to banks	693.3	561.9

Term placements of banks represent funds received on interbank market.

Refer to Note 38 for information on the amounts included in due to banks received under sale and repurchase agreements and fair value of securities pledged.

The estimated fair value of due to banks and fair value measurement technique used are disclosed in Note 37. Currency and maturity analyses of due to banks are disclosed in Note 34. The information on related parties balances as well as state-controlled entities and government bodies balances is disclosed in Notes 40 and 41.

18 Due to Individuals and Corporate Customers

	31 December	31 December	
in billions of Russian Roubles	2017	2016	
Individuals:			
- Current/demand accounts	3,052.2	2,478.9	
- Term deposits	10,366.1	9,970.1	
- Direct repo agreements	2.0	0.6	
Total due to individuals	13,420.3	12,449.6	
State and public organizations:			
- Current/settlement accounts	181.5	147.8	
- Term deposits	180.9	184.2	
Total due to state and public organizations	362.4	332.0	
Other corporate customers:			
- Current/settlement accounts	2,023.3	1,834.5	
- Term deposits	3,955.0	3,997.4	
- Direct repo agreements	53.2	71.3	
Total due to other corporate customers	6,031.5	5,903.2	
Total due to corporate customers	6,393.9	6,235.2	
Total due to individuals and corporate customers	19,814.2	18,684.8	



18 Due to Individuals and Corporate Customers (continued)

Economic sector risk concentrations within due to individuals and corporate customers are as follows:

	31 Dece	31 December 2016		
in billions of Russian Roubles	Amount	%	Amount	%
Individuals	13,420.3	67.7	12,449.6	66.6
Oil and gas	1,411.9	7.1	1,363.6	7.3
Services	788.6	4.0	863.8	4.6
Machinery	620.7	3.1	751.0	4.0
Trade	609.6	3.1	540.2	2.9
Construction	353.7	1.8	335.4	1.8
Energy	344.7	1.7	315.6	1.7
Transport and logistics	276.2	1.4	290.9	1.6
Metallurgy	247.4	1.2	316.2	1.7
Telecommunications	217.1	1.1	169.0	0.9
Food and agriculture	184.8	0.9	172.6	0.9
Real estate	167.9	0.8	98.6	0.5
Municipal bodies and state organizations	126.9	0.6	166.8	0.9
Chemical	100.5	0.5	98.8	0.5
Timber industry	32.5	0.2	28.8	0.2
Other	911.4	4.8	723.9	3.9
Total due to individuals and corporate customers	19,814.2	100.0	18,684.8	100.0

As at 31 December 2017 included in due to corporate customers are deposits of RR 121.6 billion (31 December 2016: RR 102.7 billion) held as collateral for irrevocable commitments under import letters of credit. Refer to Note 35.

As at 31 December 2017 the Group had 20 largest groups of related customers with balances above RR 25.9 billion each (31 December 2016: 20 largest groups of related customers with balances above RR 30.5 billion each). The aggregate balance of these customers was RR 2,362.7 billion (31 December 2016: RR 2,399.4 billion) or 11.9% (31 December 2016: 12.8%) of total due to individuals and corporate customers.

Refer to Note 38 for information on the amounts due to corporate customers received under sale and repurchase agreements and carrying value of assets pledged.

The estimated fair value of due to individuals and corporate customers and fair value measurement technique used are disclosed in Note 37. Currency and maturity analyses of due to individuals and corporate customers are disclosed in Note 34. The information on related parties balances as well as state-controlled entities and government bodies balances is disclosed in Notes 40 and 41.

19 Debt Securities in Issue

in billions of Russian Roubles	31 December 2017	31 December 2016
Savings certificates	374.9	482.6
Loan participation notes issued under the MTN programme of Sberbank	302.5	473.9
Bonds issued:		
- on the local market	133.2	84.3
- on international capital markets	16.0	21.1
Promissory notes	103.4	92.4
Bonds issued under mortgage securitization programme of Sberbank	3.9	5.5
Other debt securities issued	0.7	1.2
Total debt securities in issue	934.6	1,161.0



19 Debt Securities in Issue (continued)

Description of the debt securities issued under MTN programme of Sberbank is presented in the table below:

			Nominal	_	31 December 2017		31 December 2016		
Issue	Drawdown date	Maturity date	Currency	value in currency of issue, in millions	Contractual interest rate, % p.a.	Carrying value, in billions of RR	Effective interest rate, % p.a.	Carrying value, in billions of RR	Effective interest rate, % p.a.
Series 5	24 September 2010	24 March 2017	USD	1,250	5.4	_	_	74.7	5.4
Series 7	16 June 2011	16 June 2021	USD	1,000	5.7	48.0	5.8	50.6	5.8
Series 8	07 February 2012	07 February 2017	USD	1,300	5.0	_	_	74.7	4.8
Series 9	07 February 2012	07 February 2022	USD	1,500	6.1	87.0	5.6	91.6	5.6
Series 11	28 June 2012	28 June 2019	USD	1,000	5.2	52.8	5.3	55.7	5.3
Series 14	28 February 2013	28 February 2017	CHF	250	2.1	_	_	15.1	2.1
Series 15	04 March 2013	04 March 2018	TRY	550	7.4	6.8	7.6	8.0	7.6
Series 18	06 March 2014	06 March 2019	USD	500	4.2	29.2	4.2	30.7	4.2
Series 19	07 March 2014	07 March 2019	EUR	500	3.1	34.8	3.1	32.2	3.1
Series 20	26 June 2014	15 November 2019	EUR	1,000	3.4	43.9	3.4	40.6	3.4
Total loan p	otal loan participation notes issued under the MTN programme of Sberbank					302.5		473.9	

Savings certificates are interest-bearing securities issued by the Group. They are denominated in Russian Roubles and have maturity dates from three months to three years (31 December 2016: from three months to three years). Interest rates on these securities vary from 5.2% to 10.3% p.a. (31 December 2016: from 6.5% to 10.5% p.a.).

Bonds issued represent interest-bearing securities issued by the members of the Group. They are denominated in Russian Roubles, Turkish Lyra, Belarusian Roubles, US Dollars, Euro, Kazakh Tenge and Czech Koruna and have maturity dates from January 2018 to December 2024 (31 December 2016: from January 2017 to December 2024). Interest rates on these securities vary from 1.3% to 17.7% p.a. (31 December 2016: from 1.3% to 20.0% p.a.).

Promissory notes are interest-bearing or discount securities issued by the members of the Group. They are denominated in Russian Roubles, US Dollars, Euro, Hungarian Forints and Czech Koruna and have maturity dates from two weeks to ten years (31 December 2016: from two weeks to ten years). Interest or discount rates on promissory notes issued by the Group vary from 0.01% to 7.3% p.a. (31 December 2016: from 0.01% to 8.9% p.a.).

The estimated fair value of debt securities in issue and fair value measurement technique used are disclosed in Note 37. Currency and maturity analyses of debt securities in issue are disclosed in Note 34.

20 Other Borrowed Funds

As at 31 December 2017 trade finance deals were accounted for at amortized cost of RR 247.3 billion (31 December 2016: RR 261.4 billion), had interest rates varying from 0.1% to 16.4% p.a. (31 December 2016: from 0.1% to 12.9% p.a.) and maturity dates from January 2018 to June 2029 (31 December 2016: from January 2017 to July 2027).

The estimated fair value of other borrowed funds and fair value measurement technique used are disclosed in Note 37. Currency and maturity analyses of other borrowed funds are disclosed in Note 34.



21 Financial Liabilities at Fair Value through Profit or Loss other than Debt Securities in Issue

	31 December	31 December
in billions of Russian Roubles	2017	2016
Derivative financial instruments	133.5	181.7
Obligation to deliver securities	30.9	31.2
Total financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss other than debt		
securities in issue	164.4	212.9

The composition of derivative financial instruments as at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016 is presented below:

	31 December	31 December
in billions of Russian Roubles	2017	2016
Foreign currency interest rate derivatives	53.3	70.7
Foreign currency derivatives	33.5	78.5
Commodity derivatives including precious metals derivatives	23.3	10.2
Interest rate derivatives	22.1	20.5
Equity securities derivatives	1.0	1.4
Credit risk derivatives	0.3	0.2
Debt securities derivatives	_	0.2
Total derivative financial instruments	133.5	181.7

For the detailed analysis of the derivative instruments of the Group refer to Note 36.

Currency and maturity analyses of financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss other than debt securities in issue are disclosed in Note 34. The information on related parties balances is disclosed in Note 40.

22 Other Liabilities

in billions of Russian Roubles	31 December 2017	31 December 2016
Provisions on insurance and pension fund operations		
Provisions on pension fund operations	492.2	367.9
Provisions on insurance operations	189.4	105.9
Provision on unearned premium	6.5	5.4
Total provisions on insurance and pension fund operations	688.1	479.2
Other financial liabilities		
Payables on bank card settlements	66.0	131.4
Funds in settlement	57.8	31.0
Accrued employee benefit costs	43.6	40.5
Payables	43.3	33.1
Margin calls received	26.1	33.2
Deposit insurance system fees payable	14.4	13.3
Settlements on operations with securities	4.0	4.9
Settlements on foreign exchange operations	_	0.6
Other	34.7	24.6
Total other financial liabilities	289.9	312.6
Other non-financial liabilities		
Provisions for impairment of credit related commitments and other contingencies		
and commitments	27.9	19.0
Advances received	25.8	18.1
Taxes payable other than on income	25.1	23.3
Income tax payable	10.0	4.2
Deferred commissions received on guarantees issued	3.0	3.4
Other	8.6	9.3
Total other non-financial liabilities	100.4	77.3
Total other liabilities	1,078.4	869.1

22 Other Liabilities (continued)

Movement in the provision for impairment of credit related commitments and other contingencies and commitments during the year ended 31 December 2017 is as follows:

	Commitments to extend credit			Other		
in billions of Russian Roubles	Guarantees issued	and undrawn credit lines	Letters of credit	contingencies and commitments	Total	
Provision for impairment as at 31 December 2016	11.4	4.6	0.1	2.9	19.0	
Net provision charge						
for impairment during the year	4.7	0.8	0.8	2.3	8.6	
Write-off and utilization	_	_	_	(0.5)	(0.5)	
Business combinations	_	_	_	1.2	1.2	
Exchange differences on translating						
foreign operations	(0.3)	_	0.1	(0.2)	(0.4)	
Provision for impairment						
as at 31 December 2017	15.8	5.4	1.0	5.7	27.9	

Movement in the provision for impairment of credit related commitments and other contingencies and commitments during the year ended 31 December 2016 is as follows:

in billions of Russian Roubles	Guarantees issued	Commitments to extend credit and undrawn credit lines	Letters of credit	Other contingencies and commitments	Total
<u> </u>	issueu	credit illies	or credit	and commitments	iotai
Provision for impairment as at 31 December 2015	4.5	0.2	0.3	8.4	13.4
Net provision charge / (recovery of provision)					
for impairment during the year	8.0	4.5	(0.1)	(1.6)	10.8
Write-off and utilization	_	_	_	(3.3)	(3.3)
Exchange differences on translating					
foreign operations	(1.1)	(0.1)	(0.1)	(0.6)	(1.9)
Provision for impairment					
as at 31 December 2016	11.4	4.6	0.1	2.9	19.0

Provisions on insurance and pension fund operations. The provisions on insurance and pension fund operations consist predominantly of actuarial provisions. The tables below represent the movement of these provisions for insurance contracts with/without discretionary participation features (DPF) and for investment contracts with DPF.

The table below represents the movement of actuarial provision on insurance operations for the year ended 31 December 2017:

in billions of Russian Roubles	Insurance contracts with DPF	Insurance contracts without DPF	Investment contracts with DPF	Total gross insurance contracts
Provision as at 31 December 2016	6.4	76.3	28.6	111.3
Increase related to new contracts	9.7	59.6	14.2	83.5
Payments and transfers	(0.1)	(1.0)	(0.9)	(2.0)
Other movements including changes on				
run-off contracts	3.4	6.2	(5.6)	4.0
Foreign currency translation	(0.4)	(0.5)	_	(0.9)
Provision as at 31 December 2017	19.0	140.6	36.3	195.9

22 Other Liabilities (continued)

The table below represents the movement of actuarial provision on insurance operations for the year ended 31 December 2016:

in billions of Russian Roubles	Insurance contracts with DPF	Insurance contracts without DPF	Investment contracts with DPF	Total gross insurance contracts
Provision as at 31 December 2015	5.1	61.9	_	67.0
Increase related to new contracts	0.4	13.6	27.7	41.7
Payments and transfers	_	(0.3)	_	(0.3)
Other movements including changes on				
run-off contracts	1.5	(0.9)	1.8	2.4
Foreign currency translation	(0.6)	2.0	(0.9)	0.5
Provision as at 31 December 2016	6.4	76.3	28.6	111.3

The table below represents the movement of actuarial provision on pension fund operations for the year ended 31 December 2017:

in billions of Russian Roubles	Insurance contracts with DPF	Investment contracts with DPF	Total gross pension contracts
Provision as at 31 December 2016	351.1	16.8	367.9
Acquisition of subsidiaries	1.4	2.0	3.4
Increase related to new contracts	102.9	6.9	109.8
Payments and transfers	(24.0)	(0.4)	(24.4)
Other movements including changes on run-off contracts	34.4	1.1	35.5
Provision as at 31 December 2017	465.8	26.4	492.2

The table below represents the movement of actuarial provision on pension fund operations for the year ended 31 December 2016:

in billions of Russian Roubles	Insurance contracts with DPF	Investment contracts with DPF	Total gross pension contracts
Provision as at 31 December 2015	243.4	13.2	256.6
Increase related to new contracts	100.2	0.5	100.7
Payments and transfers	(19.1)	(0.3)	(19.4)
Other movements including changes on run-off contracts	26.6	3.4	30.0
Provision as at 31 December 2016	351.1	16.8	367.9

Pension plans for employees of the Group. The Group applies IAS 19 Employee Benefits for accounting for its pension liabilities. As at 31 December 2017 the Group operates two pension plans – pension plan with defined pension payments/benefits and plan with defined pension contributions.

All the employees of the Bank (including retired) who were entitled to state pension payments or had five years or less to retirement as at 1 January 2011 participate in the pension plan with defined benefits (monthly payment from the Bank in addition to the state pension). The amount of payments is determined mainly based on duration of employment and position of an employee with the Bank at the date of retirement. Employees who participate in pension plan with defined benefit are not eligible for participation in pension plan with defined contribution.

Pension plan with with defined contribution consists of two sub-plans: "Social" and "Parity".

22 Other Liabilities (continued)

Employees of the Bank with grades from 1st to 8th and more than three years of continuous employment with the Bank participate in Social pension plan with defined pension contributions. According to the programme employees whose continuous employment with the Bank reaches seven years become entitled to these contributions (opening of personal pension account in Non-state Pension Fund of Sberbank) upon retirement. The size of contribution rate is calculated as a percent of salary.

Employees of the Bank with grade 9 or above and more than one year of continuous employment with the Bank can (at their own decision) participate in Parity pension plan with defined pension contributions (as well as employees with grades from 1st to 8th who voluntarily switched from Social plan to Parity one). The plan assumes the Bank's cofinancing of employee's pension account. The Bank performs contribution once a year in the proportion 1:1 to total amount of employee's contribution for respective year although limited to specific percentage of employee's annual salary which makes the Bank contribution fixed when the percentage is reached. Employees whose continuous participation in this programme reaches five years become entitled to the Bank's contributions.

As at 31 December 2017 pension liabilities of the Group comprised RR 16.3 billion (31 December 2016: RR 15.6 billion) and were included in accrued employee benefit costs in Other liabilities line of the consolidated statement of financial position. Pension expenses for the year ended 31 December 2017 amounted to RR 3.3 billion (31 December 2016: RR 6.8 billion) and were included in staff costs within operating expenses in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

The estimated fair value of other financial liabilities is disclosed in Note 37. Currency and maturity analyses of other liabilities are disclosed in Note 34.

23 Subordinated Debt

	31 December	31 December
in billions of Russian Roubles	2017	2016
Subordinated debt received from the Bank of Russia	504.4	504.4
Subordinated debt issued under the MTN programme of Sberbank	193.6	204.7
Other subordinated debt	18.3	30.8
Total subordinated debt	716.3	739.9

Description of the subordinated debt received by the Group from the Bank of Russia is presented in the table below:

				_	31 December 2017		31 December 2016	
Drawdown date	Interest rate repricing date	Currency	Nominal value in currency of issue, in millions	Contractual interest rate, % p.a.	Carrying value, in billions of RR	Effective interest rate, % p.a.	Carrying value, in billions of RR	Effective interest rate, % p.a.
16 December 2008	31 December 2019	RR	300,000	6.5	303.9	6.5	304.0	6.5
18 June 2014	31 December 2019	RR	200,000	6.5	200.5	6.5	200.4	6.5
Total subordinated debt received from the Bank of Russia 504.4 504.4								

In March 2015, following the amendments to the Federal Law of the Russian Federation "On additional measures for supporting the financial system of the Russian Federation" terms and conditions of the subordinated loans received from the Bank of Russia in the total nominal value of RR 500.0 billion were modified. As it was allowed by the Federal Law the Bank elected to prolong these subordinated loans for 50 years from the date of the original drawdown with an ability to unilaterally (without consent from Bank of Russia) roll over this subordinated facility at its maturity. The subordinated loan facility bears an interest rate of 6.5% p.a. Based on the terms and conditions of the modified subordinated loan the interest rate can be reset after 31 December 2019.



23 Subordinated Debt (continued)

Description of the subordinated debt issued under the MTN programme of Sberbank is presented in the table below:

				Nominal		31 December 2017		31 December 2016	
Issue	Drawdown date	Maturity date	Currency	value in currency of issue, in millions	Contractual interest rate, % p.a.	Carrying value, in billions of RR	Effective interest rate, % p.a.	Carrying value, in billions of RR	Effective interest rate, % p.a.
Series 12	29 October 2012	29 October 2022	USD	2,000	5.1	80.3	5.2	85.0	5.2
Series 16	23 May 2013	23 May 2023	USD	1,000	5.3	56.9	5.4	60.1	5.4
Series 17	26 February 2014	26 February 2024	USD	1,000	5.5	56.4	5.6	59.6	5.6
Total subord	dinated debt issue	d under the MTN	N programr	ne of Sberban	ık	193.6		204.7	

In the event of the Bank's liquidation the claims of the holders of the subordinated debt would be subordinated to all other creditors.

The estimated fair value of subordinated debt and fair value measurement technique used are disclosed in Note 37. Currency and maturity analyses of subordinated debt are disclosed in Note 34. The information on related parties balances is disclosed in Note 40.

24 Share Capital and Treasury Shares

		31 De	31 December 2016			
In billions of Russian Roubles, except for number of shares	Number of shares, in millions	Nominal amount	Inflation adjusted nominal amount	Number of shares, in millions	Nominal amount	Inflation adjusted nominal amount
Ordinary shares	21,587	64.8	83.3	21,587	64.8	83.3
Preference shares	1,000	3.0	4.4	1,000	3.0	4.4
Total share capital	22,587	67.8	87.7	22,587	67.8	87.7

As at 31 December 2017 all ordinary shares have a nominal value of RR 3 per share and rank equally. Each ordinary share carries one vote. All issued ordinary shares are fully paid. Preference shares have a nominal value of RR 3 per share and carry no voting rights but rank ahead of the ordinary shares in the event of the Bank's liquidation. Preference shares are not redeemable. Dividend payments are at the discretion of the Bank. When a dividend is paid, the preference shares attract a minimum payment of annual dividends of 15.0% of their nominal value, subject to confirmation of the shareholders meeting. If preference dividends are not declared, the preference shareholders obtain the right to vote as ordinary shareholders, but lose this right when the next dividend is paid. Preference share dividends are set at 200.0% of nominal value for the year ended 31 December 2016 (65.7% of nominal value for the year ended 31 December 2015). Preference share dividends rank above ordinary dividends.

The treasury shares as at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016 were as follows:

		31 De	ecember 2017		31 De	ecember 2016
In billions of Russian Roubles, except for number of shares	Number of shares, in millions	Inflation adjusted nominal amount	Acquisition cost	Number of shares, in millions	Inflation adjusted nominal amount	Acquisition cost
Ordinary shares	66.3	0.3	10.7	45.9	0.2	5.4
Preference shares	30.4	0.1	4.6	30.4	0.1	2.5
Total treasury shares	96.7	0.4	15.3	76.3	0.3	7.9



25 Interest Income and Expense

	end	Year ed 31 December
in billions of Russian Roubles	2017	2016
Interest income		
Interest income on financial assets not at fair value through profit or loss		
Interest income on financial assets carried at amortized cost:		
- Loans and advances to customers	2,005.1	2,145.7
- Due from banks	106.6	46.9
- Debt investment securities held-to-maturity	51.3	39.8
- Correspondent/current accounts with banks	10.3	5.4
	2,173.3	2,237.8
Interest income on financial assets available-for-sale:		
- Debt investment securities available-for-sale	129.1	130.2
-	129.1	130.2
Total interest income on financial assets not at fair value through profit or loss	2,302.4	2,368.0
	2,302.4	2,300.0
Interest income on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss:		
- Debt securities designated as at fair value through profit or loss	29.3	25.6
- Debt trading securities	4.1	5.3
- Other interest income		0.1
	33.4	31.0
Total interest income	2,335.8	2,399.0
Interest expense		
Interest expense on financial liabilities not at fair value through profit or loss		
Interest expense on financial liabilities carried at amortized cost:		
- Term deposits of individuals	(473.3)	(532.8)
- Term deposits of legal entities	(141.5)	(195.5)
- Debt securities in issue	(63.8)	(86.7)
- Current/settlement accounts of legal entities	(45.6)	(53.4)
- Subordinated debt	(44.4)	(47.0)
- Term placements of banks	(22.1)	(38.8)
- Current/demand accounts of individuals	(19.9)	(18.1)
- Other borrowed funds	(11.8)	(10.7)
- Correspondent/current accounts of banks	(1.9)	(2.5)
_	(824.3)	(985.5)
Interest expense on financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss:		
- Obligation to deliver securities	(2.1)	(1.4)
	(2.1)	(1.4)
Total interest expense	(826.4)	(986.9)
Deposit insurance expenses	(57.3)	(49.3)
Total interest expense including deposit insurance expenses	(883.7)	(1,036.2)
Net interest income	1,452.1	1,362.8



26 Fee and Commission Income and Expense

Net fee and commission income	394.2	349.1
Total fee and commission expense	(110.9)	(87.2)
Other	(3.4)	(4.6)
Client operations with foreign currencies	(0.4)	(0.4)
syndications) commissions	(0.8)	(0.9)
Securities and commodities brokerage, custodian and investment banking (including		. ,
Settlement transactions	(7.1)	(8.9)
- Other	(7.8)	(0.4)
- Loyalty programs	(19.7)	(18.9)
- Commissions to payment systems and other similar commissions	(71.7)	(53.1)
Fee and commission expense Operations with banking cards:		
Total fee and commission income	505.1	436.3
Other	10.0	12.3
syndications) commissions	6.3	5.6
Securities and commodities brokerage, custodian and investment banking (including		
Agent commissions	16.9	12.5
Documentary commissions	26.1	25.7
Client operations with foreign currencies and precious metals	28.0	22.0
Cash and settlements transactions	182.7	169.1
- Other	0.8	0.3
- Service fees	52.3	43.5
- Acquiring, commissions of payment systems and other similar commissions	182.0	145.3
Operations with banking cards:		
Fee and commission income		
in billions of Russian Roubles	2017	2016
	ended	31 December
		Year

27 Net Results from Trading in Foreign Currencies, Operations with Foreign Currency Derivatives and Foreign Exchange Translation

_	Year ended 31 December		
in billions of Russian Roubles	2017	2016	
Net foreign exchange translation losses	(22.9)	(14.7)	
Net gains / (losses) from operations with foreign currency and foreign currency			
interest rate derivatives	29.8	(42.2)	
Net gains from trading in foreign currencies	13.7	3.5	
Total net gains / (losses) from trading in foreign currencies, operations with			
foreign currency derivatives and foreign exchange translation	20.6	(53.4)	



28 Net Results of Non-core Business Activities

	ended	Year 31 December
in billions of Russian Roubles	2017	2016
Revenue:		
Revenue from sale of goods	31.1	18.1
Revenue from rendering of services	0.6	0.7
Revenue from operating lease	0.4	0.4
Revenue from construction contracts	0.2	0.6
Revenue from other activities	10.1	11.0
Total revenue of non-core business activities	42.4	30.8
Cost of sales and other expenses:		
- cost of goods sold	(22.5)	(14.0)
- staff costs	(5.7)	(5.5)
- depreciation of premises and equipment	(1.0)	(1.2)
- maintenance of premises and equipment	(0.4)	(1.8)
- transport costs	(0.1)	(0.2)
- customs duties and taxes	(0.1)	(0.1)
- amortization of intangible assets	(0.3)	(0.2)
- other expenses	(6.6)	(4.1)
Total cost of sales and other expenses of non-core business activities	(36.7)	(27.1)
Net result of non-core business activities	5.7	3.7

29 Net Premiums, Claims, Benefits, Change in Contract Liabilities and Acquisition Costs on Insurance and Pension Fund Operations

	Year			
	ended	31 December		
in billions of Russian Roubles	2017	2016		
Net premiums				
Gross premiums written	251.4	194.7		
Premiums ceded to reinsurers	(0.5)	(0.4)		
Premiums returns	(1.3)	(1.5)		
Total net premiums from insurance and pension fund operations	249.6	192.8		
Net claims, benefits and change in contract liabilities				
Gross benefits and claims occurred	(26.7)	(22.2)		
Claims ceded to reinsurers	0.4	0.3		
Change in contract liabilities	(205.5)	(155.1)		
Total net claims, benefits and change in contract liabilities	(231.8)	(177.0)		
Acquisition costs	(0.8)	(0.8)		
Total net claims, benefits, change in contract liabilities and acquisition costs on				
insurance and pension fund operations	(232.6)	(177.8)		
Total	17.0	15.0		



30 Operating Expenses

	Yea ended 31 Decembe			
in billions of Russian Roubles	2017	2016		
Staff costs	402.7	384.3		
Depreciation of premises and equipment	43.0	62.8		
Repairs and maintenance of premises and equipment	40.5	42.5		
Administrative expenses	40.4	39.7		
Taxes other than on income	36.8	34.1		
Operating lease expenses	30.9	33.1		
Telecommunication expenses	25.3	29.4		
Amortization of intangible assets	22.9	20.2		
Consulting and assurance services	12.3	12.1		
Advertising and marketing services	7.8	8.7		
Other	10.2	10.7		
Total operating expenses	672.8	677.6		

For the year ended 31 December 2017 expenses for defined pension contribution plans amounted to RR 53.3 billion (for the year ended 31 December 2016: RR 50.6 billion).

31 Income Taxes

Income tax expenses consist of the following components:

in billions of Russian Roubles	Year ended 31 December			
	2017	2016		
Current tax	222.5	225.2		
Deferred tax	(28.0)	(89.6)		
Income tax expense for the year	194.5	135.6		

The income tax rate applicable to the major part of the Group's income for 31 December 2017 is 20% (31 December 2016: 20%).



31 Income Taxes (continued)

Reconciliation between the expected and the actual taxation charge is provided below:

	Year ended	31 December
in billions of Russian Roubles	2017	2016
Profit before tax	943.2	677.5
Theoretical tax charge at statutory rate (2017: 20%; 2016: 20%)	188.6	135.5
Tax effect on income on government securities taxed at rates other than 20%	(5.0)	(4.0)
Non-deductible staff costs	1.3	0.4
Unrecognized tax assets	4.5	4.1
Differences between 20% and income tax rate adopted in jurisdiction of subsidiary	0.4	1.6
Differences between applicable income tax rate and standard income tax rate		
adopted in the jurisdiction of the subsidiary	(2.1)	(3.0)
Non-deductible losses on cessions	3.0	_
Other non-temporary differences	3.8	1.0
Income tax expense for the year	194.5	135.6

Differences between IFRS and Russian statutory taxation regulations and between IFRS and local taxation regulations for foreign subsidiaries give rise to temporary differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax bases. The tax effect of the movements in these temporary differences is detailed below and is recorded at the rate of 20% (31 December 2016: 20%), except for income on state, municipal and certain other types of securities that is taxed at 15% (31 December 2016: 15%) and on dividends that are taxed at 13% and 0% (31 December 2016: 13% and 0%) and except for the temporary differences related to foreign subsidiaries for which local corporate tax rates are applied.

		Business	Credited/	Recognized in other		
		combinations	(charged)	comprehen-	Currency	
	31 December	and disposal	to profit	sive	translation	31 December
in billions of Russian Roubles	2016	of subsidiaries	or loss	income	differences	2017
Tax effect of deductible temporary differences						
Staff expenses accrued (bonuses, annual leave,						
pension liabilities)	3.5	_	1.1	_	(0.1)	4.5
Provision for impairment of debt financial	5.5				(0.1)	5
assets	9.8	_	4.1	_	(0.6)	13.3
Accounting for derivatives at fair value	2.9	_	3.5	_	(0.2)	6.2
Accounting for loans by effective rate method	16.5	_	2.9	_	(0.2)	19.4
Other provisions	5.2	_	(5.2)	_	_	15.4
Write-down of low value assets	2.1	_	(3.2)	_	_	2.1
Accounting for financial contracts with	2.1					2.1
embedded derivatives	1.3		0.5			1.8
Accrual of expenses on customer loyalty	1.5	_	0.5	_	_	1.0
	3.2		(2.7)	_		0.5
programs Accounting for securities	3.2 1.1	_	(2.7)		_	0.5
S .	1.1 4.9	(0.3)	` '	(0.2)	_	0.4 3.8
Tax losses carry forward		(0.3)	(0.9)	_	0.1	
Other	17.8	_	(1.2)	3.6	(0.1)	20.1
Gross deferred tax asset	68.3	(0.3)	1.6	3.4	(0.9)	72.1
Tax effect of taxable temporary differences						
Provision for impairment of debt financial						
assets	(25.2)	0.1	7.9	_	0.3	(16.9)
Accounting for derivatives at fair value	(1.5)		0.1	_	0.2	(1.2)
Accounting for loans by effective rate method	(5.3)	_	_	_	_	(5.3)
Other provisions	(0.3)	_	(4.1)	_	_	(4.4)
Depreciation and initial cost or revalued	(0.5)		(/			(,
amount of premises and equipment	(38.6)	_	(4.0)	0.6	_	(42.0)
Accounting for financing by the effective rate	(55.5)		()	0.0		(1210)
method and early redemption of own issued						
bonds	(1.3)	_	0.6	_	_	(0.7)
Credit related commitments provision	(6.0)	_	(2.7)	_	_	(8.7)
Accounting for securities	(26.8)	_	28.3	(2.2)	_	(0.7)
Other	(4.5)	(0.1)	28.3 0.3	(2.2)	(0.1)	(4.4)
Gross deferred tax liability	(109.5)		26.4	(1.6)	0.4	(84.3)
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	(103.5)		20.4	(1.0)	0.4	(04.3)
Total net deferred tax (liability) / asset	(41.2)	(0.3)	28.0	1.8	(0.5)	(12.2)



31 Income Taxes (continued)

in billions of Russian Roubles	31 December 2015	Business combinations and disposal of subsidiaries	Credited/ (charged) to profit or loss	Recognized in other comprehen- sive income	Currency translation differences	31 December 2016
Tax effect of deductible temporary differences						
Staff expenses accrued (bonuses, annual leave,						
pension liabilities)	5.8	_	(2.0)	_	(0.3)	3.5
Provision for impairment of debt financial						
assets	9.4	0.5	1.9	_	(2.0)	9.8
Accounting for derivatives at fair value	_	_	3.0	_	(0.1)	2.9
Accounting for loans by effective rate method	14.7	_	1.9	_	(0.1)	16.5
Other provisions	6.7	0.4	(1.9)	_	_	5.2
Write-down of low value assets	0.4	_	1.7	_	_	2.1
Accounting for financial contracts with						
embedded derivatives	1.7	_	(0.4)	_	_	1.3
Accrual of expenses on customer loyalty						
programs	2.1	_	1.1	_	_	3.2
Accounting for securities	1.9	_	(1.2)	0.3	0.1	1.1
Tax losses carry forward	8.1	0.1	(2.3)	_	(1.0)	4.9
Accounting for financing by the effective rate method and early redemption of own issued						
bonds	0.2	_	(0.2)	_	_	_
Other	16.6	(0.1)	(0.7)	2.2	(0.2)	17.8
Gross deferred tax asset	67.6	0.9	0.9	2.5	(3.6)	68.3
Tax effect of taxable temporary differences						
Provision for impairment of debt financial						
assets	(35.1)	_	9.7	_	0.2	(25.2)
Accounting for derivatives at fair value	(23.3)	_	21.5	_	0.3	(1.5)
Accounting for loans by effective rate method	(5.1)	_	(0.2)	_	_	(5.3)
Other provisions		_	(0.3)	_	_	(0.3)
Depreciation and initial cost or revalued						
amount of premises and equipment	(41.4)	(0.3)	3.2	(0.5)	0.4	(38.6)
Accounting for financing by the effective rate method and early redemption of own issued						
bonds	_	_	(1.3)	_	_	(1.3)
Credit related commitments provision	(7.5)	_	1.5	_	_	(6.0)
Accounting for securities	(60.2)	_	51.4	(18.0)	_	(26.8)
Other	(9.7)	_	3.2	_	2.0	(4.5)
Gross deferred tax liability	(182.3)	(0.3)	88.7	(18.5)	2.9	(109.5)
Total net deferred tax (liability) / asset	(114.7)	0.6	89.6	(16.0)	(0.7)	(41.2)

As at 31 December 2017 the taxable temporary difference between investments in subsidiaries in the statement of financial position of the parent company for tax purposes and value of net assets of subsidiaries under IFRS amounted to RR 18.9 billion (31 December 2016: the deductible temporary difference of RR 30.7 billion). In accordance with IAS 12 *Income Taxes* respective deferred tax liability of RR 3.8 billion (31 December 2016: respective deferred tax asset of RR 6.1 billion) was not recognized in the consolidated financial statements, since the Group has an ability to control the timing of temporary difference reversal and it is not expected that temporary differences will be reversed in the foreseeable future.



32 Earnings per Share and Dividends

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to the holders of ordinary shares of the Bank by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the period, excluding treasury shares. The Bank has no dilutive potential ordinary shares; therefore the diluted earnings per share equal to the basic earnings per share.

	Year ended 31 December		
in billions of Russian Roubles	2017	2016	
Profit for the year attributable to the shareholders of the Bank Less preference dividends declared	750.4 (5.8)	540.5 (1.9)	
Profit attributable to the ordinary shareholders of the Bank	744.6	538.6	
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (billions)	21.5	21.5	
Earnings per ordinary share, basic and diluted (expressed in RR per share)	34.58	25.00	

On 26 May 2017, the Annual General Shareholders' Meeting of the Bank declared dividends of RR 135.5 billion for 2016 (including RR 0.4 billion of ordinary dividends and RR 0.2 billion of preference dividends attributable to the subsidiaries of the Bank). On 27 May 2016, the Annual General Shareholders' Meeting of the Bank declared dividends of RR 44.5 billion for 2015 (including RR 0.1 billion attributable to one of the subsidiaries of the Bank).

_	Year ended 31	December 2017	Year ended 31 December 2016	
in billions of Russian Roubles	Ordinary	Preference	Ordinary	Preference
Dividends payable as at 1 January	0.3	0.1	0.4	0.1
Dividends declared during the year	129.1	5.8	42.5	1.9
Dividends paid during the year	(128.9)	(5.8)	(42.6)	(1.9)
Dividends payable as at 31 December	0.5	0.1	0.3	0.1
Dividends per share declared during the year (expressed in RR per share)	6.00	6.00	1.97	1.97



33 Segment Analysis

For the purposes of management the Group is divided into operating segments of activity – Central head office, 14 regional head offices and subsidiaries – which are defined on the basis of organizational structure of the Group and geographical areas. The principal activity of all operating segments is banking operations. For the purposes of presentation in these consolidated financial statements the operating segments are aggregated in the following reportable segments:

Moscow, including:

- Central head office of the Group,
- Regional head office of Moscow,
- Subsidiaries of the Group located in the region.

Central and Northern regions of European part of Russia, including:

Regional head offices:

- Severny Yaroslavl,
- Severo-Zapadny Saint-Petersburg,
- Tsentralno-Chernozemny Voronezh,
- Srednerussky Moscow;

Subsidiaries of the Group located in the region.

Volga region and South of European part of Russia, including:

Regional head offices:

- Volgo-Vyatsky Nizhniy Novgorod,
- Povolzhsky Samara,
- Yugo-Zapadny Rostov-on-Don;

Subsidiaries of the Group located in the region.

Ural, Siberia and Far East of Russia, including:

Regional head offices:

- Zapadno-Uralsky Perm,
- Uralsky Ekaterinburg,
- Sibirsky Novosibirsk,
- Zapadno-Sibirsky Tumen,
- Dalnevostochny Khabarovsk,
- Baikalsky Irkutsk;

Subsidiaries of the Group located in the region.

Other countries, including:

- Subsidiaries located in Turkey,
- Subsidiaries located in Ukraine, Kazakhstan, Belarus,
- Subsidiaries located in Austria and Switzerland,
- Subsidiaries of Sberbank Europe AG located in Central and Eastern Europe,
- Companies of ex-Troika Dialog Group Ltd. located in the USA, the United Kingdom, Cyprus and certain other jurisdictions,
- A branch office in India,
- Representative offices in Germany and China.

The Management of the Group analyses operating results of every segment of activity for the purposes of making decision about allocation of resources and assessment of segments' business results. The segment reporting and operating results which are provided to the Management of the Group for analysis are prepared mainly under Russian accounting standards, except the segment reporting of the subsidiaries which is prepared under International Financial Reporting Standards.

Intersegment operations are performed on the basis of internal transfer pricing rates which are established, approved and regularly revised by the Management of the Group.



33 Segment Analysis (continued)

The activity of each subsidiary is controlled by the Group integrally.

Segment reporting of the Group's assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2017 is as follows:

in billions of Russian Roubles	Moscow	Central and Northern regions of European part of Russia	Volga region and South of European part of Russia	Ural, Siberia and Far East of Russia	Other countries	Total
Total assets	12,812.1	3,313.6	3,189.6	3,451.8	4,222.8	26,989.9
Total liabilities	8,879.1	4,623.2	3,547.0	3,454.3	3,244.9	23,748.5

Segment reporting of the Group's assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2016 is as follows:

		Central and Northern regions of European	Volga region and South of European	Ural, Siberia and Far East	Other	
in billions of Russian Roubles	Moscow	part of Russia	part of Russia	of Russia	countries	Total
Total assets	11,865.2	3,155.2	2,673.4	3,704.6	4,040.4	25,438.8
Total liabilities	8,190.7	4,424.9	3,026.5	3,920.9	3,219.9	22,782.9



33 Segment Analysis (continued)

Reconciliation of total assets and total liabilities as per the reportable segments with the Group's total assets and total liabilities under IFRS as at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016 is as follows:

	31	December 2017	31 December 2016		
	Total	Total	Total	Total	
in billions of Russian Roubles	assets	liabilities	assets	liabilities	
Total segment assets and liabilities	26,989.9	23,748.5	25,438.8	22,782.9	
Difference in netting sets	0.7	0.7	(146.7)	(146.7)	
Adjustment to staff expenses accrued					
(bonuses, annual leave, pension					
liabilities)	_	0.1	_	(3.1)	
Adjustment of provision for impairment					
of debt financial assets	75.8	_	118.8	_	
Accounting for derivatives at fair value	(1.4)	11.5	(1.8)	(0.7)	
Accounting for loans by effective rate					
method	(8.5)	_	(18.2)	_	
Write-down of low value assets	(10.0)	_	(10.0)	_	
Adjustment of other provisions	157.1	_	76.1	_	
Adjustment of depreciation and initial					
cost or revalued amount of premises					
and equipment	(0.5)	_	(10.9)	_	
Accounting for financial contracts with					
embedded derivatives	(1.0)	_	(3.3)	_	
Accounting for financing by the effective					
rate method and early redemption of					
debt securities in issue	(81.1)	(78.5)	(89.3)	(87.4)	
Accrual of expenses on customer loyalty	, ,	, ,	, ,		
programs	_	0.7	_	13.9	
Currency translation of investments in					
subsidiaries and associates	(3.3)	_	(3.3)	_	
Adjustment for credit related	, ,		, ,		
commitments provision	_	(41.6)	_	(29.1)	
Adjustment for legal claims provision	_	1.1	_	0.8	
Commission income adjustment	7.3	2.6	4.9	3.8	
Accounting for mortgage loans					
securitisation	3.9	3.9	5.5	5.5	
Adjustment for deferred tax	(2.7)	23.9	5.9	3.0	
Effect of initial recognition of financial	\ /			3.0	
instruments at fair value	(5.0)	(1.6)	(4.8)	(2.0)	
Other	(9.0)	4.9	6.8	6.0	
The Group's total assets/liabilities under	· ,				
IFRS	27,112.2	23,676.2	25,368.5	22,546.9	



33 Segment Analysis (continued)

Segment reporting of the Group's income and expenses for the year ended 31 December 2017 is as follows:

in billions of Russian		Central and Northern regions of European	Volga region and South of European	Ural, Siberia and Far East	Other	Inter- company	
Roubles	Moscow	part of Russia	part of Russia	of Russia	countries	eliminations	Total
Interest income	955.1	368.9	364.1	412.2	293.7	(72.1)	2,321.9
Interest expense	(362.6)	(181.4)	(134.9)	(131.9)	(145.1)	71.6	(884.3)
Intersegment income /							
(expense)	112.1	(37.9)	(36.3)	(37.9)	_	_	_
Fee and commission income	97.5	132.3	117.5	129.2	56.5	(25.8)	507.2
Fee and commission expense	(87.0)	(14.7)	(12.9)	(16.9)	(14.6)	22.8	(123.3)
Net gains from securities Net gains/(losses) from trading in foreign currencies, operations with foreign currency derivatives, other derivatives and foreign	37.9	-	-	-	4.2	(12.2)	29.9
exchange translation Net gains/(losses) from operations with precious metals, precious metals derivatives and precious	17.7	(0.1)	(0.1)	_	0.6	(0.2)	17.9
metals accounts translation Net result from non-core	3.6	_	_	_	(4.6)	0.1	(0.9)
business activities Net premiums, claims, benefits and acquisition costs from insurance and	3.2	2.5	2.3	0.2	0.9	(3.3)	5.8
pension fund operations Goodwill impairment	30.3 (7.9)	(11.2)	(9.0)	(9.5)	— (3.4)	16.5	17.1
Impairment of premises, equipment and intangible	(7.5)	_	_	_		_	(11.3)
assets	_	_	(2.0)	_	(1.2)	_	(3.2)
Other net operating (losses)/gains	(70.2)	(3.3)	0.6	(1.5)	(3.0)	(4.5)	(81.9)
Operating income before provision charge for impairment of debt financial assets	729.7	255.1	289.3	343.9	184.0	(7.1)	1,794.9
Net provision charge for							
impairment of debt financial assets	(92.3)	(25.2)	(58.6)	(6.8)	(59.0)	_	(241.9)
Operating income	637.4	229.9	230.7	337.1	125.0	(7.1)	1,553.0
Operating expenses	(314.8)	(93.5)	(89.2)	(96.1)	(92.3)	4.7	(681.2)
Profit before tax (Segment result)	322.6	136.4	141.5	241.0	32.7	(2.4)	871.8
Other disclosures Capital expenditure incurred (additions of premises, equipment, intangible assets and investment property) Depreciation of premises	43.8	12.2	16.1	12.1	44.3	_	128.5
and equipment and amortisation of intangible assets	(40.5)	(7.3)	(8.5)	(8.0)	(9.2)	_	(73.5)



33 Segment Analysis (continued)

Segment reporting of the Group's income and expenses for the year ended 31 December 2016 is as follows:

in billions of Russian		Central and Northern regions of European	Volga region and South of European	Ural, Siberia and Far East	Other	Inter- company	
Roubles	Moscow	part of Russia	part of Russia	of Russia	countries	eliminations	Total
Interest income	925.2	382.8	331.4	469.9	334.5	(72.8)	2,371.0
Interest expense	(424.5)	(206.5)	(133.4)	(172.7)	(162.1)	71.2	(1,028.0)
Intersegment income /	20.0	(4.4.4)	(7.5)	(42.2)			
(expense)	30.9	(11.1)	(7.5)	(12.3)	_	- (47.6)	420.2
Fee and commission income	71.2	112.4	90.8	126.0	56.5	(17.6)	439.3
Fee and commission expense	(44.2)	(12.5)	(8.6)	(17.3)	(16.6)	14.3	(84.9)
Net gains from securities Net (losses)/gains from trading in foreign currencies, operations with foreign currency	16.3	_	_	_	9.2	(4.0)	21.5
derivatives, other derivatives and foreign exchange translation Net gains from operations with precious metals, precious metals derivatives	(30.9)	0.3	3.6	_	(10.5)	(0.1)	(37.6)
and precious metals accounts translation	4.4	_	_	_	8.8	0.2	13.4
Net result from non-core business activities Net premiums, claims, benefits and acquisition	35.9	1.3	2.5	0.1	1.1	(37.1)	3.8
costs from insurance and pension fund operations	29.3	(9.3)	(7.4)	(8.2)	_	10.6	15.0
Goodwill impairment Impairment of premises, equipment and intangible	_	(0.3)	_	_	_	_	(0.3)
assets Other net operating	(0.3)	_	_	_	(0.1)	_	(0.4)
(losses)/gains	(22.5)	(5.2)	5.0	(22.2)	8.0	(3.9)	(40.8)
Operating income before provision charge for impairment of debt							
financial assets	590.8	251.9	276.4	363.3	228.8	(39.2)	1,672.0
Net provision charge for impairment of debt	(127.1)	(2.2.2)	()	(22.2)	()		(222.1)
financial assets	(127.4)	(36.3)	(40.0)	(68.6)	(67.4)	0.6	(339.1)
Operating income	463.4	215.6	236.4	294.7	161.4	(38.6)	1,332.9
Operating expenses	(255.1)	(104.4)	(94.1)	(127.3)	(112.8)	14.8	(678.9)
Profit before tax (Segment result)	208.3	111.2	142.3	167.4	48.6	(23.8)	654.0
Other disclosures Capital expenditure incurred (additions of premises, equipment, intangible assets and investment property)	62.0	10.7	13.6	12.4	15.1	_	113.8
Depreciation of premises and equipment and amortisation of intangible						_	
assets	(35.3)	(9.8)	(11.3)	(12.8)	(15.2)	_	(84.4)



33 Segment Analysis (continued)

Reconciliation of profit before tax for the reportable segments with the Group's profit before tax under IFRS for the year ended 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016 is as follows:

	:	Year ended 31 December
in billions of Russian Roubles	2017	2016
Total segments result	871.8	654.0
Adjustment to staff expenses accrued (bonuses, annual leave, pension liabilities)	(0.8)	4.0
Adjustment of provision for impairment of debt financial assets	(37.4)	(31.8)
Accounting for derivatives at fair value	(21.0)	2.3
Accounting for loans by effective rate method	7.7	10.7
Write-down of low value assets	_	4.0
Adjustment of other provisions	82.0	33.2
Adjustment of depreciation and initial cost or revalued amount of premises and		
equipment	10.6	10.3
Accounting for financial contracts with embedded derivatives	2.3	1.8
Accounting for financing by the effective rate method and early redemption of debt		
securities in issue	(0.7)	(1.7)
Accrual of expenses on customer loyalty programs	13.2	(2.3)
Adjustment for credit related commitments provision	14.4	(7.7)
Adjustment for legal claims provision	(0.3)	1.8
Commission income adjustment	3.7	(0.9)
Reclassification of securities between portfolios	2.1	8.8
Accounting for mortgage loans securitisation	4.8	0.1
Effect of initial recognition of financial instruments at fair value	(0.6)	(0.7)
Other	(8.6)	(8.4)
The Group's profit before tax under IFRS	943.2	677.5

The differences shown above arise from classification variances as well as different accounting policies.

Adjustment of provisions is related to the difference between methodology applied in statutory accounting records used primarily as a basis for management reporting and IFRS impairment methodology.

Differences arising on securities' classification relate to gains/(losses) on revaluation of securities designated as at fair value through profit or loss in IFRS reporting but classified as available-for-sale in statutory accounting records.

The sum of the line Accounting for derivatives at fair value mainly includes adjustments to reflect recognition of embedded derivatives in the consolidated statement of financial position, the creation of CVA/DVA and the bid/offer provisions, as the necessary components of fair value.

For the year ended 31 December 2017 the Group's revenues from customers in the Russian Federation amounted to RR 2,892.4 billion (for the year ended 31 December 2016: RR 2,695.9 billion); revenues from customers in all foreign countries from which the Group derives revenues amounted to RR 312.5 billion (for the year ended 31 December 2016: RR 375.4 billion). For the year ended 31 December 2017 intersegment revenues amounted to RR 141.2 billion (for the year ended 31 December 2016: RR 57.5 billion).

No revenue from transactions with a single external customer or counterparty amounted to 10.0% or more of the Group's total revenue during the year ended 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016.



34 Financial and Insurance Risk Management

The Bank manages all significant types of risk for the Group, which are identified annually as a result of ongoing procedures for identification and evaluation of significant risks. The Group recognizes following significant types of risks: credit risk of corporate and retail customers, country risk, credit risk of financial institutions, liquidity risk, market risks on the operations on financial markets (currency risk, interest rate risk, commodity risk, risk of market credit spread, volatility risk), market risks on non-trading positions (currency risk, interest rate risk, risk of market credit spread), the risk of loss due to changes in value of real estate, risk of changes in legislation, legal and compliance risk, reputation risk, technologies risk, social and environmental risk, risk of cybersecurity, operational, model, venture, strategic, regulatory and tax risks.

Due to the development of the insurance and pension business the Group is also exposed to the insurance risk, but level of the risk was insignificant on the scale of the Group business in the reporting period, therefore the respective Group members manage the insurance risk at local level.

Risk management system is the part of the overall management system of the Group which aims to provide sustainable development of the Bank and the Group members in line with the approved development strategy.

Basic principles of the risk management system are set in "Strategy for managing risks and capital of Sberbank Group" approved by Supervisory Board.

The main objectives and goals of the risk management system are:

- provision / maintenance of acceptable risk level and level of capital adequacy in order to cover significant risks:
- detection, assessment, aggregation and forecasting the level of significant risks of the Group and control
 over this level;
- provision of effective resources allocation for optimization of the risk / profitability ratio of the Group;
- provision of a single interpretation of risks on the Group level and strategic planning based on the level of risk accepted.

Risk management is performed at four levels defined below:

- first management level (performed by the Supervisory Board of the Bank) approval of the risk management strategy and the Group's capital management strategy; establishment of appetite for risk and target levels of risk of the Bank and Group; monitoring of compliance with appetite for risk limits and achievement of target levels of risk; evaluation of the effectiveness of risk management and capital adequacy management;
- second management level (performed by the Bank's Executive Board, the Group Risks Committee) is
 management of aggregated Group risk; organization of risk management and capital adequacy
 management; appointment of collective bodies and subdivisions responsible for the management of certain
 risk groups;
- third management level (performed by collective bodies responsible for the management of certain risk groups) – management of specific types of risk considering limits and requirements established at 1st and 2nd levels of management;
- fourth management level (performed by collective bodies and structural subdivisions of the Bank and members of the Group) – management of specific types of risk of the Bank and members of the Group considering limits and requirements established at 1st, 2nd and 3rd levels of management.



34 Financial and Insurance Risk Management (continued)

Integrated risk management process includes five core steps:

- risk identification and measurement aimed to identify all the significant risks which the Group is exposed to;
- developing system for managing significant risks aimed to allocate functions (or actualize such allocation)
 of risk management between executives, subdivisions and collective bodies of the Bank and its subsidiaries
 as well as developing (or actualize such development) methodological framework regulating respective risk
 management;
- forecasting risk exposure level aimed to define target risk level using risk-metrics in business-plan of the Group and each of its members;
- setting risk appetite for the Group and each of its members aimed to confirm by the Bank and then by its Supervisory Board maximum allowable risk exposure for the Group and introduction of limit and restriction system that will enable not to exceed the maximum risk level;
- management of aggregated risk level of the Group aimed to provide correspondence between risk level and target values.

The Group is constantly developing risk management system in order to correspond to the best practices and recommendations of regulators. Thereby risk management methods and processes are continually integrated and improved on aggregate level as well as on the level of specific risks management systems.

The following is a description of the most significant for the Group types of risk management: credit, market, operational and compliance risks.

Credit risk is the risk of losses caused by failure to fulfill, as well as untimely or incomplete fulfillment of financial obligations by debtor in accordance with contract conditions. Among financial obligations mentioned above there are obligations of debtor or funds received including loans to customers, interbank loans, debt securities, other placed funds including obligation to return debt securities, shares and promissory notes, provided by loan agreement, discounted bills, executed bank guarantees which were not compensated by the principal, finance deals with assignment of monetary claim (factoring), rights (claims) obtained in accordance with agreement (cession), mortgages obtained on secondary market, deals of financial assets sale (purchase) with deferred payments (supply of financial assets), paid letter of credit (including uncovered letter of credit), return of cash (assets) in accordance with deal of financial assets purchase with an obligation of their repurchase, claims for financial leasing operations and some other.

The Group's maximum exposure to credit risk is reflected in the carrying amounts of financial assets on the consolidated statement of financial position. For guarantees and commitments to extend credit, the maximum exposure to credit risk is the amount of the commitment. The credit risk is mitigated by collateral and other credit enhancements.

Credit risks include migration credit risk, concentration risk, finance markets counterparty risk and residual risk.

Migration credit risk is the loss risk related to the full or partial loss of financial asset's value (for example, loan or debt security) due to the default or worsening of counterparty credit quality (migration).

Concentration risk (under credit risk) is the risk related to:

- significant loans provided to single borrower or group of connected borrowers;
- loans or other debt financial instruments concentration in certain economic sectors, segments, portfolios or geographical areas, etc.;
- other exposures which can have a similar economic factors sensitivity.

Financial markets counterparty risk is the risk related to the unwillingness or failure of counterparty to pay its obligations under a transaction in full and timely. Counterparty risk relates to credit risk exposure for term deals, which can change in the course of time in line with basic market factors or underlying assets price.



34 Financial and Insurance Risk Management (continued)

Counterparty risk consists of two components:

- pre-settlement risk which occurs before settlement / transfer of assets, represents the loss risk related to the probability of counterparty to fail to fulfil its obligation during the transaction;
- settlement risk which represents the loss risk related to counterparty's failure to fulfil its obligation after Group's obligations were performed under the contract (by cash payments, securities or other assets transfer) at the settlement date.

Residual risk is the risk remaining upon the Group's risk mitigation methods which could not satisfy expectation in relation to received collateral, due to for example litigation risk or liquidity risk.

Credit risk management policy applied by the Group aims at increasing competitive advantage of the Group by expanding the list of counterparties and the range of credit products and financial market products, implementing comprehensive approach to credit risk to maintain or bring down the level of credit risk losses, optimization of loan portfolio structure by industry, region and product.

The Group applies the following basic methods of credit risk management:

- prevention of credit risk by identifying, analysing and assessing potential risks before entering the transaction creating risk exposure;
- planning the level of credit risk by assessing the level of expected losses;
- implementation of common assessment processes and identification of risks;
- limiting credit risk by setting exposure and / or risk limits;
- structuring of transactions;
- collateral management for transactions on financial markets;
- monitoring and control of credit risk level;
- application of the system of decision-making authority;
- provisions for impairment losses.

In the sphere of credit risk management the Group sets following objectives:

- implementation of comprehensive approach to credit risk management, optimization of Group's credit portfolio structure by industry, region and product in order to limit credit risk level;
- increasing competitive advantage of the Group by more precise assessment of risks taken as well as the implementation of measures aimed at credit risk management including maintaining or bringing down the level of credit risk losses;
- retention of sustainability during expansion of product range of Group members (introduction of more complicated products) in consequence of reasonable assessment and taken risks' management particularly credit risks.

Credit risk management system of the Group is organized on the basis of integrated risk management principles as well as following principles:

- application of modern methods and instruments in credit risk management of the Bank and the Group as a
 whole developed on the basis of unified approach used for building standardized credit processes taking
 into account client segmentation by risk profile and minimization of process member's quantity due to
 centralization and process automation;
- objectivity, concreteness and precision of credit risk assessment, use of reliable actual and statistical information;
- integration of credit risk management process into organizational structure of the Bank and Group members;



34 Financial and Insurance Risk Management (continued)

- application of unified rules for allocation and segregation of authorities for credit risk management based on combination of centralized and decentralized approaches;
- independence of departments responsible for credit risk assessment and control from departments that initiate deals generating credit risk;
- compliance with the requirements of the Bank of Russia / bank regulator (for the credit organizations –
 members of the Group operating outside the Russian Federation) as well as the requirements of the Russian
 law and/or law of other countries where the Group members operate;
- control and risk limitation as well as control over expected loss of the Group on borrower/group of related borrowers' default are performed by means of Group limit system.

The system of Group credit risk level control and monitoring is performed on the basis of principles stated in Group's internal documents providing preliminary, current and subsequent control over operations subject to credit risk, observance of stated risk limits and timely performance of its actualization.

There is multilevel system of limits for each business line generated in the Group based on the limitation of credit risk for credit operations and operations on financial markets.

Retail credit risks limits are set on the credit risk of individuals and are divided into groups in the following way:

- structure limits (this group includes such limit types as limit of crediting by scheme, limit for the product/group of approved products);
- authority limits (divided into authority limits of collegial body and personal limits);
- limits of risk concentration by the size of credit product provided to the borrower (this group includes the limit of borrower's debt amount);
- limits for the department granting the credit (this group includes the limit of received application amount).

Assessment of the Group's credit risk is made in aggregate, by individual portfolios of credit risk bearing assets, by individual counterparties and groups of counterparties, by country, geographic region and by type of economic activity.

The Group operates a system of internal ratings based on economic-mathematical models for estimating the probability of default of counterparties. Assessment of credit risks of the Group's counterparties depends on the counterparty category:

- corporate customers, credit institutions, financial companies, small business clients, sovereigns, municipals, insurance and leasing companies are assessed on the basis of the system of credit ratings and expected cash flow models or other significant indicators;
- individuals and micro business clients are assessed based on their creditworthiness in accordance with the Group's internal regulatory documents including application of scoring models and express assessment.

The Group's system of credit ratings provides a differentiated assessment of probability of default/ improper execution by the counterparties of their obligations by analysing quantitative (financial) and qualitative (factors of market and external influence, characteristics of management quality, assessment of business reputation and others) factors of credit risk, materiality of their impact on the ability of the counterparty to service its obligations.

The Group's internal regulatory documents provide for a multi-factor approach, the factor list being standardized depending on the counterparty category: risk factors related to counterparty's creditworthiness and its volatility, ownership structure, business reputation, credit history, cash flow and financial risks control system, transparency, position of the client in the industry and the region, strength of support from local administration and parent company (in case of a holding) as well as the so-called early warning factors which are subject to mandatory monitoring and control. Based on the analysis of these risk factors the probability of default is assessed and graded by counterparty with their subsequent classification ratings.



34 Financial and Insurance Risk Management (continued)

The Group closely monitors its credit risk concentration and compliance with requirements of the regulator, making analysis and forecast of credit risk level. In analysis, monitoring and management of credit risk concentration the following steps are used:

- keeping the list of related borrowers groups which is based on the developed criteria for identification of legally and economically related borrowers;
- control of large loans per borrower within the group of related borrowers,
- keep control over exposures to industry or country.

Separately the Group monitors country risk which aims to manage and to limit risks related to different countries. Country risk limits are structure risk limits which restrict Group's geographical concentration risk (other than risks related to operations conducted in the Russian Federation) and which do not limit risk for operations with certain counterparties.

Collateral is the main instrument decreasing credit risk of a borrower. Different kinds of collateral could be accepted in order to limit credit risk. The Group combines in optimal way the requirements to the level of the borrower's creditworthiness and the requirements to the collateral which improves substantially the effectiveness of the lending process. In accordance with the Group's policy, the requirements to the collateral depend on the range of factors which determine the level of credit risk and the borrower's creditworthiness.

Pledge policy (as a part of Credit policy) was developed which defines principles and elements of work organization for pledges within lending process.

Pledge policy is targeted on the improvement of quality of loan portfolio from a collateral perspective. Collateral quality depends on the probability of cash receipt in amount of supporting pledge in case of enforcement or realization of pledge. Collateral quality can be indirectly characterized by the list and materiality of risks conjugated to the pledge and is represented by the range of factors (liquidity, reliability of fair value assessment, impairment risks, susceptibility to the risks of loss and damage, law risks and others).

Pledge amount assessment is performed on the base of internal expert valuation, assessment of independent valuers or pledge amount stated in borrower's financial reports with discount correction. Use of guarantee of solvent legal entities as collateral requires the same procedure of collateral assessment as that of the borrower.

At the same time, the Group operates a multi-dimensional system of authority to determine the level of decision-making for each loan application. Each territorial unit and subsidiary is assigned a risk profile, which defines the discretionary powers of the unit to take independent decisions, depending on the risk category of the requested loan. In its turn, the risk category of the requested loan depends on the aggregate risk limit and the risk category of the borrower/group of related borrowers and also on loan product category. Thus, existing systems of limits and decision-making authority allows to optimize the lending process and provides for proper management of credit risk.

Using the macroeconomic scenarios, the Group conducts sensitivity analyses of credit risk level by both counterparty and loan portfolio to identify macro factors of maximum correlation with the counterparties' probability of default. Statistics on radical changes of macro factors is used in stress-scenario for ratings models for the purpose of stress-testing.

The Group monitors debt recovery at all phases of debt collection. In case of identification of triggers of drop in debt recovery ratio and non-performing loans growth in territorial units, customer or product segments, the optimization of lending/collection process is performed.

Overdue and non-performing debt collection procedures of the Group are built on a principle of maximum automation, which assures elimination of human factor at various phases of non-performing loans processing and supports usage a unified approach in debt collection process.

In non-performing debt settlement process Group uses instrumental methods, which are consistent with international practice: long-distance communications, visits, debt restructuring, operations with collection agencies, court and enforcement proceedings, etc. Use of one or another method is specified by flexible strategy depending on risk level of client and loan.



34 Financial and Insurance Risk Management (continued)

The Group regularly analyses actual debt collection process for its compliance with market trends and best practices. Following the results of analysis required amendments in the process are made in order to achieve improvement of recoverability of impaired loans, optimization of debt collection procedures and increase of client service level.

Market risk is the possibility of the Group's financial losses as a result of unfavorable movements in exchange rates, equity prices, interest rates, precious metal prices and other market indicators. The main goal of market risk management is the optimization of market risk level within the Group, compliance of the risk level with limits set and minimization of loss in case of unfavorable scenario realization.

The Group categorizes market risk into:

- **Currency risk** is the risk of losses or reduction of income due to fluctuations in the prevailing foreign currency exchange rates and/or precious metals exchange rates;
- Interest rate risk is the risk of losses or reduction of income due to fluctuations in interest rates;
- **Equity price risk** is the risk of losses or reduction of income due to changes in fair value of equity securities, for example, ordinary and preference shares;
- Commodity risk is the risk of losses or reduction of income due to changes in value of commodity assets, excluding precious metals;
- Volatility risk is the risk of losses or reduction of income due to changes in price volatility of underlying assets of financial instrument;
- Risk of market credit spread is the risk of losses or reduction in income due to changes in level of market credit spread.

For the purposes of market risk management the Group differentiates operations of Trading book and Banking book on the basis of origination purpose, authority of divisions involved in process of books' management, the associated composition of market risks, and approaches to management. Authority to manage the market risk are divided between Market Risk Committee (MRC) of the Bank and Assets and Liabilities Committee (ALCO) according to areas of responsibility (trading and non-trading operations).

Market risk management is carried out in accordance with the "Policy for managing market and credit risk operations on financial markets" and "Policy for managing interest rate and currency risk of the banking book".

Market risk on the operations on financial markets

Among credentials of MRC there is management over market risk of the trade operations on financial markets.

Market risks are controlled by monitoring of operations on foreign exchange and securities market by departments independent of trading divisions. Monitoring of market risks implies continual control over trading deals at all steps of operational process.

Market risk management of the trade operations in Group is performed through the system of authorized bodies, making decisions depending on risk level and portfolio hierarchy, such system allows to reach efficiency and flexibility of decision making.

The Group manages its market risks on a portfolio basis. Main management tool is the setting of market risk limits on individual portfolios. Portfolio consists of operations on financial markets with common characteristics, such as allowable risks, currency, types of instruments, restrictions used and others. Market risk limits are established in accordance with requirements of the Bank of Russia, the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision and best banking market risk management practices.

The Group derives following most important types of market risk of the trade operations.

Interest rate risk. The Group is exposed to interest rate risk on the Trading book due to changes in the value of debt securities and derivative financial instruments due to changes in interest rates.



34 Financial and Insurance Risk Management (continued)

To limit the interest rate risk on debt securities MRC, as well as staff authorized by MRC set limits on the securities portfolio structure by maturity, sensitivity limits to changes in interest rates, limits on maximum loss (stop-loss) and on the value at-risk (VaR) for operations with debt securities.

In order to limit interest rate risk on derivatives limits on maximum loss (stop-loss), on the value-at-risk (VaR), sensitivity limits to the changes in interest rates are set, as well as restrictions on types and maximum terms of derivative financial instruments.

Equity price risk. The Group is exposed to equity price risk through changes in fair value of corporate equity securities as well as its derivatives in case of Group having positions in them. In order to limit equity price risk the MRC and employees authorized by MRC set common position limits, limits on maximum loss (stop-loss), limits on the value-at-risk (VaR), sensitivity limits.

Currency risk. In order to limit the foreign exchange risk of financial market operations MRC as well as employees authorized by MRC set limits for open foreign exchange positions for all operations, limits on maximum loss (stoploss) which are sensitive to currency risk as well as limits on the value-at-risk (VaR).

Commodity risk. In order to limit commodity risk of Trading book MRC, as well as staff, authorized by MRC, limit the list of commercial products for trade in portfolio, set limits on the volume of investments in individual commodities, on maximum loss (stop-loss), on the value-at-risk (VaR).

The risk of market credit spread. The Group takes the risk of losses due to adverse changes in market prices on debt securities and derivative financial instruments, which current fair value depends on the market valuation of the credit quality of the issuer of debt securities / counterparty to the transaction. The Group manages its risk by setting limits on sensitivity to changes in market credit spread broken down by: currency of the asset, country of the issuer and maturity. Limits on maximum loss (stop-loss) and limits on the value-at-risk (VaR) are also set.

Volatility risk. The risk arises from the Group's position in options on underlying assets: currencies, interest rates, equities and commodities. For options limits are set on the stress test and sensitivity coefficients, depending on the underlying asset. Sensitivity of the second order are taken into account in the limit on the value-at-risk (VaR).

Value-at-Risk, Var. The VaR methodology is one of the main instruments of assessing market risk. This metric allows to estimate the maximum financial loss of the portfolio with a defined confidence level of probability and time horizon on a "normal" market. "Normal" market is characterized by the dynamics of the market factors (currency quotes / shares / commodities, interest rates) in the situation of the lack of a systemic crisis in the economy / banking sector of the country or group of countries, or the negative facts / events that can cause a significant change in market factors, and, consequently, the value of positions in financial instruments.

VaR is calculated using the following assumptions:

- range of the historical data used for calculations 2 years;
- VaR is calculated over a 10-day period, i.e. an average period when it is possible to close or hedge its positions exposed to market risk; and
- a 99% one-way confidence level is used, which means that losses in the amount exceeding VaR are expected maximum once every 100 periods.

VaR is subject to regular back-testing process at each portfolio level in accordance with the formal procedure, which is designed to meet requirements of the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision.

Despite the fact that VaR allows to measure risk, its shortcomings must be taken into account such as:

- past price fluctuations are not sufficient to assess accurately future price fluctuations;
- calculation over a 10-day period is based on the assumption that the Group will be able to close (or hedge) all positions within this period. This assessment may be far from accurate in measuring risk exposure at the time of reduced market liquidity, when the period of closing (or hedging) positions may increase;
- using 99% one-way confidence level of probability does not provide for estimating losses with a probability below 1%; and
- VaR is calculated based on end-of-day position and misses accepted intra-day risks.



34 Financial and Insurance Risk Management (continued)

Taking into account the shortcomings of the VaR methodology the Group applies scenario analysis and stress-testing to have a better understanding of market risk exposure.

The table below shows the types of risk calculation using the VaR methodology as at 31 December 2017:

	Value as at			
	31 December	Impact on	Impact on	
In billions of Russian Roubles	2017	equity	profit	
Interest rate risk	24.8	0.7%	3.3%	
Equity price risk	0.2	0.0%	0.0%	
Currency risk	5.8	0.2%	0.8%	
Commodity risk	0.2	0.0%	0.0%	
Market risk including diversification effect	29.6	0.9%	4.0%	
Diversification effect	1.4	0.0%	0.2%	

The table below shows the types of risk calculation using the VaR methodology as at 31 December 2016:

In billions of Russian Roubles	Value as at 31 December 2016	Impact on equity	Impact on
in billions of Russian Roubles	2016	equity	profit
Interest rate risk	37.5	1.3%	6.9%
Equity price risk	0.1	0.0%	0.0%
Currency risk	3.3	0.1%	0.6%
Commodity risk	0.1	0.0%	0.0%
Market risk including diversification effect	40.1	1.4%	7.4%
Diversification effect	0.9	0.0%	0.2%

Market risk on non-trading positions

The Group interest rate and currency risk of the banking book management is aimed to limit the negative impact of interest rate and currency risks of the banking book on the Group's operations and the Group's members.

The objectives of the interest rate and currency risks management are:

- provision of financial sustainability, limitation of possible financial losses and negative impact on the Group;
- compliance with requirements stated by the Bank of Russia and local regulators for the Group;
- limitation of interest rate and currency risk of the banking book by the means of defining appetite for interest rate and currency risk of the banking book and other limits for interest rate and currency risk of the banking book;
- supporting level of interest rate and currency risk of the banking book in terms of stated appetite for interest rate and currency risk of the banking book and other limits for interest rate and currency risk of the banking book.



34 Financial and Insurance Risk Management (continued)

Interest rate risk on non-trading assets and liabilities. The Group takes on interest rate risk on non-trading assets and liabilities (interest rate risk of the banking book) - the risk of financial losses due to adverse changes in interest rates. The risk includes:

- gap-risk resulting from the mismatch of maturities and/or interest rate repricing of banking book assets
 and liabilities which is realized in case of adverse changes in interest rates (interest rate level changes, for
 example, parallel shift of interest rate curve) and/or interest rate term structure (change in curve
 shape/slope, i.e. non-parallel shift of interest rate curve);
- basic risk resulting from using different interest rate indexes for pricing of various banking book financial
 instruments (for example, using MosPrime rate for loans and Ruonia rate for deposits) which is realized in
 case of unequal change of different interest rate indexes or unequal change of interest rates on different
 financial instruments markets (interbank market, market of corporate deposits, market of retail deposits);
- option risk resulting from options built-in bank products of banking book i.e. conditions when bank or
 client can change the amount or terms of cash flows which are realized in case of options exercise. Optional
 risk in its turn includes risk of automatic option (for example, cap and floor options) and risk of change in
 customer behavior (in particular, preschedule loan repayment, preschedule deposit withdrawal, reduction
 in balances of demand accounts, credit line drawdown);
- **risk of banking book instruments revaluation** resulting from change in fair value of banking book instruments accounted at current fair value and corresponding decrease of financial result and/or capital which is realized in case of adverse change in interest rates used for determination of fair value of such instruments.

Interest rate risk is assessed using the standardized shock in accordance with Basel Committee for Banking Supervision recommendations. Forecasting of possible changes in interest rates is carried out separately for Russian rouble and foreign currencies.

The table below shows the impact on annual net interest income of shocks in interest rates as at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016. Change in net interest income is calculated as revaluation of assets and liabilities with expected maturity of less than one year.

	Decrease in in	terest rates	Increase in interest rates		
•	31 December	31 December	31 December	31 December	
	2017	2016	2017	2016	
Russian Rouble					
Change in interest rates, bps	(400)	(400)	400	400	
Change in net interest income, billions of Russian Roubles	116.6	100.3	(116.6)	(100.3)	
Turkish Lyra					
Change in interest rates, bps	(400)	(400)	400	400	
Change in net interest income, billions of Russian Roubles	13.8	20.6	(13.8)	(20.6)	
US Dollar					
Change in interest rates, bps	(200)	(200)	200	200	
Change in net interest income, billions of Russian Roubles	(7.4)	(8.8)	7.4	8.8	
Euro					
Change in interest rates, bps	(200)	(200)	200	200	
Change in net interest income, billions of Russian Roubles	(3.6)	(4.1)	3.6	4.1	

As part of the interest rate risk management in the Group's business plan for 2018 there are the target position on the interest rate risk in Russian Roubles and targets for the volume and maturity structure of the core assets and liabilities to ensure the achievement of the target interest position. Reporting of interest rate risk and interest position management issues are reviewed regularly by Sberbank committee for assets and liabilities management (ALCO).



34 Financial and Insurance Risk Management (continued)

Currency risk of non-trading assets and liabilities.

The Group is exposed to currency risk on non-trading assets and liabilities, or the foreign currency exchange rate risk of the banking book, due to the impact of the operations of the banking book on the open currency position (OCP). The main sources of foreign currency exchange risk of the banking book are:

- provisioning for impairment of the loans nominated in foreign currencies;
- restructuring of the loans resulting in a debt currency change;
- income and expenses in foreign currencies.

Limits of open currency positions are set to limit currency risk for the Bank units and subsidiaries.

The Bank's Treasury consolidates the Group's total open foreign currency position and takes measures to reduce foreign currency exchange exposure on the banking book transactions on a daily basis.

Methodology of valuation

To assess the interest rate and currency risks of the banking book the Group mainly uses the following metrics:

- change in economic value of equity (ΔΕVΕ) change of net present value of banking book cash flows in terms of stated interest rate change (parallel or non-parallel shift of interest rate curve); EVE change is used for valuation of interest rate risk impact on theoretical banking book value in view of residual terms of all balance and off-balance assets and liabilities, i.e. in long term;
- change in net interest income in terms of stated change in rates (parallel or non-parallel shift of interest rate curve) on a given time horizon; change in net interest income is used for valuation of interest rate risk impact on financial result (income/loss) of the Bank in the short term (up to year) and in the midterm (as a rule, up to 3 years);
- change in fair value (ΔFV) change in fair value of banking book instruments accounted by current fair value in terms of stated change in rates, used for calculation of current fair value of such instruments;
- regulatory OCP reflects the structure of open positions by the currencies for the Group and the Group members which is calculated in accordance with the requirements of the Bank of Russia;
- economic OCP reflects the sensitivity of profit before tax to foreign currency exchange rate changes;
- economic capital is required to cover the possible negative impact of changes in interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates on equity in the stress scenario.

The risk of a market credit spread of securities of the banking book

The risk of a market credit spread of securities of the banking book (RCSBB) is the risk of losses or a decrease in capital due to a fall in market prices of debt securities of the banking book, measured at current fair value and classified as "available-for-sale" (hereinafter referred to as the AFS Portfolio), as a result of an adverse change market credit spreads.

The objectives of managing the RCSBB

Ensuring financial stability, limiting possible financial losses and negative impact of the RCSBB on the Group.



34 Financial and Insurance Risk Management (continued)

The Metrics Used

To assess the RCSBB, the Value-at-Risk metric (VaR) is used, which is an estimate of the maximum loss in the fair value of securities in the AFS Portfolio, as a result of changes in market credit spreads over a given period of time with a given probability (confidence level).

To calculate the VaR for the RCSBB, the Monte Carlo method is used, with the following assumptions used:

- the nominal value and structure (including the composition of issuers) of the AFS Portfolio are assumed to be unchanged;
- the fair value of the debt securities of the AFS Portfolio at the beginning and at the end of the specified period of time is modeled using the discounted cash flow method;
- all cash flows of the AFS Portfolio are included in the calculation;
- the rate which is used for discounted cash flow method for every debt security includes a risk-free rate and a market credit spread;
- risk-free rates are assumed to be unchanged;
- the issuer's internal rating at the end of a specified period of time is determined taking into account the migration models of credit ratings.

Economic capital

To assess the level of the RCSBB, economic capital is used, which is an estimate of the maximum loss in the fair value of securities in the AFS Portfolio, as a result of changes in market credit spreads over a given period of time (one year) with a given probability (99.8%). Simulation of losses is based on the Monte Carlo method.

The corresponding VaR value is used as the economic capital of the RCSBB.



34 Financial and Insurance Risk Management (continued)

The table below summarizes the Group's exposure to foreign exchange risk in respect of financial assets, liabilities and derivatives as at 31 December 2017. Foreign exchange risk on forward and futures contracts is represented by their discounted positions. Foreign exchange options are disclosed in the amount that reflects theoretical sensitivity of their fair value to reasonable change in exchange rates. Commodity options are shown at their fair value in relative settlement currency. Equity instruments are classified based on the country of origin of issuer.

in billions of Russian Roubles	Russian Roubles	US Dollars	Euro	Turkish Lyra	Other	Total
	Roubles	US Dollars	Euro	TUTKISH LYTA	Other	iotai
Assets	4 445 0	457.0	200.5	22.2	4047	
Cash and cash equivalents	1,415.2	457.9	299.6	32.0	124.7	2,329.4
Mandatory cash balances with central						
banks	158.9	117.8	45.4	30.0	75.0	427.1
Financial assets at fair value through						
profit or loss (less fair value of						
derivatives)	442.1	59.5	7.2	1.2	3.2	513.2
Due from banks	1,089.5	107.3	45.3	9.1	66.6	1,317.8
Loans and advances to customers	12,241.7	3,483.6	1,436.0	872.2	454.6	18,488.1
Securities pledged under repurchase						
agreements	191.0	8.0	1.1	57.7	1.1	258.9
Investment securities available-for-sale	1,227.3	309.9	106.7	50.8	49.0	1,743.7
Investment securities held-to-maturity	398.7	300.7	19.9	34.3	20.0	773.6
Other financial assets	154.0	34.3	35.9	9.7	19.2	253.1
Total financial assets	17,318.4	4,879.0	1,997.1	1,097.0	813.4	26,104.9
Liabilities						
Due to banks	395.2	111.3	142.7	4.0	40.1	693.3
Due to individuals	9,571.8	1,950.4	1,180.5	431.9	285.7	13,420.3
Due to corporate customers	2,901.0	2,459.5	498.6	257.8	277.0	6,393.9
Debt securities in issue	517.5	260.4	97.7	45.9	13.1	934.6
Other borrowed funds	0.2	145.4	66.0	23.2	12.5	247.3
Financial liabilities at fair value through						
profit or loss other than debt securities						
in issue (less fair value of derivatives)	10.8	19.4	0.3	_	0.4	30.9
Other financial liabilities	194.2	26.5	24.5	36.6	8.1	289.9
Subordinated debt	506.2	205.2	0.6	_	4.3	716.3
Total financial liabilities	14,096.9	5,178.1	2,010.9	799.4	641.2	22,726.5
Net financial assets/(liabilities)	3,221.5	(299.1)	(13.8)	297.6	172.2	3,378.4
Net derivatives	(137.7)	341.2	(46.6)	(126.0)	(23.5)	7.4
Credit related commitments and performance guarantees before provision for impairment (Note 35)	3,145.4	629.1	412.1	633.4	125.9	4,945.9



34 Financial and Insurance Risk Management (continued)

The table below summarizes the Group's exposure to foreign exchange risk in respect of financial assets, liabilities and derivatives as at 31 December 2016.

in billions of Russian Roubles	Russian Roubles	US Dollars	Euro	Turkish Lyra	Other	Total
Assets				•		
Cash and cash equivalents	1,639.0	472.6	264.4	67.0	117.8	2,560.8
Mandatory cash balances with central	•					•
banks	154.9	113.9	57.9	24.2	51.1	402.0
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (less fair value of						
derivatives)	346.6	46.5	0.4	1.8	3.6	398.9
Due from banks	620.7	227.0	46.8	0.1	70.8	965.4
Loans and advances to customers	11,082.3	3,957.0	1,160.4	791.1	370.5	17,361.3
Securities pledged under repurchase						
agreements	16.1	0.3	0.5	96.8	0.2	113.9
Investment securities available-for-sale	1,032.1	380.1	144.4	27.7	74.6	1,658.9
Investment securities held-to-maturity	300.5	200.3	13.1	26.5	5.4	545.8
Other financial assets	204.2	52.8	42.9	10.6	4.0	314.5
Total financial assets	15,396.4	5,450.5	1,730.8	1,045.8	698.0	24,321.5
Liabilities						
Due to banks	230.0	108.8	165.6	25.5	32.0	561.9
Due to individuals	8,672.0	1,924.5	1,231.0	359.9	262.2	12,449.6
Due to corporate customers	2,676.6	2,488.1	535.0	312.4	223.1	6,235.2
Debt securities in issue	572.3	414.5	97.8	45.4	31.0	1,161.0
Other borrowed funds	_	151.9	70.6	25.9	13.0	261.4
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss other than debt securities						
in issue (less fair value of derivatives)	13.7	16.5	0.8	_	0.2	31.2
Other financial liabilities	224.8	28.7	13.0	39.3	6.8	312.6
Subordinated debt	506.3	227.6	0.6	_	5.4	739.9
Total financial liabilities	12,895.7	5,360.6	2,114.4	808.4	573.7	21,752.8
Net financial assets/(liabilities)	2,500.7	89.9	(383.6)	237.4	124.3	2,568.7
Net derivatives	(84.1)	(147.5)	397.4	(68.4)	(72.5)	24.9
Credit related commitments and performance guarantees before provision for impairment	2.704.2	000.1	207.7	CF4.4	07.5	4.750.0
(Note 35)	2,704.2	908.1	397.7	651.1	97.5	4,758.6

The Group provides loans and advances to customers in foreign currency. Fluctuations of foreign currency exchange rates may negatively affect the ability of borrowers to repay loans, which will in turn increase the probability of loan loss.



34 Financial and Insurance Risk Management (continued)

Liquidity risk. Liquidity risk is defined as the risk of inability of the Group to finance its performance, i.e. to ensure the growth of assets and/or fulfill its obligations as far as they arise on the condition of compliance to the requirements of the local regulator in the normal course of business as well as during stress situations.

The Group is subject to the liquidity risk since it does not maintain cash resources to meet one-time fulfillment of all of its obligations. Instead of that the Group performs an assessment of sufficient level of cash and liquidity reserves necessary for the fulfillment of obligations at a different time horizons on the basis of current market situation, a forecast of the future dynamics of items in the statement of financial position and accumulated historical data.

To minimize the liquidity risk the Group:

- maintains a stable and diversified liabilities structure including resources attracted from different groups of investors and clients in term instruments as well as on demand accounts;
- invests in highly liquid / liquid financial assets diversified by currencies and maturities for quick and effective coverage of unexpected gaps in liquidity;
- controls the usage of the current liquidity reserves and initiates an increase in those reserves in case of need;
- maintains cooperation with counterparties on financial markets to have an opportunity to attract funds in a short period of time in case of need.

Policy and Procedures. The Bank's Treasury performs analysis and forecasts and advices Management on regulation of short-term, medium-term and long-term liquidity to satisfy Group members' needs. Liquidity position and execution of requirements on managing the liquidity risk are controlled by the ALMC of the Bank. Liquidity risk is assessed, managed and controlled on the basis of "Policy for liquidity risk management of Sberbank Group" and the guidelines of the Bank of Russia, local regulators and the Basel Committee for Banking Supervision. The Bank performs control and management over liquidity on the Group level including the coordination of all external borrowings of the Group members in order to minimize the cost of funding and taking into the account the current macroeconomic environment and market conditions.

The managing bodies of banking subsidiaries are responsible for efficient managing and controlling the liquidity of banking subsidiaries. They are also responsible for monitoring limits and controls required by the Group's internal regulations and the requirements of local regulators. Assessment, management and control of banking subsidiaries liquidity risk are performed in accordance with unified Group standards.

Group liquidity risk management is based on the initiative of the Bank of Russia, local regulators and the recommendations of the Basel Committee for Banking Supervision in the field of liquidity risk assessment and management instruments:

- forecasting key balance sheet line items of Group members by major currencies to ensure the necessary volume of liquid assets to cover liquidity deficit and liquidity requirements stated by local regulators;
- forecasting assets and liabilities structure for different scenarios of Group balance development to control
 the required volume of liquid assets in medium-term and long-term perspective in the context of funding
 planning;
- control and forecast of the main liquidity ratios determined by "The Standard of Sberbank Group for liquidity risk-metrics calculation";
- set up limits for risk metrics of the individual Group members as well as the Group in a whole including but not limited to components of risk appetite;
- stress-testing of liquidity profile by analysis of different scenarios and stress phases as well as planning activities to maintain the required liquidity level during crisis.



34 Financial and Insurance Risk Management (continued)

The tables below show distribution of undiscounted contractual cash flows (taking into account future interest payments) on liabilities by remaining contractual maturities.

The analysis of undiscounted cash flows as at 31 December 2017 is set out below:

In billions of Russian Roubles	On demand and less than 1 month	From 1 to 6 months	From 6 to	From 1 to 3 years	More than 3 years	Total
·	1 111011111	0 months	12 1110111113	3 years	3 years	Total
Liabilities						
Due to banks	455.9	78.0	56.9	106.1	21.3	718.2
Due to individuals	4,533.0	5,315.1	1,380.0	2,209.9	211.7	13,649.7
Due to corporate customers	4,083.0	989.2	461.2	693.5	282.7	6,509.6
Debt securities in issue	116.1	301.0	118.2	313.7	167.4	1,016.4
Other borrowed funds	50.6	99.3	67.5	24.6	37.6	279.6
Gross settled derivatives:						
- inflows	(948.7)	(439.9)	(86.1)	(156.6)	(162.1)	(1,793.4)
- outflows	965.0	466.5	98.6	188.3	164.0	1,882.4
Net settled derivatives	9.7	18.3	14.5	31.3	10.2	84.0
Other financial liabilities	227.0	28.3	17.9	15.2	1.6	290.0
Subordinated debt	_	16.9	41.5	536.6	243.8	838.8
Total liabilities	9,491.6	6,872.7	2,170.2	3,962.6	978.2	23,475.3
Credit related commitments and performance guarantees before						
provision	4,945.9	_	_	_	_	4,945.9

The analysis of undiscounted cash flows as at 31 December 2016 is set out below:

	On demand and less than	From 1 to	From 6 to	From 1 to	More than	
In billions of Russian Roubles	1 month	6 months	12 months	3 years	3 years	Total
Liabilities						
Due to banks	330.4	83.3	11.2	115.8	40.8	581.5
Due to individuals	3,773.2	4,707.8	2,170.2	1,871.0	198.8	12,721.0
Due to corporate customers	3,954.1	843.6	559.8	892.0	89.8	6,339.3
Debt securities in issue	125.2	487.3	156.5	305.9	192.0	1,266.9
Other borrowed funds	38.5	98.1	45.8	54.1	32.2	268.7
Gross settled derivatives:						
- inflows	(629.4)	(461.1)	(74.6)	(125.7)	(53.4)	(1,344.2)
- outflows	639.8	504.6	87.2	168.9	61.4	1,461.9
Net settled derivatives	5.8	6.3	21.9	23.8	9.0	66.8
Other financial liabilities	252.2	33.0	24.6	1.4	1.8	313.0
Subordinated debt	0.1	9.3	46.7	609.5	247.8	913.4
Total liabilities	8,489.9	6,312.2	3,049.3	3,916.7	820.2	22,588.3
Credit related commitments and performance guarantees before						
provision	4,758.6	_	_	_	_	4,758.6



34 Financial and Insurance Risk Management (continued)

Principles that are used to analyse liquidity position presentation and manage the Group liquidity risk management are based on the Bank's of Russia prudential initiatives and the Bank's practice:

- cash and cash equivalents represent highly liquid assets and are classified as "On demand and less than 1 month";
- trading securities, securities designated as at fair value through profit or loss and highly liquid portion of
 investment securities available-for-sale are considered to be liquid assets as these securities could be easily
 converted into cash within short period of time. Such financial instruments are disclosed in the analysis of
 liquidity position as "on demand and less than 1 month";
- investment securities available-for-sale which are less liquid are disclosed according to remaining contractual maturities (for debt instruments) or as "No stated maturity / overdue" (for equities);
- investment securities held-to-maturity including those pledged under repurchase agreements are classified based on the remaining contractual maturities;
- highly liquid portion of securities pledged under repurchase agreements is disclosed based on the remaining maturities of repurchase agreements;
- loans and advances to customers, amounts due from banks, other assets, debt securities in issue, amounts due to banks, other borrowed funds and other liabilities are included into analysis of liquidity position based on remaining contractual maturities (for loans and advances to customers "No stated maturity / overdue" category represents only actual payments which were overdue);
- term deposits of individuals are not disclosed as "On demand and less than 1 month" in full amount although individuals have a right to withdraw money from any account, including term deposits, before maturity date, losing the right to accrued interest;
- diversification of balances due to individuals and corporate customers by number and type of depositors
 and the past experience of the Group indicate that such balances provide a long-term and stable source of
 funding irrespective of their contractual maturities. As a result in the analysis of liquidity position balances
 due to individuals and corporate customers are allocated on the basis of expected time of funds outflow
 which is based on statistical data accumulated by the Group during the previous periods and assumptions
 regarding the "permanent" part of current account balances;
- assets and liabilities other than those discussed above are generally classified on the basis of their remaining contractual maturities.

From 1 January 2017 the Bank improved the methodology for the allocation of amounts due to individuals and corporate customers among time bands for the purposes of liquidity risk management. Comparative information as at 31 December 2016 was changed accordingly.



34 Financial and Insurance Risk Management (continued)

The analysis of liquidity position of the Group's assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2017 is set out below.

	On demand and less					No -4-4-d	
	and less than	From 1 to	From 6 to	From 1 to	More than	No stated maturity/	
in billions of Russian Roubles	1 month	6 months	12 months	3 years	3 years	overdue	Total
Assets				•	-		
Cash and cash equivalents	2,329.4	_	_	_	_	_	2,329.4
Mandatory cash balances with	_/						_,
central banks	185.7	99.4	40.8	37.9	63.3	_	427.1
Financial assets at fair value through							
profit or loss	530.9	24.0	27.8	43.6	27.8	_	654.1
Due from banks	926.1	137.5	237.3	11.6	4.1	1.2	1,317.8
Loans and advances to customers	905.8	1,836.0	2,090.1	5,089.6	7,974.6	592.0	18,488.1
Securities pledged under repurchase		•	·	-	•		•
agreements	222.8	15.2	_	_	20.9	_	258.9
Investment securities available-for-							
sale	1,655.3	6.9	5.6	35.5	38.6	1.8	1,743.7
Investment securities held-to-	,						•
maturity	16.4	65.9	46.9	185.2	459.2	_	773.6
Deferred tax asset	_	_	_	_	_	15.5	15.5
Premises and equipment	_	_	_	_	_	516.2	516.2
Assets of the disposal groups and							
non-current assets held for sale	_	10.5	_	_	_	_	10.5
Other assets	202.4	44.3	53.6	46.6	28.6	201.8	577.3
Total assets	6,974.8	2,239.7	2,502.1	5,450.0	8,617.1	1,328.5	27,112.2
Liabilities							
Due to banks	455.4	76.5	47.4	93.6	20.4	_	693.3
Due to individuals	2,998.1	4,671.2	1,655.1	1,334.7	2,761.2	_	13,420.3
Due to corporate customers	1,757.5	850.4	416.3	611.0	2,758.7	_	6,393.9
Debt securities in issue	115.7	292.0	110.8	278.3	137.8	_	934.6
Other borrowed funds	44.6	82.0	66.7	19.0	35.0	_	247.3
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss other than							
debt securities in issue	53.8	34.0	20.9	41.9	13.8	_	164.4
Deferred tax liability	-	J4.0 —	20.5	41. 5	-	27.7	27.7
Other liabilities	223.2	73.4	37.2	107.8	559.3	77.5	1,078.4
Subordinated debt	0.1	16.6	39.1	493.4	167.1	_	716.3
Total liabilities	5,648.4	6,096.1	2,393.5	2,979.7	6,453.3	105.2	23,676.2
Net liquidity gap	1,326.4	(3,856.4)	108.6	2,470.3	2,163.8	1,223.3	3,436.0
Cumulative liquidity gap as at							
31 December 2017	1,326.4	(2,530.0)	(2,421.4)	48.9	2,212.7	3,436.0	_



34 Financial and Insurance Risk Management (continued)

The analysis of liquidity position of the Group's assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2016 is set out below.

	On demand and less					No stated	
	than	From 1 to	From 6 to	From 1 to	More than	maturity/	
in billions of Russian Roubles	1 month	6 months	12 months	3 years	3 years	overdue	Total
Assets							
Cash and cash equivalents	2,560.8	_	_	_	_	_	2,560.8
Mandatory cash balances with							
central banks	167.7	72.3	35.8	103.1	23.1	_	402.0
Financial assets at fair value through							
profit or loss	414.4	39.5	57.0	64.1	30.5	_	605.5
Due from banks	436.7	471.0	28.0	29.2	0.5	_	965.4
Loans and advances to customers	796.9	1,615.1	1,986.9	5,137.9	7,507.1	317.4	17,361.3
Securities pledged under repurchase							
agreements	80.4	1.5	0.1	4.3	27.6	_	113.9
Investment securities available-for-							
sale	1,607.4	19.1	8.1	5.9	17.2	1.2	1,658.9
Investment securities held-to-							
maturity	3.3	88.6	30.1	132.8	291.0	_	545.8
Deferred tax asset	_	_	_	_	_	13.9	13.9
Premises and equipment	_	_	_	_	_	482.9	482.9
Assets of the disposal groups and							
non-current assets held for sale	5.8	_	_	_	_	_	5.8
Other assets	355.4	39.8	44.7	10.5	27.2	174.7	652.3
Total assets	6,428.8	2,346.9	2,190.7	5,487.8	7,924.2	990.1	25,368.5
Liabilities							
Due to banks	330.3	82.1	10.6	101.2	37.7	_	561.9
Due to individuals	2,243.1	4,965.0	2,096.7	1,081.1	2,063.7	_	12,449.6
Due to corporate customers	1,794.7	737.1	488.1	791.2	2,424.1	_	6,235.2
Debt securities in issue	121.7	477.8	144.5	270.4	146.6	_	1,161.0
Other borrowed funds	37.0	95.8	43.8	49.9	34.9	_	261.4
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss other than							
debt securities in issue	55.7	44.4	33.8	66.5	12.5	_	212.9
Deferred tax liability	_	_	_	_	_	55.1	55.1
Liabilities of the disposal groups	0.8	_	_	_	_	_	0.8
Other liabilities	270.8	48.7	46.9	30.9	436.9	34.9	869.1
Subordinated debt	0.1	8.4	44.5	509.7	177.2	_	739.9
Total liabilities	4,854.2	6,459.3	2,908.9	2,900.9	5,333.6	90.0	22,546.9
Net liquidity gap	1,574.6	(4,112.4)	(718.2)	2,586.9	2,590.6	900.1	2,821.6
Cumulative liquidity gap as at 31 December 2016	1,574.6	(2,537.8)	(3,256.0)	(669.1)	1,921.5	2,821.6	_



34 Financial and Insurance Risk Management (continued)

Insurance risk. The main risks that the Group is exposed to are as follows:

- Mortality risk risk of loss arising due to policyholder death experience being different than expected;
- Morbidity risk risk of loss arising due to policyholder health experience being different than expected;
- Longevity risk risk of loss arising due to the annuitant living longer than expected;
- Investment return risk risk of loss arising from actual returns being different than expected;
- Expense risk risk of loss arising from expense experience being different than expected;
- Policyholder, depositors and insured persons decision risk risk of loss arising due to policyholder, depositors and insured persons experiences (lapses and surrenders) being different than expected;
- Insufficient provisioning risk risk arising due to insufficient amount of created provisions to cover insurance contract liabilities;
- Incorrect tariffication risk risk arising due to possibility of deviation of the final amount of payments under the insurance contracts from the assessment of these payments made in course of tariffs set up.

The key assumptions to which the estimation of liabilities is particularly sensitive are as follows:

Mortality and morbidity rates

Assumptions are based on standard industry and national tables, according to the type of contract written and the territory in which the insured person resides. They reflect recent historical experience and are adjusted when appropriate to reflect the Group's own experiences. An appropriate, but not excessive, prudent allowance is made for expected future improvements. Assumptions are differentiated by sex, underwriting class and contract type. An increase in rates will lead to a larger number of claims (and claims could occur sooner than anticipated), which will increase the expenditure and reduce profits for the shareholders.

Longevity

Assumptions are based on standard industry and national tables, adjusted when appropriate to reflect the Group's own risk experience. An appropriate but not excessive prudent allowance is made for expected future improvements. Assumptions are differentiated by sex, underwriting class and contract type. An increase in longevity rates will lead to an increase in the number of annuity payments made, which will increase the expenditure and reduce profits for the shareholders.

Investment return

The weighted average rate of return is derived based on a model portfolio that is assumed to back liabilities, consistent with the long-term asset allocation strategy. These estimates are based on current market returns as well as expectations about future economic and financial developments. An increase in investment return would lead to an increase in profits for the shareholders.

Expenses

Operating expenses assumptions reflect the projected costs of maintaining and servicing in-force contracts and associated overhead expenses. The current level of expenses is taken as an appropriate expense base, adjusted for expected expense inflation if appropriate. An increase in the level of expenses would result in an increase in expenditure thereby reducing profits for the shareholders.

• Lapse and surrender rates

Lapses relate to the termination of policies due to non–payment of premiums. Surrenders relate to the voluntary termination of agreement by policyholders, depositors and insured persons. Policy termination assumptions are determined using statistical measures based on the Group's experience and vary by product type and contract duration as well as sales trends for insurance contracts. An increase in lapse rates early in the life of the policy would tend to reduce profits for shareholders, but later increases are broadly neutral in effect.



34 Financial and Insurance Risk Management (continued)

Discount rate

Life insurance liabilities are determined as the sum of the discounted value of the expected benefits and future administration expenses directly related to the contract, less the discounted value of the expected theoretical premiums that would be required to meet these future cash outflows. In relation to pension contracts on each reporting date liabilities adequacy test is made which implies that the Group takes into account all the future discounted cash flows stipulated by the contract (including future receipts in the form of contributions, payment of pensions, redemption amounts and payments to legal successors), and other relevant cash flows, such as expenses on contracts administration, on embedded guarantees as well as investment income on assets which guarantee these liabilities. Discount rates are based on current industry risk rates and interest rates on Russian federal loan bonds (OFZ bonds), adjusted for the Group's own risk. A decrease in the discount rate will increase the value of the life insurance liabilities and may lead to the increase in pension contracts liabilities.

• Minimal interest guarantees

According to the current legislation the Group has a liability for at least zero rate interest return on assets covering pension contribution received from Pension Fund of the Russian Federation, non-state pension funds and from depositors under the programme of non-state pension provisions. Financial responsibility of the Group will include non-negative investment return over assets covering pension liabilities during each five years period of contract term starting from 1 January 2015.

• Actuarial assumptions on other than life insurance

To determine insurance tariffs, liabilities and assumptions actuarial judgements are used in relation to parameters which influence the amount of insurance provisions, initial data and valuation methods used. For insurance contracts portfolio for which the probability theory was used in relation to pricing and provisioning, the insufficient provisioning risk means that actual losses may exceed balance value of insurance liabilities. This may occur if frequency or average amount of losses exceed the estimated level calculated by statistical methods. Actuarial assumptions used by the Group are analysed regularly to provide realistic and reasonable valuation of insurance contracts liabilities. The criteria for adequacy of insurance statistics are reviewed periodically based on required level of confidence interval of error.

Sensitivity analysis

The following analyses the possible changes in the key assumptions used in the calculation of insurance liabilities under contracts of life insurance and investment life insurance contracts, provided that the other assumptions are constant. This analysis reflects the impact on gross and net liabilities, profit before tax and equity of the Group. Correlation of the assumptions has a significant impact on the procedure for determining final liability for claims, however, to demonstrate the impact due to changes the assumptions need to be changed individually. Changes in the assumptions are not linear. Sensitivity of the information will also vary depending on the current economic assumptions.

Effect of changes in the key assumptions as at 31 December 2017:

in billions of Russian Roubles	Change of assumptions	Increase/ (decrease) in gross liabilities	Increase/ (decrease) in net liabilities	Increase/ (decrease) in profit before tax	Increase/ (decrease) in equity
Mortality/morbidity	-10%	(0.3)	(0.3)	0.3	0.2
Mortality/morbidity	+10%	0.3	0.3	(0.3)	(0.2)
Expenses	-10%	(0.2)	(0.2)	0.2	0.2
Expenses	+10%	0.2	0.2	(0.2)	(0.2)
Discount rate	-1%	5.5	5.5	(5.5)	(4.4)
Discount rate	+1%	(5.9)	(5.9)	5.9	4.7



34 Financial and Insurance Risk Management (continued)

Effect of changes in the key assumptions as at 31 December 2016:

in billions of Russian Roubles	Change of assumptions	Increase/ (decrease) in gross liabilities	Increase/ (decrease) in net liabilities	Increase/ (decrease) in profit before tax	Increase/ (decrease) in equity
Mortality/morbidity	-10%	0.1	0.1	(0.1)	(0.1)
Mortality/morbidity	+10%	(0.1)	(0.1)	0.1	0.1
Expenses	-10%	(0.2)	(0.2)	0.2	0.2
Expenses	+10%	0.2	0.2	(0.2)	(0.2)
Discount rate	-1%	3.1	3.1	(3.1)	(2.5)
Discount rate	+1%	(3.2)	(3.2)	3.2	2.6

Sensitivity of pension liabilities to the changes in actuarial assumptions is not relevant since these changes in assumptions do not lead to deficit as a result of liabilities adequacy test.

Operational Risk. Operational risk is the risk of Group losses caused by defects of internal processes, functioning of informational systems, unapproved/unlawful actions or mistakes of employees as well as due to external events.

Operational risk management system is defined by the Policy for operational risk management and aimed at prevention of such risk or maximum possible decrease of potential loss danger (direct and/or related) connected to internal process organization and external factors (events), measurement of operational risk for the calculation of required regulatory and economic capital as well as generation of adequate system of internal control.

Operational risk management process in Group includes following basic phases:

- operational risk identification;
- operational risk assessment;
- analysis of problem zones of processes, development of solution and decision-making concerning optimization / change in processes in order to decrease operational risk level;
- operational risk monitoring;
- control and/or decrease of operational risk.

In order to perform the phases mentioned above such operational risk management instruments as collection of internal data concerning losses caused by the realization of operational risk incidents, self-appraisal of departments and scenario analysis for operational risks are integrated in the Group.

Risk-coordinators were appointed in all organization departments of the Bank and group members who are employees whose composition of functions includes interaction with operational risk departments concerning questions of identification, measurement, monitoring and control over operational risk. In particular risk-coordinators inform about realized incidents of operational risk as well as measure potential risks during self-appraisal.

In order to monitor operational risk the Group uses the system of reports for the management and collegial bodies, involved in risk management process. Operational risk reporting is formed on daily, monthly and quarterly basis.

Evaluation of risk data and incurred losses allow to identify areas of risk concentration for further development of measures which reduce the Group's risk level. In 2017 Bank continued to implement measures to reduce risks. These activities are aimed at both modification of the existing processes and technologies of the transactions and increase in employees discipline. Risk of theft of funds from customer's accounts, risk of theft of self-service machines and cash inside them, risk of errors of personnel when analysing applications of corporate clients on loan grant are reduced. Regular monitoring of the status of the measures implementation and the level of residual risk is performed by both the structural units and the operational risk departments, as well as by the management and collegial bodies of the management of the Bank and the Group members.



34 Financial and Insurance Risk Management (continued)

In order to prevent or/and decrease losses arised from operational risk the Group has developed and used mechanisms and procedures such as overall reglamentation of business-processes and procedures, segregation of duties, rules and procedures for deals and transactions execution, control over credit limit discipline, action plan for information security, continuity, improvement of an audit procedures and quality control over performance of automatized systems and hardware complex, property and assets insurance, ongoing professional development of staff across the Group's hierarchy, etc.

Compliance Risk. Compliance risk is the risk of legal or other regulator bodies' sanctions, material finance loss or loss to reputation the Bank or Group member may suffer as a result of its failure to comply with laws, regulations, rules, related self-regulatory organization standards and code of conduct applicable to its banking activities.

The Group's main focus areas in the compliance risk management are as follows:

- prevention of abuse of authority and corruption of the Group employees;
- avoidance and regulation of conflicts of interest which appear in the Group normal course of activity;
- anti-money laundering and financing of terrorism;
- compliance with financial markets license and other regulations;
- market behavior and fair play compliance during the global market trading, prevention of unfair business practice (insider trading, price manipulation and etc.);
- compliance with economic sanctions and restrictions set up by the Russian Federation, other countries and international organizations;
- assurance of customer rights, including investment activity.

As a result of work in those areas Group has developed and approved internal compliance documents and control procedures. Compliance control is organized consistently with involvement of all Group employees and is performed continuously.

Among the key events in the area of compliance risk management in 2017 were the following:

- Compliance management system of the Bank met the requirements of the quality standards ISO 19600:2014 and ISO 37001:2016 set by International Compliance Association;
- Training courses on areas of compliance were organized (share of employees who completed the courses exceeds 90%);
- Improved scoring procedures for compliance risk on client transactions performed via the Bank's system were introduced;
- Actions were realized on bringing to accord activities on financial markets in accordance with the
 requirements of European directive on financial markets operations (MIFID II), European anti-moneylaundering legislation (4 EU AML Directive), Regulation of the European Union "On counteraction to unfair
 practices on financial markets";
- Large-scale internal communication program for all the employees of the Bank was performed aimed at
 upgrading the level of awareness of employees on methods and ways of disclosure of information on
 intentions or facts of corruption, principals of "Hot channel of compliance" as well as level of involvement
 of employees and their responsibility for prevention of corrupt practices;
- Matrices on valuation of compliance risk for all the sectors of compliance are developed and introduced;
- Minimum compliance requirements for the members of the Group are developed and introduced.
 Collection, processing and analysis of the information received from the members of the Group is performed;
- Preparation for implementation of new regulations on identification of foreign tax residents to meet the requirements of Common Reporting Standards (CRS) is completed.



35 Contingencies and Commitments

Legal proceedings. From time to time and in the normal course of business, claims against the Group are received. On the basis of its own estimates and internal professional advice the Management is of the opinion that no material losses will be incurred in respect of the claims in excess of the amounts already provided for in these consolidated financial statements. For the movements in the provision for legal claims refer to Note 22.

Moscow Prosecutor's office filed a claim in the Moscow Arbitration Court against the Bank and a customer of the Bank (together - parties) to void the derivative deals concluded between the parties. The Bank's management examined the circumstances of the case, the existing documentation and the Bank estimates the outflow of resources on this lawsuit as possible. In relation to this claim the Group booked a provision in the amount of expected losses.

PPF Management LLC filed a claim in the US District Court of the Southern District of New York against the Bank for reimbursement of damages in the amount of USD 750 million caused according to the plaintiff by withdrawal of shares of OJSC Pavlovskgranit from the owner. The Bank acted strictly in accordance with the Russian legislation and in the best interest of the Bank's shareholders during the recovery of the non-performing loan, which is confirmed by subsequent decisions in the courts of the Russian Federation. In accordance with the decision of the Bankruptcy Court of the Southern District of New York dated 31 July 2017 the bankruptcy procedure against S.P. Poymanov (former shareholder of OJSC Pavlovskgranit) which was initiated and put into force on the territory of the Russian Federation, was recognized in the United States; financial manager of S.P. Poymanov was declared as his authorized representative. Also, on 31 July 2017 Arbitrage court of the Moscow region within the bankruptcy procedure against S.P. Poymanov declared void the transaction for transfer of rights of claim by S.P. Poymanov in favour of PPF Management LLC which were the basis for the claim for reimbursement of damages in the amount of USD 750 million. This decision was left unchanged by Resolution of the Tenth Arbitrage Court of Appeal dated 17 October 2017. Taking into consideration among others these circumstances the management and legal advisors of the Bank assess the risk of outflow of economic resources on PPF Management LLC claim as insignificant.

PJSC Transneft filed a claim in the Moscow Arbitration Court against the Bank demanding to void the derivative deal concluded between the plaintiff and the Bank under the General Agreement for Derivative Transactions on the financial markets. The risk exposure on the contested transaction is about RR 66 billion. The deal was closed by the parties, but according to PJSC Transneft, the Bank acted unfairly at the inception of the transaction. In June 2017 the court of first instance satisfied the plaintiff's claim, but the management of the Bank (based on the relevant documents on the transaction) does not have grounds to agree with the plaintiff's position and the decision of the court of first instance. The Group has appealed the decision of the court of first instance. In August 2017 the court of appeal satisfied an appeal of the Bank and cancelled fully the decision of the court of first instance. In October 2017 PJSC Transneft filed a cassational appeal against the decision of the court of appeal. In January 2018 PJSC Transneft called back the cassational appeal, the trial has been ceased.

Tax legislation. Russian tax, currency and customs current legislation is vaguely drafted and is subject to varying interpretations, selective application and changes. Management's interpretation of such legislation as applied to the transactions and activity of the Group may be challenged by the relevant regional and federal authorities. It is therefore possible that transactions and activities of the Group that have not been challenged in the past may be challenged. As a result, additional taxes, penalties and interest may be assessed by the relevant authorities.

Federal law No. 376-FZ dated 24 November 2014 took effect from 1 January 2015 and new rules for taxation of controlled foreign companies as well as conception of beneficial owner and tax resident of legal entities took place. The adoption of this law generally leads to an increase in the administrative and in several cases tax burden for the Russian entities that have subsidiary structures incorporated outside the Russian Federation and/or carry out transactions with foreign companies.



35 Contingencies and Commitments (continued)

In accordance with the requirements of the Tax Code of the Russian Federation the Bank calculates and records through the current income tax the tax liabilities in respect of profits of foreign companies, as well as foreign organizations without a legal entity, which are recognized as controlled foreign companies of the Group. The calculation of tax liabilities in respect of profits of controlled foreign companies takes into account proposed dividend distributions and expected reorganizations within the Group.

Adoption of new norms as well as other Russian tax legislation interpretations along with recent trends in legal succession could lead to potential possibility of increase in tax paid and tax penalties driven by rigid position of tax authorities and courts concerning tax legislation interpretation and tax calculations. At the same time determination of size and possibility of adverse results of such tax claims could not be measured. The scope of tax inspections could be up to three years prior to the year of inspection. If certain conditions are present this scope could be extended to earlier years.

Management believes that as at 31 December 2017 the provisions of the tax laws applicable to the Group, are interpreted appropriately.

Capital expenditure commitments. As at 31 December 2017 the Group had contractual capital expenditure commitments in respect of premises and equipment totalling RR 22.0 billion (31 December 2016: RR 19.0 billion) and in respect of computer equipment acquisition of RR 0.8 billion (31 December 2016: RR 41.9 billion). The Group has already allocated the necessary resources in respect of these commitments. The Group believes that future net income and funding will be sufficient to cover these and any similar commitments.

Operating lease commitments. When the Group is the lessee, the future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating lease are as follows:

In billions of Russian Roubles	31 December 2017	31 December 2016
Not later than 1 year	8.7	2.5
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years	10.8	10.6
Later than 5 years	17.9	21.4
Total operating lease commitments	37.4	34.5

Credit related commitments and performance guarantees. The primary purpose of credit related commitments instruments is to ensure that funds are available to a customer when required. Financial guarantees and standby letters of credit, which represent irrevocable assurances that the Group will make payments in the event that a customer can not meet the obligations to third parties, carry the same credit risk as loans. Documentary and commercial letters of credit, which are written undertakings by the Group on behalf of a customer authorizing a third party to draw drafts on the Group up to a stipulated amount under specific terms and conditions, are collateralized by the underlying shipments of goods to which they relate or cash deposits and therefore carry less risk than direct lending.

Commitments to extend credit represent unused portions of authorizations to extend credit. With respect to credit risk on commitments to extend credit, the Group is potentially exposed to a loss equal to the total amount of unused commitments. However, the likely amount of loss is less than the total unused commitments since most commitments to extend credit are contingent upon customers maintaining specific credit standards. The Group monitors the maturities of credit related commitments because longer-term commitments generally have a greater degree of credit risk than shorter-term commitments.

35 Contingencies and Commitments (continued)

Performance guarantees are contracts that provide compensation if another party fails to perform a contractual obligation. Such contracts do not transfer credit risk. The risk under performance guarantee contracts is the possibility that the insured event (i.e. the failure to perform the contractual obligation by another party) occurs. The key risks the Group faces are significant fluctuations in the frequency and severity of payments incurred on such contracts relative to expectations. The Group uses historical data and statistical techniques to predict levels of such payments. Claims must be made before the contract matures and most claims are settled within short term. This allows the Group to achieve a high degree of certainty about the estimated payments and therefore future cashflows. The Group manages such risks by constantly monitoring the level of payments for such products and has the ability to adjust its fees in the future to reflect any change in claim payments experience. The Group has a claim payment requests handling process which includes the right to review the claim and reject fraudulent or non-compliant requests.

Outstanding credit related commitments and performance guarantees are as follows:

in billions of Russian Roubles	31 December 2017	31 December 2016
Commitments to extend credit	2,028.2	1,856.0
Guarantees issued:		
- Financial guarantees	1,069.9	1,132.4
- Performance guarantees	638.6	520.6
Undrawn credit lines	831.4	768.7
Export letters of credit	194.7	307.9
Import letters of credit and letters of credit for domestic settlements	183.1	173.0
Total credit related commitments and performance guarantees before provision	4,945.9	4,758.6
Less provision	(22.2)	(16.1)
Total credit related commitments and performance guarantees after provision	4,923.7	4,742.5

As at 31 December 2017 included in due to corporate customers are deposits of RR 121.6 billion (31 December 2016: RR 102.7 billion) held as collateral for irrevocable commitments under import letters of credit. Refer to Note 18.

The total outstanding contractual amount of undrawn credit lines, letters of credit and guarantees does not necessarily represent future cash payments, as these instruments may expire or terminate without any payments being made.

For the movements in the provision for impairment of credit related commitments and performance guarantees refer to Note 22.

Assets under management. As at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016 several asset management companies of the Group were managing assets of various investment entities. The net value of such assets was as follows:

	31 December	31 December
In billions of Russian Roubles	2017	2016
Mutual investment funds	72.5	41.0
Funds of individuals	85.7	31.5
Pension funds and insurance companies	45.1	34.7
Designated funds	3.2	28.0
Other	2.3	3.0
Total	208.8	138.2



36 Derivative Financial Instruments

Foreign exchange and other derivative financial instruments entered into by the Group are generally traded in an over-the-counter market with professional market counterparties. Derivatives have potentially favorable (assets) or unfavorable (liabilities) conditions as a result of fluctuations in market interest rates, foreign exchange rates or other variables relative to their terms. Fair value of derivative financial assets and liabilities can fluctuate significantly from time to time. Refer to Note 37 for the information on valuation of derivative financial instruments.

The table reflects gross positions before the netting of any counterparty positions (and payments) and covers the contracts with settlement dates after the respective reporting date.



36 Derivative Financial Instruments (continued)

The table below shows the analysis of derivative financial instruments of the Group as at 31 December 2017:

	Fair value of exp	ected amounts			
				Liabilities -	
In billions of Russian Roubles	Receivable	Payable	Assets - Positive fair value	Negative fair value	
Foreign currency:					
Market swaps	12.3	(12.3)	_	_	
OTC options	132.8	(133.5)	5.4	(6.1)	
OTC swaps	2,126.1	(2,127.6)	20.0	(21.5)	
Forwards	474.1	(475.3)	4.7	(5.9)	
Total	2,745.3	(2,748.7)	30.1	(33.5)	
Interest rate:					
Market options	2.2	(2.2)	_	_	
Market swaps	22.8	(22.7)	0.1	_	
OTC options	15.1	(14.8)	1.4	(1.1)	
OTC swaps	341.6	(338.8)	23.6	(20.8)	
Forwards	0.3	(0.2)	0.1	_	
Futures	0.2	(0.2)	0.2	(0.2)	
Total	382.2	(378.9)	25.4	(22.1)	
Foreign currency interest rate:					
OTC swaps	941.9	(955.4)	39.8	(53.3)	
Total	941.9	(955.4)	39.8	(53.3)	
Commodities including precious metals:					
Market options	10.7	(14.4)	9.2	(12.9)	
OTC options	9.5	(6.1)	5.7	(2.3)	
OTC swaps	84.6	(83.0)	2.3	(0.7)	
Forwards	31.9	(30.3)	1.7	(0.1)	
Futures	6.5	(7.3)	6.5	(7.3)	
Total	143.2	(141.1)	25.4	(23.3)	
Equities:					
Market options	6.5	(0.8)	6.5	(0.8)	
OTC options	2.4	(0.2)	2.2	_	
Forwards	0.9		0.9		
Futures	0.5	(0.2)	0.5	(0.2)	
Total	10.3	(1.2)	10.1	(1.0)	
Debt securities:	0.7		0.7		
Market options	9.7	_	9.7	_	
Futures	0.1	_	0.1	_	
Total	9.8	_	9.8	_	
Credit risk:	0.6	(O =)	0.5	(0.0)	
OTC swaps	0.6	(0.7)	0.2	(0.3)	
Total	0.6	(0.7)	0.2	(0.3)	
Other:	2.4		2.4		
Market options	0.1	_	0.1	_	
Total	0.1		0.1		
Total	4,233.4	(4,226.0)	140.9	(133.5)	



Total

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements – 31 December 2017

36 Derivative Financial Instruments (continued)

The table below shows the analysis of derivative financial instruments of the Group as at 31 December 2016:

	Fair value of exp	ected amounts			
_				Liabilities -	
			Assets - Positive	Negative fair	
In billions of Russian Roubles	Receivable	Payable	fair value	value	
Foreign currency:					
Market swaps	8.1	(8.1)	_	_	
OTC options	111.2	(113.0)	15.8	(17.6)	
OTC swaps	1,658.4	(1,691.9)	20.7	(54.2)	
Forwards	343.5	(335.1)	14.7	(6.3)	
Futures	_	(0.4)	_	(0.4)	
Total	2,121.2	(2,148.5)	51.2	(78.5)	
Interest rate:					
Market options	4.2	(4.2)	_	_	
Market swaps	21.4	(21.4)	0.2	(0.2)	
OTC options	4.3	(3.0)	3.1	(1.8)	
OTC swaps	293.4	(288.6)	22.8	(18.0)	
Futures	0.7	(0.5)	0.7	(0.5)	
Total	324.0	(317.7)	26.8	(20.5)	
Foreign currency interest rate:					
OTC swaps	529.6	(493.0)	107.3	(70.7)	
Total	529.6	(493.0)	107.3	(70.7)	
Commodities including precious metals:					
Market options	2.3	(1.6)	2.2	(1.5)	
OTC options	11.9	(11.1)	6.7	(5.9)	
OTC swaps	35.7	(36.0)	0.4	(0.7)	
Forwards	2.7	(2.9)	0.4	(0.6)	
Futures	1.1	(1.5)	1.1	(1.5)	
Total	53.7	(53.1)	10.8	(10.2)	
Equities:					
Market options	1.5	(0.4)	1.5	(0.4)	
OTC options	3.1		3.1	_	
Forwards	0.4	(0.1)	0.4	(0.1)	
Futures	0.5	(0.9)	0.5	(0.9)	
Total	5.5	(1.4)	5.5	(1.4)	
Debt securities:					
Market options	3.9	_	3.9	_	
OTC options	0.1	(0.1)	0.1	(0.1)	
Futures	_	(0.1)	_	(0.1)	
Total	4.0	(0.2)	4.0	(0.2)	
Credit risk:					
OTC swaps	2.1	(1.3)	1.0	(0.2)	
Total	2.1	(1.3)	1.0	(0.2)	
				<u>· · ·</u>	

3,040.1

(3,015.2)

206.6

(181.7)



37 Fair Value Disclosures

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.

The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments by valuation technique:

- Level 1: quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
- Level 2: techniques for which all inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value are observable, either directly or indirectly; and
- Level 3: techniques which use inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value that are not based on observable market data.



37 Fair Value Disclosures (continued)

The following table shows an analysis of assets carried at fair value by level of the fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 2017:

Assets carried at fair value or revalued amount Trading securities Corporate bonds Corporate shares Russian federal loan bonds (OFZ bonds) Russian Federation Eurobonds Foreign government and municipal bonds Investments in mutual funds Russian municipal and subfederal bonds Securities designated as at fair value through profit or loss Corporate bonds Russian federal loan bonds (OFZ bonds)	77.1 27.9 23.5 14.5 9.7 1.3 0.1 0.1 269.5 94.9 164.0 6.2 — 2.5	7.1 7.1 125.4 125.4		84.2 35.0 23.5 14.5 9.7 1.3 0.1 0.1 429.0 220.6 164.0
Trading securities Corporate bonds Corporate shares Russian federal loan bonds (OFZ bonds) Russian Federation Eurobonds Foreign government and municipal bonds Investments in mutual funds Russian municipal and subfederal bonds Securities designated as at fair value through profit or loss Corporate bonds	27.9 23.5 14.5 9.7 1.3 0.1 0.1 269.5 94.9 164.0 6.2 — 2.5	7.1 — — — — — — — — 125.4 — — —	0.3	35.0 23.5 14.5 9.7 1.3 0.1 0.1
Corporate bonds Corporate shares Russian federal loan bonds (OFZ bonds) Russian Federation Eurobonds Foreign government and municipal bonds Investments in mutual funds Russian municipal and subfederal bonds Securities designated as at fair value through profit or loss Corporate bonds	27.9 23.5 14.5 9.7 1.3 0.1 0.1 269.5 94.9 164.0 6.2 — 2.5	7.1 — — — — — — — — 125.4 — — —	0.3	35.0 23.5 14.5 9.7 1.3 0.1 0.1
Corporate shares Russian federal loan bonds (OFZ bonds) Russian Federation Eurobonds Foreign government and municipal bonds Investments in mutual funds Russian municipal and subfederal bonds Securities designated as at fair value through profit or loss Corporate bonds	23.5 14.5 9.7 1.3 0.1 0.1 269.5 94.9 164.0 6.2 —		0.3	23.5 14.5 9.7 1.3 0.1 0.1 429.0 220.6
Russian federal loan bonds (OFZ bonds) Russian Federation Eurobonds Foreign government and municipal bonds Investments in mutual funds Russian municipal and subfederal bonds Securities designated as at fair value through profit or loss Corporate bonds	14.5 9.7 1.3 0.1 0.1 269.5 94.9 164.0 6.2 — 2.5		0.3	14.5 9.7 1.3 0.1 0.1 429.0 220.6
Russian Federation Eurobonds Foreign government and municipal bonds Investments in mutual funds Russian municipal and subfederal bonds Securities designated as at fair value through profit or loss Corporate bonds	9.7 1.3 0.1 0.1 269.5 94.9 164.0 6.2 —	125.4 — —	0.3	9.7 1.3 0.1 0.1 429.0 220.6
Foreign government and municipal bonds Investments in mutual funds Russian municipal and subfederal bonds Securities designated as at fair value through profit or loss Corporate bonds	1.3 0.1 0.1 269.5 94.9 164.0 6.2 —	125.4 — —	0.3	1.3 0.1 0.1 429.0 220.6
Investments in mutual funds Russian municipal and subfederal bonds Securities designated as at fair value through profit or loss Corporate bonds	0.1 0.1 269.5 94.9 164.0 6.2 — 2.5	125.4 — —	0.3	0.1 0.1 429.0 220.6
Russian municipal and subfederal bonds Securities designated as at fair value through profit or loss Corporate bonds	0.1 269.5 94.9 164.0 6.2 — 2.5	125.4 — —	0.3	0.1 429.0 220.6
Securities designated as at fair value through profit or loss Corporate bonds	269.5 94.9 164.0 6.2 — 2.5	125.4 — —	0.3	429.0 220.6
profit or loss Corporate bonds	94.9 164.0 6.2 — 2.5	125.4 — —	0.3	220.6
Corporate bonds	94.9 164.0 6.2 — 2.5	125.4 — —	0.3	220.6
•	164.0 6.2 — 2.5	_ _	_	
Russian federal loan bonds (OFZ bonds)	6.2 — 2.5	_ _ _		164.0
	 2.5	_ _	22.6	
Corporate shares	2.5	_		28.8
Investments in mutual funds			11.2	11.2
Foreign government and municipal bonds		_	_	2.5
Russian municipal and subfederal bonds	1.4	_	_	1.4
Russian Federation Eurobonds	0.5	_	_	0.5
Securities pledged under repurchase				
agreements	225.1	_	_	225.1
Russian federal loan bonds (OFZ bonds)	176.8	_	_	176.8
Foreign government and municipal bonds	44.2	_	_	44.2
Corporate bonds	3.6	_	_	3.6
Corporate shares Russian Federation Eurobonds	0.4 0.1	_	_	0.4 0.1
			_	
Investment securities available-for-sale	1,643.4	51.9	48.4	1,743.7
Russian federal loan bonds (OFZ bonds)	897.9	_	_	897.9
Corporate bonds	379.3	13.8	_	393.1
Russian Federation Eurobonds	192.1	- 36.7	_	192.1 161.0
Foreign government and municipal bonds	124.3 —	30.7	— 45.6	45.6
Mortgage-backed securities Corporate shares	27.6	_	2.8	30.4
Russian municipal and subfederal bonds	12.0		2.0	12.0
Bonds of the Bank of Russia	10.2	_	_	10.2
Promissory notes		1.4	_	1.4
·				
Derivative financial instruments	_	140.0	0.9	140.9
Foreign currency interest rate derivatives	_	39.8	_	39.8
Foreign currency derivatives	_	30.1	_	30.1
Commodity derivatives including precious		25.4		25.4
metals derivatives Interest rate derivatives	_	25.4	_	25.4
	_	25.4	_	25.4
Equity securities derivatives Debt securities derivatives	_	9.2 9.8	0.9	10.1 9.8
Credit risk derivatives	_	0.2	_	9.8 0.2
	_			
Other derivatives	_	0.1	_	0.1
Investment property	_	_	7.7	7.7
Office premises	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	276.7	276.7
Total assets carried at fair value	2,215.1	324.4	367.8	2,907.3



37 Fair Value Disclosures (continued)

The following table shows an analysis of assets carried at fair value by level of the fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 2016:

in billions of Russian Roubles	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total
Assets carried at fair value or revalued				
amount				
Trading securities	61.7	1.4	_	63.1
Corporate bonds	26.3	1.4	_	27.7
Russian federal loan bonds (OFZ bonds)	17.0	_	_	17.0
Russian Federation Eurobonds	9.2	_	_	9.2
Corporate shares	5.4	_	_	5.4
Foreign government and municipal				
bonds	3.2	_	_	3.2
Russian municipal and subfederal bonds	0.3	_	_	0.3
Investments in mutual funds	0.3	_	_	0.3
Securities designated as at fair value				
through profit or loss	131.5	181.5	22.8	335.8
Corporate bonds	63.0	174.5	_	237.5
Russian federal loan bonds (OFZ bonds)	55.8	_	_	55.8
Corporate shares	2.7	0.4	17.3	20.4
Investments in mutual funds	_	6.4	5.5	11.9
Russian municipal and subfederal bonds	7.1	0.2	_	7.3
Foreign government and municipal	2.4			2.4
bonds Russian Federation Eurobonds	2.4 0.5	_	_	2.4
	0.5	_	_	0.5
Securities pledged under repurchase				
agreements	81.3	_	_	81.3
Foreign government and municipal	66.4			
bonds	66.4	_	_	66.4
Russian federal loan bonds (OFZ bonds)	14.4	_	_	14.4
Corporate bonds	0.3	_	_	0.3
Russian Federation Eurobonds	0.2	_	_	0.2
Investment securities available-for-sale	1,609.0	49.7	0.2	1,658.9
Russian federal loan bonds (OFZ bonds)	763.8	_	_	763.8
Corporate bonds	393.5	12.6	_	406.1
Russian Federation Eurobonds	234.1	_	_	234.1
Foreign government and municipal	150.7	20.0		107.3
bonds	150.7	36.6	_	187.3
Corporate shares Russian municipal and subfederal bonds	44.9	0.1	0.2	45.2 22.0
Promissory notes	22.0	0.4	_	0.4
Fromissory notes	_		_	_
Derivative financial instruments	_	206.6	_	206.6
Foreign currency interest rate derivatives	_	107.3	_	107.3
Foreign currency derivatives	_	51.2	_	51.2
Interest rate derivatives	_	26.8	_	26.8
Commodity derivatives including				
precious metals derivatives	_	10.8	_	10.8
Equity securities derivatives	_	5.5	_	5.5
Debt securities derivatives	_	4.0	_	4.0
Credit risk derivatives	_	1.0	_	1.0
Investment property	_	_	8.4	8.4
Office premises		<u> </u>	293.6	293.6
Total assets carried at fair value	1,883.5	439.2	325.0	2,647.7



37 Fair Value Disclosures (continued)

Loans and receivables carried at amortized cost. The fair value of floating rate instruments is normally their carrying amount. Due to significant changes in market situation interest rates for loans and advances to customers and due from banks issued at fixed interest rates can be revised. Interest rates for loans issued just before reporting date do not differ significantly from interest rates for new credit instruments with similar credit risk and remaining maturity. If under the Group assessment interest rates for the loans issued before reporting date differ significantly from current interest rates for similar credit instruments the fair value for these loans is estimated. The estimation is based on estimated future cash flows expected to be received discounted at current interest rates for new instruments with similar credit risk and remaining maturity. Discount rates used depend on currency, maturity of the instrument and credit risk of the counterparty.

Liabilities carried at amortized cost. The fair value is based on quoted market prices, if available. The estimated fair value of fixed interest rate instruments with stated maturity, for which a quoted market price is not available, was estimated based on expected cash flows discounted at current interest rates for new instruments with similar profile. The fair value of liabilities repayable on demand or after a notice period ("demandable liabilities") is estimated as the amount payable on demand, discounted from the first date that the amount could be required to be paid.

The following table shows fair values of assets for which fair values are disclosed, by level of the fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 2017:

	Carrying value				Fair value
in billions of Russian Roubles		Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total
Financial assets carried at amortized cost					
Cash and cash equivalents	2,329.4	646.8	1,682.6	_	2,329.4
Mandatory cash balances with					
central banks	427.1	_	427.1	_	427.1
Due from banks	1,317.8	_	1,317.8	_	1,317.8
Loans and advances to customers					
- Commercial loans to legal entities	9,614.8	_	_	9,888.2	9,888.2
- Specialized loans to legal entities	3,390.4	_	_	3,578.9	3,578.9
- Mortgage loans to individuals	3,130.9	_	_	3,420.8	3,420.8
- Consumer and other loans to					
individuals	1,617.0	_	_	1,664.5	1,664.5
- Credit cards and overdrafts to					
individuals	621.8	_	_	621.8	621.8
- Car loans to individuals	113.2	_	_	113.7	113.7
Securities pledged under repurchase agreements: - Investment securities held-to-maturity pledged under repurchase agreements	33.8	33.1	_	_	33.1
Investment securities held-to- maturity	773.6	719.9	71.9	_	791.8
Other financial assets	253.1	_	_	253.1	253.1
Total financial assets carried at amortized cost	23,622.9	1,399.8	3,499.4	19,541.0	24,440.2



37 Fair Value Disclosures (continued)

The following table shows fair values of assets for which fair values are disclosed, by level of the fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 2016:

	Carrying value				Fair value
in billions of Russian Roubles		Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total
Financial assets carried at amortized cost					
Cash and cash equivalents	2,560.8	626.5	1,934.3	_	2,560.8
Mandatory cash balances with					
central banks	402.0	_	402.0	_	402.0
Due from banks	965.4	_	965.4	_	965.4
Loans and advances to customers					
- Commercial loans to legal entities	9,167.1	_	_	9,273.0	9,273.0
- Specialized loans to legal entities	3,406.6	_	_	3,529.6	3,529.6
 Mortgage loans to individuals 	2,704.3	_	_	2,776.3	2,776.3
- Consumer and other loans to					
individuals	1,443.8	_	_	1,478.9	1,478.9
 Credit cards and overdrafts to 					
individuals	530.4	_	_	530.4	530.4
- Car loans to individuals	109.1	_	_	108.5	108.5
Securities pledged under repurchase agreements: - Investment securities held-tomaturity pledged under repurchase agreements	32.6	32.3	_	_	32.3
Investment securities held-to-					
maturity	545.8	506.7	44.3	_	551.0
Other financial assets	314.5			314.5	314.5
Total financial assets carried at amortized cost	22,182.4	1,165.5	3,346.0	18,011.2	22,522.7



37 Fair Value Disclosures (continued)

The following table shows an analysis of liabilities carried at fair value by level of the fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 2017:

in billions of Russian Roubles	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total
Liabilities carried at fair value				
Derivative financial instruments	_	133.5	_	133.5
Foreign currency interest rate derivatives	_	53.3	_	53.3
Foreign currency derivatives	_	33.5	_	33.5
Commodity derivatives including				
precious metals derivatives	_	23.3	_	23.3
Interest rate derivatives	_	22.1	_	22.1
Equity securities derivatives	_	1.0	_	1.0
Credit risk derivatives	_	0.3	_	0.3
Obligation to deliver securities	30.9	_	_	30.9
Corporate bonds	12.8	_	_	12.8
Russian federal loan bonds (OFZ bonds)	7.3	_	_	7.3
Corporate shares	5.6	_	_	5.6
Russian Federation Eurobonds	4.4	_	_	4.4
Foreign government and municipal				
bonds	0.6	_	_	0.6
Investments in mutual funds	0.2	_	_	0.2
Total liabilities carried at fair value	30.9	133.5	_	164.4

The following table shows an analysis of liabilities carried at fair value by level of the fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 2016:

in billions of Russian Roubles	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total
Liabilities carried at fair value				
Derivative financial instruments	_	181.7	_	181.7
Foreign currency derivatives	_	78.5	_	78.5
Foreign currency interest rate derivatives	_	70.7	_	70.7
Interest rate derivatives	_	20.5	_	20.5
Commodity derivatives including				
precious metals derivatives	_	10.2	_	10.2
Equity securities derivatives	_	1.4	_	1.4
Debt securities derivatives	_	0.2	_	0.2
Credit risk derivatives	_	0.2	_	0.2
Obligation to deliver securities	31.2	_	_	31.2
Corporate bonds	16.3	_	_	16.3
Russian federal loan bonds (OFZ bonds)	9.6	_	_	9.6
Corporate shares	4.1	_	_	4.1
Russian Federation Eurobonds	0.9	_	_	0.9
Foreign government and municipal				
bonds	0.3	_	_	0.3
Total liabilities carried at fair value	31.2	181.7	_	212.9



37 Fair Value Disclosures (continued)

The following table shows fair values of liabilities for which fair values are disclosed, by level of the fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 2017:

	Carrying value				Fair value
in billions of Russian Roubles		Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total
Financial liabilities carried at amortized cost					
Due to banks	693.3	_	693.8	_	693.8
Due to individuals: - Current/demand accounts	3,052.2	_	3,052.2	_	3,052.2
- Term deposits	10,366.1	_	3,032.2	10,345.1	10,345.1
- Direct repo agreements	2.0	_	_	2.0	2.0
Due to corporate customers: - Current/settlement accounts of					
state and public organizations - Term deposits of state and public	181.5	_	181.5	_	181.5
organizations - Current/settlement accounts of	180.9	_	_	181.1	181.1
other corporate customers - Term deposits of other corporate	2,023.3	_	2,023.3	_	2,023.3
customers - Direct repo agreements with other	3,955.0	_	_	3,897.5	3,897.5
corporate customers	53.2	_	_	53.2	53.2
Debt securities in issue: - Savings certificates - Loan participation notes issued under the MTN programme of	374.9	-	375.4	_	375.4
Sberbank - Bonds issued:	302.5	318.6	_	_	318.6
- on the local market	133.2	78.3	10.3	44.4	133.0
- on international capital markets	16.0	_	_	16.0	16.0
 Promissory notes Bonds issued under mortgage securitization programme of 	103.4	_	101.8	1.2	103.0
Sberbank	3.9	_	3.9	_	3.9
- Other debt securities issued	0.7	_	0.7	_	0.7
Other borrowed funds	247.3	_	2.4	244.2	246.6
Other financial liabilities	289.9	_	_	289.9	289.9
Subordinated debt: - Subordinated debt received by the Group from the Bank of Russia	504.4	_	_	504.4	504.4
- Subordinated debt issued under					
the MTN programme of Sberbank	193.6	199.8	_	_	199.8
- Other subordinated debt	18.3		6.5	11.0	17.5
Total liabilities carried at amortized cost	22,695.6	596.7	6,451.8	15,590.0	22,638.5



37 Fair Value Disclosures (continued)

The following table shows fair values of liabilities for which fair values are disclosed, by level of the fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 2016:

	Carrying value				Fair value
in billions of Russian Roubles		Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total
Financial liabilities carried at amortized cost					
Due to banks	561.9	_	561.5	_	561.5
Due to individuals: - Current/demand accounts - Term deposits - Direct repo agreements	2,478.9 9,970.1 0.6	- - -	2,478.9 — —	_ 10,024.4 0.6	2,478.9 10,024.4 0.6
Due to corporate customers: - Current/settlement accounts of state and public organizations - Term deposits of state and public	147.8	_	147.8	_	147.8
organizations - Current/settlement accounts of	184.2	_	_	183.5	183.5
other corporate customers - Term deposits of other corporate	1,834.5	_	1,834.5	_	1,834.5
customers - Direct repo agreements with other	3,997.4	_	_	3,964.3	3,964.3
corporate customers	71.3	_	_	71.3	71.3
Debt securities in issue: - Savings certificates - Loan participation notes issued under the MTN programme of	482.6	_	484.1	_	484.1
Sberbank - Bonds issued:	473.9	492.8	_	_	492.8
- on the local market	84.3	_	38.9	45.5	84.4
- on international capital markets	21.1	_	_	20.3	20.3
 Promissory notes Bonds issued under mortgage securitization programme of 	92.4	_	90.7	1.1	91.8
Sberbank	5.5	_	5.5	_	5.5
- Other debt securities issued	1.2	_	1.2	_	1.2
Other borrowed funds	261.4	_	83.7	177.1	260.8
Other financial liabilities	312.6	_	_	312.6	312.6
Subordinated debt: - Subordinated debt received by the Group from the Bank of Russia - Subordinated debt issued under the MTN programme of Sberbank	504.4 204.7	_ 208.1	-	504.4	504.4 208.1
- Other subordinated debt	30.8		6.0	22.8	28.8
Total liabilities carried at amortized cost	21,721.6	700.9	5,732.8	15,327.9	21,761.6



37 Fair Value Disclosures (continued)

Level 2 includes debt securities of first-class borrowers and derivative financial instruments that are not actively traded on the market. Fair value of these financial instruments was calculated using techniques for which all inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value are observable on the active market. Financial characteristics of comparable financial instruments actively traded on the market were used as inputs for the fair valuation models.

The following describes the methodologies and assumptions used to determine fair values for financial instruments.

Derivatives

Derivatives valued using a valuation technique with market observable inputs derived from well-known market information systems are mainly foreign currency interest rate swaps, interest rate swaps, currency swaps, forward foreign exchange contracts and foreign exchange option contracts. The most frequently applied valuation techniques include forward pricing and swap models, using present value calculations. Option-pricing is mostly done with Black-Scholes model and for certain types of options with stochastic local volatility model. The models incorporate various inputs including the credit quality of counterparties, foreign exchange spot and forward rates, interest rate curves and implied volatility. In rare exceptional cases, DCF model may be applied, in case where it is impossible to obtain market data.

Trading securities, securities designated as at fair value through profit or loss and investment securities available-for-sale

Trading securities, securities designated as at fair value through profit or loss and investment securities available-for-sale valued using a valuation technique or pricing models primarily consist of unquoted equity and debt securities. These securities are valued using models based on observable market data and models based on both observable and non-observable market data. The non-observable inputs to the models include assumptions regarding the future financial performance of the investee, its risk profile, and economic assumptions regarding the industry and geographical jurisdiction in which the investee operates.

The following table shows transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy for financial assets measured as at fair value during the year ended 31 December 2017:

ancial assets Iding securities Curities designated as at fair value through profit or loss	Transfers between Level 1 and Level 2				
	From Level 1 to	From Level 2 to			
in billions of Russian Roubles	Level 2	Level 1			
Financial assets					
Trading securities	0.3	0.1			
Securities designated as at fair value through profit or loss	1.6	4.1			
Investment securities available-for-sale	20.5	10.4			
Total transfers of financial assets	22.4	14.6			

The following table shows transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy for financial assets measured as at fair value during the year ended 31 December 2016:

ancial assets ding securities curities designated as at fair value through profit or loss	Transfers between	Level 1 and Level 2			
ancial assets ding securities	From Level 1 to From Level 2				
in billions of Russian Roubles	Level 2	Level 1			
Financial assets					
Trading securities	0.8	1.3			
Securities designated as at fair value through profit or loss	3.2	4.8			
Investment securities available-for-sale	12.0	10.1			
Total transfers of financial assets	16.0	16.2			



37 Fair Value Disclosures (continued)

The financial instruments are transferred from Level 2 and Level 3 to Level 1 when they become actively traded and fair values are determined using quoted prices in an active market.

The financial instruments are transferred from Level 1 to Level 2 when they ceased to be actively traded, the liquidity of the market is not sufficient to use the market quotation for the valuation and fair values are consequently obtained from valuation techniques using observable market inputs.

The financial instruments are transferred to Level 3 when they ceased to be actively traded and there is no possibility to use valuation techniques with observable market inputs.

The following table shows a reconciliation of the opening and closing amount of Level 3 assets which are recorded as at fair value as at 31 December 2017:

in billions of Russian Roubles	At 31 December 2016	Total gains/ (losses) reported in profit or loss	Foreign currency revaluation	Total losses reported in other compre- hensive income	Purchases	Sales/ Settlements	Transfers from Level 3	Transfers to other classes of assets	Transfers to Level 3	At 31 December 2017
Trading securities	_	_	_	_	0.7	_	(0.7)	_	_	_
Securities designated as at fair										
value through profit or loss Investment securities available-	22.8	2.0	(0.6)	_	4.1	_	(0.7)	_	6.5	34.1
for-sale	0.2	3.7	_	(2.4)	57.2	(10.3)	_	_	_	48.4
Derivative financial instruments	_	0.9	_	· -	_	· -	_	_	_	0.9
Investment property	8.4	(0.6)	(0.3)	_	2.1	(1.9)	_	_	_	7.7
Office premises	293.6	(5.9)	(0.8)	(3.4)	7.5	(8.9)	_	(5.4)	_	276.7
Total level 3 assets	325.0	0.1	(1.7)	(5.8)	71.6	(21.1)	(1.4)	(5.4)	6.5	367.8

For the year ended 31 December 2017 the gains in the amount of RR 6.9 billion reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on Level 3 financial assets were unrealized.

For the year ended 31 December 2017 the losses in the amount RR 2.4 billion reported in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income on Level 3 financial assets were unrealized.

Total gains recognized as profit or loss on securities designated as at fair value through profit or loss which are presented in the table above are reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss within net gains from securities designated as at fair value through profit or loss.

Total gains recognized as profit or loss on investment securities available-for-sale which are presented in the table above are reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss within net gains from investment securities available-for-sale.

Total gains recognized as profit or loss on derivative financial instruments which are presented in the table above are reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss within net (losses) / gains from operations with other derivatives.

Total losses recognized as profit or loss on investment property which are presented in the table above are reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss within other net operating income.

Total losses recognized as profit or loss on office premises which are presented in the table above are reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss within impairment of premises, equipment and intangible assets and within operating expenses.



37 Fair Value Disclosures (continued)

Valuation of mortgage-backed securities of RR 45.6 billion using valuation techniques based on non-observable inputs

The model uses a number of observable and unobservable inputs to derive a valuation. Examples of such include Russian mortgage rates and the credit spread for Agency for Housing Mortgage Lending (the "AHML") (all considered observable), while portfolio aging period and behavioral adjustment on refinancing position are examples of unobservable inputs.

Should the Russian mortgage rate used by the Group (published by the Bank of Russia) in the valuation model increase / decrease by 1.0%, the carrying value of the financial instrument would be RR 0.01 billion higher / RR 0.02 million lower. Should the AHML credit spread used by the Group in the valuation model increase / decrease by 1.0%, the carrying value of the financial instrument would be RR 1.2 billion lower / RR 1.3 billion higher.

Valuation of share in a real estate company of RR 8.4 billion using valuation techniques based on nonobservable inputs

The Group determined fair value of investments based on discounted cash flow model using the following key assumptions: weighted average cost of capital (WACC) and estimated capitalization rate (CapRate) which depend on forecasts on property prices. WACC as at 31 December 2017 is 10.0%, CapRate – 10.0%.

Should the discount rate used by the Group in the valuation model increase / decrease by 1.0%, the carrying value of the financial instrument would be RR 1.1 billion lower / RR 1.2 billion higher. Should the capitalization rate used by the Group in the valuation model increase / decrease by 1.0%, the carrying value of the financial instrument would be RR 2.1 billion lower / RR 2.6 billion higher.

Valuation of non-voting share in a special investment fund (SIF) with investments in oil companies of RR 5.3 billion using valuation techniques based on non-observable inputs

The Group determined fair value of investments based on discounted cash flow model using the following key assumptions: WACC and estimated guaranteed fixed yield on exit. Guaranteed fixed yield is not linked to the market and so has immaterial influence on the value of the financial instrument. WACC as at 31 December 2017 is 13.5%.

Should the discount rate used by the Group in the valuation model increase / decrease by 1.0%, the carrying value of the financial instrument would be RR 0.06 billion lower / RR 0.06 billion higher.

Valuation of investment in a exempted limited partnership investment fund specializing in venture capital investments of RR 4.8 billion using valuation techniques based on non-observable inputs

The Group determined fair value of investments based on the model of net assets valuation as, in accordance with the accounting policy, the assets of investment fund are accounted for at fair value based on International regulations on valuation of private equity funds and venture capital funds (Private Equity and Venture Capital Valuation (IPEV)).

Should the amount of net assets of investment fund used by the Group in the valuation model increase / decrease by 1.0%, the carrying value of the financial instrument would be RR 0.05 billion higher / RR 0.05 billion lower.

Valuation of investment in a mining company of RR 4.7 billion using valuation techniques based on non-observable inputs

Fair value of investments was determined based on net assets value, while valuation of the investments in the company's operational subsidiaries was based on discounted cash flow model using the following key assumptions: WACC, operational expenses, cost of investments, price and volume of sale.

WACC of operational companies as at 31 December 2017 is 14.2%, 16.3%, 16.5% and 18.9%. Should the discount rate used by the Group in the valuation model increase / decrease by 1.0%, the carrying value of the financial instrument would be RR 0.5 billion lower / RR 0.6 billion higher.



37 Fair Value Disclosures (continued)

Valuation of share in a real estate company of RR 4.4 billion using valuation techniques based on nonobservable inputs

Fair value of 16 properties with a total area of 102 000 square meters was based on market value of real estate units using average market price for one square meter of real estate properties (39 thousand Russian Roubles). Should the average market price for square meter of real estate used by the Group in the valuation model increase / decrease by 1.0%, the carrying value of the financial instrument would be RR 0.04 billion higher / RR 0.04 billion lower.

The following table shows a reconciliation of the opening and closing amount of Level 3 assets which are recorded as at fair value as at 31 December 2016:

in billions of Russian Roubles	At 31 December 2015	Total (losses)/ gains reported in profit or loss	Foreign currency revaluation	Total gains reported in other compre- hensive income	Purchases	Business combinations	Sales/ Settlements	Transfers from Level 3	Transfers to Level 3	At 31 December 2016
Trading securities	0.1	(0.1)	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_
Securities designated as at fair										
value through profit or loss	20.2	0.6	0.1	_	2.0	_	(0.1)	_	_	22.8
Investment securities										
available-for-sale	2.8	(3.0)	(0.3)	_	_	_	_	_	0.7	0.2
Derivative financial										
instruments	11.4	1.9	(1.5)	_	_	_	(11.8)	_	_	_
Investment property	11.1	0.1	(1.6)	_	1.7	2.2	(2.0)	(3.4)	0.3	8.4
Office premises	316.9	(34.5)	(2.9)	2.7	32.4	_	(21.0)	_	_	293.6
Total level 3 assets	362.5	(35.0)	(6.2)	2.7	36.1	2.2	(34.9)	(3.4)	1.0	325.0

For the year ended 31 December 2016 there were no unrealized gains / losses reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on Level 3 financial assets.

Total losses recognized as profit or loss on trading securities which are presented in the table above are reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss within net gains from trading securities.

Total gains recognized as profit or loss on securities designated as at fair value through profit or loss which are presented in the table above are reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss within net gains from securities designated as at fair value through profit or loss.

Total losses recognized as profit or loss on investment securities available-for-sale which are presented in the table above are reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss within net gains from investment securities available-for-sale.

Total gains recognized as profit or loss on derivative financial instruments which are presented in the table above are reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss within net (losses) / gains from trading in foreign currencies, operations with foreign currency derivatives and foreign exchange translation; within net gains / (losses) from operations with precious metals, precious metals derivatives and precious metals accounts translation and within net gains from operations with other derivatives.

Total gains recognized as profit or loss on investment property which are presented in the table above are reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss within other net operating income.



37 Fair Value Disclosures (continued)

Total losses recognized as profit or loss on office premises which are presented in the table above are reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss within operating expenses.

Valuation of share in a real estate company of RR 8.3 billion using valuation techniques based on nonobservable inputs

The Group determined fair value of investments based on discounted cash flow model using the following key assumptions: WACC and estimated capitalization rate (CapRate) which depend on forecasts on property prices. WACC as at 31 December 2016 is 12.5%, CapRate – 8.75%.

Should the discount rate used by the Group in the valuation model increase / decrease by 1.0%, the carrying value of the financial instrument would be RR 1.3 billion lower / RR 1.1 billion higher. Should the capitalization rate used by the Group in the valuation model increase / decrease by 1.0%, the carrying value of the financial instrument would be RR 1.2 billion lower / RR 1.5 billion higher.

Valuation of non-voting share in a special investment fund (SIF) with investments in oil companies of RR 4.9 billion using valuation techniques based on non-observable inputs

The Group determined fair value of investments based on discounted cash flow model using the following key assumptions: WACC and estimated guaranteed fixed yield on exit. Guaranteed fixed yield is not linked to the market and so has immaterial influence on the value of the financial instrument. WACC as at 31 December 2016 is 13.5%.

Should the discount rate used by the Group in the valuation model increase / decrease by 1.0%, the carrying value of the financial instrument would be RR 0.05 billion lower / RR 0.05 billion higher.

Valuation of investment in a mining company of RR 4.4 billion using valuation techniques based on non-observable inputs

Fair value of investments was determined based on net assets value, while valuation of the investments in the company's operational subsidiaries was based on discounted cash flow model using the following key assumptions: WACC, operational expenses, cost of investments, price and volume of sale.

WACC of operational companies as at 31 December 2016 is 17.5%, 17.6%, 19.7% and 19.9%. Should the discount rate used by the Group in the valuation model increase / decrease by 1.0%, the carrying value of the financial instrument would be RR 0.3 billion lower / RR 0.4 billion higher.

Valuation of share in a real estate company of RR 2.0 billion using valuation techniques based on non-observable inputs

Fair value of 16 properties with a total area of 102 000 square meters was based on market value of real estate units using average market rate for one square meter of real estate properties (39 thousand Russian Roubles). Should the average rate for square meter of real estate used by the Group in the valuation model increase / decrease by 1.0%, the carrying value of the financial instrument would be RR 0.02 billion higher / RR 0.02 billion lower.

38 Transfers of Financial Assets and Pledged Assets

The following note provides a summary of financial assets which have been pledged or transferred in such a way that part or all of the transferred financial assets do not qualify for derecognition.

The table below shows the amount of operations under sale and repurchase agreements which the Group enters into in the normal course of business.

			31 Dece	mber 2017			31 Dece	ember 2016
	Du	ue to banks	Due to	Due to customers		ue to banks	Due to customers	
in billions of Russian Roubles	Carrying value of assets	Carrying value of related liability	Carrying value of assets	Carrying value of related liability	Carrying value of assets	Carrying value of related liability	Carrying value of assets	Carrying value of related liability
Securities pledged under repurchase agreements Securities of clients pledged under repurchase	201.1	190.1	57.8	54.7	37.9	37.2	76.0	71.9
agreements	5.0	4.3	0.5	0.5	3.1	2.9	-	_
Total before margin calls	206.1	194.4	58.3	55.2	41.0	40.1	76.0	71.9
Other financial assets (margin calls under repurchase agreements)	_	_	0.3	_	_	_	0.2	_
Total	206.1	194.4	58.6	55.2	41.0	40.1	76.2	71.9

Refer to Note 11 for information on details of own securities portfolio pledged under repurchase agreements.

In the normal course of business, the Group makes borrowings on interbank market using different financial instruments as collateral to support its everyday operations in terms of liquidity.

The summary of the financial assets transferred without derecognition and pledged assets is presented below:

			31 December 2016	
in billions of Russian Roubles	Carrying value of assets	Carrying value of related liability	Carrying value of assets	Carrying value of related liability
Loans to corporate customers	101.6	81.2	96.6	81.8
Loans to individuals	5.1	3.9	6.7	5.5
Securities	38.2	32.0	48.5	33.6
Other assets	0.4	0.2	3.2	2.3
Total	145.3	117.3	155.0	123.2

Margin calls transferred are disclosed in Note 16.

The Group also enters into reverse sale and repurchase agreements. The summary of such operations is provided in the table below:

	31 December 2017					
in billions of Russian Roubles	Amount of loans granted under repo agreements	Fair value of securities received as collateral	Amount of loans granted under repo agreements	Fair value of securities received as collateral		
Cash and cash equivalents	20.4	21.9	340.9	373.3		
Due from banks	1,105.0	1,275.6	456.0	510.1		
Loans and advances to customers	122.7	170.4	108.1	148.0		
Total	1,248.1	1,467.9	905.0	1,031.4		



39 Offsetting of Financial Instruments

Financial instruments subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting (ISDA, RISDA, etc.) and similar arrangements are as follows as at 31 December 2017:

				consol	not set off in the idated statement financial position	
in billions of Russian Roubles	Gross amount of recognized financial assets/ liabilities	Gross amount of recognized financial assets/ liabilities set off in the consolidated statement of financial position	Net amount of financial assets/ liabilities presented in the consolidated statement of financial position	Financial instruments	Cash collateral	Net amount
Financial assets						
Derivative financial assets	104.3	_	104.3	(65.3)	(13.6)	25.4
Reverse repurchase agreements	1,248.1	_	1,248.1	(1,248.1)	_	_
Total financial assets	1,352.4	_	1,352.4	(1,313.4)	(13.6)	25.4
Financial liabilities						
Derivative financial liabilities	129.8	_	129.8	(65.3)	(45.7)	18.8
Direct repurchase agreements	249.6	_	249.6	(249.6)	` _	_
Total financial liabilities	379.4	_	379.4	(314.9)	(45.7)	18.8

The comparative information as at 31 December 2016 is presented in the table below:

	Gross amount of recognized financial assets/ liabilities			Related amounts not set off in the consolidated statement of financial position			
in billions of Russian Roubles		Gross amount of recognized financial assets/ liabilities set off in the consolidated statement of financial position	Net amount of financial assets/ liabilities presented in the consolidated statement of financial position	Financial instruments	Cash collateral	Net amount	
Financial assets							
Derivative financial assets	166.0	_	166.0	(80.1)	(22.0)	63.9	
Reverse repurchase agreements	905.0	_	905.0	(905.0)	_	_	
Total financial assets	1,071.0	_	1,071.0	(985.1)	(22.0)	63.9	
Financial liabilities							
Derivative financial liabilities	176.6	_	176.6	(80.1)	(65.7)	30.8	
Direct repurchase agreements	112.0	_	112.0	(111.9)	· _ ·	0.1	
Total financial liabilities	288.6	_	288.6	(192.0)	(65.7)	30.9	

The Group has master netting arrangements with counterparty banks, which are enforceable in case of default. The Group also made margin deposits with clearing house counterparty as collateral for its outstanding derivative positions. The counterparty may set off the Group's liabilities with the margin deposit in case of default. Margin calls transferred are presented within other financial assets (refer to Note 16).

The Group also received margin deposits as collateral which may be set off with the Group's counterparties' liabilities on outstanding derivative contracts in case of default of the Group's counterparties. Margin calls received are presented within other financial liabilities (refer to Note 22).

The disclosure does not apply to loans and advances to customers and related customer deposits unless they are set off in the consolidated statement of financial position.

40 Related Party Transactions

For the purposes of these consolidated financial statements, parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party, is under common control, or can exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial or operational decisions. In considering each possible related party relationship, attention is directed to the substance of the relationship, not merely the legal form.

The Group's principal shareholder is the Bank of Russia (refer to Note 1). Other related parties in the tables below comprise subsidiaries of the Bank of Russia, key management personnel, their close family members, associated companies of the Group. Disclosures are made in Note 41 for significant transactions with state-controlled entities and government bodies.

As at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016, the outstanding balances with the Bank of Russia and other related parties were as follows:

_	31 🛭	ecember 2017	31 December 2016	
		Other related		Other related
in billions of Russian Roubles	Bank of Russia	parties	Bank of Russia	parties
Assets				
Cash and cash equivalents (contractual interest rates for term deposits: 6.5%				
p.a 9.0% p.a.)	920.4	_	816.2	_
Mandatory cash balances with the Bank				
of Russia	158.9	_	154.9	_
Financial assets at fair value through				
profit or loss	_	2.4	_	_
Due from banks (contractual interest				
rates: 7.2% p.a 10.0% p.a.)	5.2	6.9	3.8	_
Gross loans and advances to customers				
(contractual interest rates: 4.2% p.a				
18.5% p.a.)	_	42.2	_	28.6
Investment securities available-for-sale				
(contractual interest rate: 8.5% p.a.)	10.2		_	_
Other assets	_	0.2	_	_
Liabilities				
Due to banks (contractual interest rates:				
6.5% p.a 9.0% p.a.)	90.5	0.1	79.9	_
Due to individuals	_	10.1	_	9.9
Due to corporate customers (contractual				
interest rates: 3.9% p.a 8.5% p.a.)	_	1.8	_	0.6
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss other than debt securities				
in issue	_	16.6	_	_
Subordinated debt (contractual interest				
rate: 6.5% p.a.)	504.4	_	504.4	_
Other liabilities	_	3.0	_	2.0

As at 31 December 2017 included in operations with other related parties are deposits attracted from key management personnel and their close family members in the amount of RR 10.1 billion (31 December 2016: RR 9.9 billion). As at 31 December 2017 there were no loans and advances granted to key management personnel and their close family members (31 December 2016: RR 0.1 billion).



40 Related Party Transactions (continued)

The income and expense items with the Bank of Russia and other related parties for the year ended 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016 were as follows:

				rear
_			en	ded 31 December
_		2017		2016
		Other related		Other related
in billions of Russian Roubles	Bank of Russia	parties	Bank of Russia	parties
Interest income	8.7	6.3	1.1	3.2
Interest expense on subordinated debt	(32.3)	_	(32.4)	_
Interest expense other than on				
subordinated debt	(7.2)	(0.6)	(15.4)	(0.6)
Revenue of non-core business activities	_	0.2	_	0.5
Commission income	0.5	_	0.1	_
Commission expense	(1.7)	_	(1.6)	_
Other net operating income	_	(0.6)	_	_
Operating expenses	_	(6.6)	_	(5.0)

For the year ended 31 December 2017, interest expense on deposits attracted from key management personnel and their close family members comprised RR 0.5 billion (for the year ended 31 December 2016: RR 0.6 billion).

For the year ended 31 December 2017, regular remuneration of the members of the key management personnel comprised salaries and bonuses totalling RR 4.2 billion (for the year ended 31 December 2016: RR 3.1 billion).

Also in 2015 the Bank has introduced a long term cash settled motivation program for the key management personnel with share-based features. The program has been designed within a framework of risk oriented remuneration and is in full compliance with the requirements of the Bank of Russia on the remuneration system for Russian credit institutions. The program parameters are as follows:

- 40% of the variable part of the annual compensation is deferred and is paid in 3 annual installments;
- payments to the participants of the program are contingent upon the Bank's positive performance, e.g. if the Bank has a loss in any of the 3 years following the year in which the award was granted, payments to the participants are forfeited for that particular year;
- awards may be fully or partially forfeited, for example, due to individual misconduct (including a breach of regulations) or termination for cause and also due to negative individual contributions to the Bank's results.

Share-based long term compensation is payable in cash, and is remeasured at each reporting date based on the forward price of the Bank's ordinary shares. For the year ended 31 December 2017 share-based long term compensation (including remeasurement of the outstanding balance to reflect changes in the price of the Bank's ordinary shares) has amounted to RR 2.1 billion (for the year ended 31 December 2016: RR 1.6 billion). Payables on share-based long term compensation as at 31 December 2017 amounted to RR 2.2 billion (31 December 2016: RR 1.3 billion). The related obligations are included in other financial liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position until paid.



41 Operations with State-Controlled Entities and Government Bodies

In the normal course of business, the Group enters into contractual agreements with the government of the Russian Federation and entities controlled by it. The Group provides the state-controlled entities and government bodies with a full range of banking services including, but not limited to, lending, deposit-taking, issue of guarantees, operations with securities, cash and settlement transactions. Operations with state-controlled entities and government bodies are carried out on general market terms and constitute the minority of the Group's operations.

Balances with state-controlled entities and government bodies which are significant in terms of the carrying amounts as at 31 December 2017 are disclosed below:

				31 December 2017
In billions of Russian Roubles		Loans and advances to customers / Due from banks	Due to corporate customers / Due to banks	Guarantees issued/ Undrawn credit lines
Client	Sector			
Client 1	Oil and gas	424.9	41.7	15.1
Client 2	Oil and gas	13.0	119.5	180.2
Client 3	Machinery	194.4	70.5	10.7
Client 4	Oil and gas	244.0	6.4	5.3
Client 5	Energy	54.1	166.8	19.7
Client 6	Machinery	60.9	55.1	108.1
Client 7	Machinery	31.9	47.2	74.0
Client 8	Machinery	87.4	53.5	11.1
Client 9	Machinery	11.0	45.3	79.1
Client 10	Energy	102.4	25.6	2.4
Client 11	Banking	86.1	25.9	_
Client 12	Machinery	33.6	59.9	9.7
Client 13	Machinery	_	7.1	86.5
Client 14	Transport and logistics	69.2	14.9	7.7
Client 15	Energy	60.1	10.1	_
Client 16	Machinery	39.7	23.4	4.4
Client 17	Metallurgy	58.9	6.3	_
Client 18	Telecommunications	31.0	_	20.2
Client 19	Government and municipal bodies	50.9	_	_
Client 20	Services	47.6	3.1	_



41 Operations with State-Controlled Entities and Government Bodies (continued)

Additionally as at 31 December 2017 balances with state-controlled entities and government bodies include receivables from Deposit Insurance Agency of RR 7.2 billion (31 December 2016: RR 32.3 billion) which represent receivables recognized from settlements on deposit compensations to clients of the banks whose license was withdrawn by the Bank of Russia. These balances are included in other financial assets in the consolidated statement of financial position. Refer to Note 16.

Balances with state-controlled entities and government bodies as at 31 December 2016 disclosed below contain balances of clients which are significant in terms of the carrying amounts as at 31 December 2017:

				31 December 2016
In billions of Russian Roubles		Loans and advances to customers / Due from banks	Due to corporate customers / Due to banks	Guarantees issued/ Undrawn credit lines
Client	Sector			
Client 1	Oil and gas	160.4	16.4	211.9
Client 2	Oil and gas	_	195.1	_
Client 3	Machinery	234.9	113.2	15.9
Client 4	Oil and gas	276.2	108.2	6.9
Client 5	Energy	124.2	194.0	13.3
Client 6	Machinery	40.5	72.7	64.5
Client 7	Machinery	47.0	67.1	56.9
Client 8	Machinery	75.6	44.5	0.2
Client 9	Machinery	19.6	58.4	82.2
Client 10	Energy	136.4	12.1	0.2
Client 11	Banking	249.0	33.0	_
Client 12	Machinery	51.9	97.6	16.2
Client 13	Machinery	3.7	18.2	96.8
Client 14	Transport and logistics	33.4	11.5	_
Client 15	Energy	62.2	20.4	0.1
Client 16	Machinery	32.6	27.9	1.3
Client 17	Metallurgy	54.6	2.6	_
Client 18	Telecommunications	40.8	1.2	9.0
Client 19	Government and municipal bodies	61.2	_	_
Client 20	Services	60.2	0.3	

As at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016 the Group's investments in securities issued by government-controlled corporate entities were as follows:

	31	December 2017	31 December 2016		
In billions of Russian Roubles	Corporate bonds	Corporate shares	Corporate bonds	Corporate shares	
Trading securities Securities designated as at fair value	16.2	6.7	12.7	4.4	
through profit or loss Securities pledged under repurchase	341.3	4.6	193.3	1.0	
agreements	_	0.3	_	_	
Investment securities available-for-sale Investment securities held-to-maturity	243.3 226.1	25.2 —	245.5 91.2	28.5 —	

For disclosures on investments in government debt securities please refer to Notes 8, 11, 12 and 13.



42 Principal Subsidiaries

The table below provides details on principal subsidiaries of the Bank as at 31 December 2017:

	Nature of	Percentage of	Country of
Name	business	ownership	registration
DenizBank (DenizBank AS)	banking	99.85%	Turkey
Sberbank Europe AG	banking	100.00%	Austria
OJSC BPS-Sberbank	banking	98.43%	Belarus
SB JSC Sberbank	banking	100.00%	Kazakhstan
SBERBANK PJSC	banking	100.00%	Ukraine
Sberbank (Switzerland) AG	banking	99.28%	Switzerland
Cetelem Bank LLC	banking	79.20%	Russia
JSC Sberbank Leasing	leasing	100.00%	Russia
LLC Sberbank Capital	finance	100.00%	Russia
SB CIB Holding LLC (former LLC Bylinnye Bogatyry)	finance	100.00%	Russia
Insurance company "Sberbank life insurance" LLC	finance	100.00%	Russia
Insurance company "Sberbank insurance" LLC	finance	100.00%	Russia
Sberbank Factoring LLC	finance	100.00%	Russia
JSC Rublevo-Archangelskoe	construction	100.00%	Russia
LLC Sberbank Investments	finance	100.00%	Russia
LLC Aukcion	services	100.00%	Russia
PS Yandex.Money LLC	telecommunications	75.00% minus one	Russia
		Russian Rouble	
LLC Digital Technologies	digital business	100.00%	Russia
JSC Non-state Pension Fund of Sberbank	finance	100.00%	Russia

In December 2017, Sberbank and Yandex signed a binding agreement to form a joint venture based on the Yandex.Market platform. The binding agreement provides that Sberbank will subscribe for new shares in Yandex.Market for RR 30.0 billion valuing it at RR 60.0 billion on a post-money basis, before taking into account any potential future synergies. The two partners will own equal stakes in the company. Ten percent of the company's shares will be allocated for an equity incentive pool for Yandex.Market management and employees. Yandex.Market will engage in e-commerce, with a core focus on creating a B2C online retail marketplace. In the Russian Federation, other CIS states, the Baltic states and Georgia, Yandex and Sberbank will engage in the core business solely through Yandex.Market. The deal is subject to regulatory approvals and customary closing conditions, and is expected to be completed in the first half of 2018.

Certain of the Bank's subsidiaries have to fulfill regulatory requirements, in order to transfer funds, including paying dividends to, repaying loans to, or redeeming subordinated debentures issued to the Bank.

These customary regulatory requirements include, but are not limited to:

- local regulatory capital and/or surplus adequacy requirements;
- Basel requirements under Pillar I and Pillar II;
- local regulatory approval requirements; and
- local corporate and/or securities laws.

As at 31 December 2017, the net assets of subsidiaries subject to regulatory or capital adequacy requirements were RR 642.0 billion (31 December 2016: RR 562.4 billion), before intercompany eliminations.

The share of the subsidiaries of the Bank in the consolidated assets of the Group as at 31 December 2017 was 20.4% (31 December 2016: 19.9%).



43 Capital Adequacy Ratio

The Group's objectives when managing capital are (i) to comply with the regulatory capital requirements set by the Bank of Russia and (ii) to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.

According to requirements set by the Bank of Russia regulatory capital ratio N1.0 has to be maintained by the Bank above the minimum level of 8.0% (31 December 2016: 8.0%). As at 31 December 2017 this regulatory capital adequacy ratio N1.0 was 15.0% before adjustments for subsequent events (31 December 2016: 13.6%).

The Group also monitors capital adequacy ratio based on requirements of Basel Committee of Banking Supervision "Basel III: A global regulatory framework for more resilient banks and banking systems" (December 2010, updated in June 2011), commonly known as Basel III requirements. According to Basel III requirements minimum level of capital adequacy ratio is 6.0% for Tier 1 capital and 8.0% for total capital.

The capital adequacy ratio of the Group as at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016 calculated in accordance with Basel III requirements is disclosed below.

The requirements of the national regulator (the Bank of Russia Instruction № 180-E "Mandatory bank ratios" dated 28 June 2017) were applied in the calculation of risk weighted assets where Basel III requirements allow to apply such national regulator requirements. In particular such approach was used for the following main types of assets:

- government and municipal debt financial instruments of the Russian Federation and its subjects nominated and funded in Russian Roubles;
- specific types of loans to which higher risk weights are applied in accordance with the Bank of Russia requirements;
- correspondent accounts and mandatory cash balances with the Bank of Russia.

in billions of Russian Roubles	31 December 2017	31 December 2016
Tier 1 capital		
Share capital	87.7	87.7
Share premium	232.6	232.6
Retained earnings	3,058.6	2,435.7
Non-controlling interest	4.4	4.4
Treasury shares	(15.3)	(7.9)
Revaluation reserve for office premises	60.8	66.9
Fair value reserve for investment securities available-for-sale	35.3	24.0
Foreign currency translation reserve	(21.0)	(11.8)
Remeasurement of defined benefit pension plans	(1.0)	(0.7)
less goodwill	(8.0)	(11.3)
less intangible assets	(60.8)	(45.0)
Other deductions from capital	(12.7)	(8.7)
Tier 1 capital	3,360.6 [°]	2,765.9
Tier 2 capital		
Eligible subordinated debt	459.7	475.9
Tier 2 capital	459.7	475.9
Total capital	3,820.3	3,241.8
Risk weighted assets (RWA)		
Credit risk	25,245.7	23,443.0
Operational risk	3,092.8	2,736.0
Market risk	1,158.3	849.3
Total risk weighted assets (RWA)	29,496.8	27,028.3
Common equity Tier 1 capital adequacy ratio (Common equity Tier 1 capital / Total RWA), %	11.4	10.2
Tier 1 capital adequacy ratio (Tier 1 capital / Total RWA), %	11.4	10.2
Total capital adequacy ratio (Total capital / Total RWA), %	13.0	12.0

The Group was in compliance with external capital requirements during the year ended 31 December 2017 and the year ended 31 December 2016.